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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Hulamin Limited
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
Registration number: 1940/013924/06 
Share code: HLM
ISIN: ZAE000096210
(“Hulamin” or “the Company”)

Notice is hereby given that the 81st annual general meeting of shareholders will be held entirely via a remote interactive electronic platform Microsoft 
Teams on Thursday, 27 May 2021 at 15:00 (“Annual General Meeting”), to conduct the business set out below and to consider and, if deemed fit, adopt, 
with or without modification, the ordinary and special resolutions set out in this notice. Hulamin will be assisted by Computershare Investor Services 
Proprietary Limited (“the Company’s Transfer Secretaries”) who will also act as scrutineers.

Salient dates
The following dates apply to the Annual General Meeting:

The Record Date for purposes of determining which shareholders are entitled to receive this notice is Friday, 16 April 2021. The Last Day to Trade in 
order to be eligible to participate and vote at the Annual General Meeting is Tuesday, 18 May 2021.

The Record Date for shareholders to be recorded in the securities register of Hulamin in order to be able to attend, participate and vote at the Annual 
General Meeting is Friday, 21 May 2021.

Shareholders to lodge Proxy Forms by Tuesday, 25 May 2021 at 15:00.

Shareholders or their duly authorised proxies who wish to participate in the Annual General Meeting, must register to do so by lodging a completed 
Electronic Participation Application Form by Tuesday, 25 May 2021 at 15:00.

Annual financial statements
The annual financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020, including the reports of the directors, the independent auditors 
and the Audit Committee will be presented at the meeting. The 2020 annual financial statements are set out in Annexure B of this notice.

PROPOSED ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
1. To authorise the directors to appoint Ernst & Young as the independent registered auditors of the Company who will undertake the audit of 

the Company for the ensuing year, with Mr Sifiso Sithebe as the individual designated auditor of the Company. The group Audit Committee has 
recommended their appointment as independent registered auditors of the Company.

2. To re-elect the following directors who retire in accordance with Article 33.11 of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and who,  
all being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. Motions for re-election will be moved individually. The profiles of the directors eligible for  
re-election appear below.

2.1 Richard Gordon Jacob (55) – Executive Director
• Chief Executive Officer

• Member of the Risk Committee and a member of the Social, Ethics and Sustainability Committee

• BSc (Engineering); MBA

After graduating with a BSc Engineering from the University of Cape Town and following a brief period as an officer in the South African 
Navy, Richard joined Hulamin in 1990 as an Industrial Engineer. In 1992 he was appointed Manager, Coil Coating Operation, followed by 
Market and Business Development Manager in 1996. In 2002, Richard was appointed to the Executive Committee and board of Hulett 
Aluminium, responsible for Coated Products, communication and investor relations. Richard was appointed to the board of Hulamin in 
2007 and as Chief Executive Officer in July 2010.

2.2 Vusi Noel Khumalo (58) – Non-Executive Director
• Chairman of the Social, Ethics and Sustainability Committee and member of the Chairman’s Committee.

• Senior manager: Industrial Development Corporation of SA Limited – IDC.

• BCom; BCompt (Hons); CA (SA); Global Executive Development Programme

Vusi, a senior manager at Industrial Development Corporation of South Africa Limited, is responsible for managing IDC’s investment 
portfolio. He served articles at Ernst & Young and has held various financial management positions in Anglo American Corporation of 
South Africa Limited and Edcon Limited. He is also a non-executive director of Ernani Investments (Pty) Limited. He was appointed to  
the Hulett Aluminium board in 2006 and to the board of Hulamin in 2007.
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2.3 Naran Maharajh (54) – Independent Non-Executive Director
• Chairman of the Audit Committee; member of the Risk Committee and a member of the Chairman’s Committee

• Director of BCA Inc

• CA(SA)

Naran is a practicing chartered accountant and a director of BCA Inc. He completed his training with PWC. He was then appointed as 
a lecturer in the department of Accountancy at the University of KwaZulu-Natal. He was one of the founding partners of KMMT Brey. 
In 1999 the firm merged with KPMG and Naran was appointed as a director of KPMG. In 2007 he left KPMG to set up BCA Inc. a firm 
specialising in providing audit, accounting and business advisory services. He currently serves as a director of Comair Limited. He has 
previously served as non-executive director of Mercedes-Benz South Africa Limited and Masonite Africa Limited. He was appointed to the 
Hulamin board on 1 September 2016.

2.4 Sibusiso Peter-Paul Ngwenya (67) – Non-Executive Director
• Member of the Social, Ethics and Sustainability Committee

• Executive Chairman: Makana Investment Corporation

• BCom (Hons)

Following his release from Robben Island in 1991, Peter-Paul joined Engen and later South African Breweries. In 1997 he joined  
Makana Trust, where he is a founding Trustee and former Chairman. He later co-founded Makana Investment Corporation of which  
he is the current executive Chairman. He is also the Chairman of South African Airlink, Heart 104.9 and Igagasi 99.5 radio stations and  
Sebenza Forwarding and Shipping Consultancy. He was appointed to the Hulamin board in 2007 as an alternate director to  
Johannes Bhekumuzi Magwaza and was appointed as a full director on the Hulamin board in October 2009.

3. To elect the following independent non-executive directors as members of the group Audit Committee and to appoint Mr N Maharajh as 
Chairman of the group Audit Committee. Motions for election will be moved individually.

3.1 Mr N Maharajh (Chairman) (subject to the adoption of 2.3 above)
3.2 Mr CA Boles – Independent Non-Executive Director
3.3 Dr B Mehlomakulu – Independent Non-Executive Director

Charles Alexander Boles (51)
• Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee, a member of the Audit Committee and a member of the  

Chairman’s Committee

• CA(SA); Higher Diploma in Taxation; Higher Diploma in Company Law; MBA (Cum Laude)

Charles was formerly a partner at Price Waterhouse in the Corporate Finance division. He then worked for Investec Bank Limited before 
establishing his own business, Titanium Capital. He has a depth of experience in finance, investments and private equity. Charles was 
appointed to the Hulamin board on 1 October 2016.

Dr Bonakele Mehlomakulu (48)
• Member of the Risk Committee, Audit Committee and Social, Ethics and Sustainability Committe

• BSc (Chemistry and Applied Chemistry); BSc (Hons) (Chemistry);  MSc (Organic Chemistry); PhD (Chemical Engineering)

Dr Boni Mehlomakulu holds a PhD in Chemical Engineering from the University of Cape Town. Her career started at Sasol before joining 
the Department of Science and Technology occupying various management roles. Her recent executive role was a Chief Executive Officer 
of the South African Bureau of Standards, the position she held for nine years. In addition to her non-executive directorship at Hulamin 
Limited she also serves as a non-executive director at Sappi Limited and Yokogawa (Pty) Ltd. Her past directorships include PBMR (Pty) Ltd, 
Nuclear Energy Corporation of South Africa, Eskom Holdings SOC Limited and the Technology Innovation Agency, as well as having served 
as the Deputy Chair of Unisa Council and a country representative on the Council of International Standards Organisation (ISO, Geneva).
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING CONTINUED

PROPOSED SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

4. Approval of non-executive directors’ fees
Directors’ fees were approved at the annual general meeting held on 30 July 2020 and are applicable for the 12-month period ended  
31 July 2021.

The Board, on the recommendation of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee, proposes that the directors’ fees for the period 
commencing 1 August 2021, be as set out below.

Special resolution number 1
“Resolved as a special resolution that the proposed fees, set out below, payable to non-executive directors for their services as directors on 
the Board and on Board Committees and as invitees to Board committees, when invited by the Chairman of the Board Committee to attend a 
meeting as an invitee, for the 12-month period commencing 1 August 2021, be and are hereby approved.”

Role

Present fees 
to 31 July 2021

Proposed fees 
from 1 August 2021

Annual
Attendance

Rand

Annual
Retainer

Rand

Annual
Attendance

Rand

Annual
Retainer

Rand

Chairman of the Board 477 410 40 920 491 730 42 150
Member of the Board 174 450 14 950 179 680 15 400
Chairman of the audit committee 125 550 17 930 129 320 18 470
Member of the audit committee 72 950 10 430 75 140 10 740
Invitee of the audit committee 10 430 10 740
Chairman of the risk committee 86 690 12 380 89 290 12 750
Member of the risk committee 47 580 6 800 49 010 7 000
Invitee of the risk  committee 6 800 7 000
Chairman of the remuneration and nomination committee 86 690 12 380 89 290 12 750
Member of the remuneration and nomination committee 47 580 6 800 49 010 7 000
Invitee of the remuneration and nomination committee 6 800 7 000
Chairman of the social, ethics and sustainability committee 86 690 12 380 89 290 12 750
Member of the social, ethics  and sustainability committee 47 580 6 800 49 010 7 000
Invitee of the social, ethics and sustainability committee 6 800 7 000
Chairman of an ad hoc Board committee 12 380 12 750
Member of an ad hoc Board committee 6 800 7 000
Invitee of an ad hoc Board committee 6 800 7 000
Fees for international NEDs (€) 31 320 2 680 31 570 2 700
Fees for international NEDs ($) 31 790 2 720 31 950 2 740

As regards the attendance fee, the Board typically holds five meetings a year, and normally three meetings are held each year of the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee and each of the other sub-committees of the Board.

Shareholders’ approval is also requested to remunerate non-executive directors who participate in a specially constituted ad hoc Board  
sub-committee meeting as detailed in the table above, and to remunerate non-executive directors who attend a Board sub-committee meeting 
as an invitee at the request of the Chairman of the Board sub-committee.

5. Financial assistance
In terms of section 45 of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, as amended (“the Companies Act”), the Board may authorise the Company to 
provide financial assistance to a related or inter-related company or corporation, provided such assistance is approved by way of a special 
resolution of the shareholders adopted within the previous two years and certain requirements as set out in the Companies Act are met, 
amongst others, that the Company meets the solvency and liquidity test. The Board seeks such approval from shareholders in order to provide 
financial assistance to companies or corporations which are related or inter-related to the Company from time to time.

Special resolution number 2
“Resolved as a special resolution, subject to the provisions of section 45(2) of the Companies Act, that the provision of any financial assistance 
by the Company to any company or corporation which is related or inter-related to the Company (as defined in the Companies Act), on the terms 
and conditions which the directors may determine, be and is hereby approved.”
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6. General authority to repurchase shares in the company
The reason for Special Resolution Number 3 is to grant the Board a general authority in terms of section 48(8) of the Companies Act and the JSE 
Listings Requirements, up to and including the date of the following annual general meeting of the Company, to approve the acquisition by the 
Company of its own shares, or to permit a subsidiary of the Company or any trust controlled by the Company to acquire shares in the Company. 
The directors require this general authority in order to facilitate the repurchase of the Company’s ordinary shares in circumstances where the 
directors consider this to be appropriate and in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders.

Special resolution number 3
“Resolved as a special resolution that the board of directors is hereby authorised in terms of section 48(8) of the Companies Act by way of a 
renewable general authority, in terms of the provisions of the JSE Listings Requirements and as permitted by the Company’s Memorandum of 
Incorporation, to approve the purchase by the Company of its ordinary shares, and/or the purchase of ordinary shares in the Company by any 
of its subsidiaries or any trust controlled by the Company, upon such terms and conditions and in such amounts as the Board may from time to 
time determine, but subject to the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company, the provisions of the Companies Act and the JSE Listings 
Requirements, when applicable, and provided that:

• the general repurchase by the Company of ordinary shares in terms of this general authority may not, in the aggregate, exceed in any one 
financial year 5% of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital as at the date of the grant of this general authority;

• any such repurchase of securities shall be implemented through the order book operated by the JSE trading system and without any prior 
understanding or arrangement between the Company and the counter party;

• this general authority shall only be valid until the Company’s next annual general meeting, provided that it shall not extend beyond  
15 months from the date this resolution is passed;

• the Company will only appoint one agent at any point in time to affect any repurchase(s) on its behalf;

• general repurchases by the Company and/or any subsidiary of the Company and/or any trust controlled by the Company in terms of this 
authority, may not be made at a price greater than 10% above the weighted average of the market value at which such ordinary shares are 
traded on the JSE, as determined over the five business days immediately preceding the date on which the repurchase of such ordinary 
shares is effected by the Company and/or any subsidiary of the Company and/or any trust controlled by the Company;

• the Company and/or any subsidiary of the Company and/or any trust controlled by the Company may not repurchase securities during a 
prohibited period, as detailed in the JSE Listings Requirements, unless the Company has a repurchase programme in place where the dates 
and quantities of securities to be traded during the relevant period are fixed (and not subject to any variation) and which has been submitted 
to the JSE in writing prior to the commencement of the prohibited period. The Company must instruct an independent third party, which 
makes its investment decisions in relation to the Company’s securities independently of and uninfluenced by the Company, prior to the 
commencement of the prohibited period to execute the repurchase programme submitted to the JSE; and

• SENS and press announcements will be published giving such details as may be required in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements as soon as 
the Company and/or any subsidiary and/or any trust controlled by the Company has in terms of this general authority, repurchased ordinary 
shares constituting on a cumulative basis 3% of the number of ordinary shares in issue at the date of the passing of this resolution, and for 
each 3% in aggregate of the initial number of shares acquired thereafter.”

6.1 Statement of directors
Shares repurchased by the Company and/or any subsidiary of the Company and/or any trust controlled by the Company may either be 
held in treasury or cancelled and restored to the status of authorised and unissued shares in the Company. The Board undertakes that 
it will not implement the proposed authority to repurchase shares, unless the directors have considered the effect of the maximum 
repurchase and are of the opinion that, for a period of 12 months after the date of the repurchase:

• the Company and the group will be able to pay its debts in the ordinary course of business;

• the assets of the Company and the group will be in excess of the liabilities of the Company and the group. For this purpose, the assets 
and liabilities will be recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policies used in the latest audited consolidated 
annual financial statements which comply with the Companies Act;

• the share capital and reserves of the Company and the group will be adequate for ordinary business purposes;

• the working capital of the Company and the group will be adequate for ordinary business purposes; and

• a resolution by the Board has been passed authorising the repurchase and confirming that the Company and its subsidiaries have 
passed the solvency and liquidity test as defined in the Companies Act and that, since the test was performed, there have been no 
material changes to the financial position of the group.

6.2 Material changes
Other than the facts and developments reported on in the annual financial statements, there have been no material changes in the 
financial or trading position of the Company and its subsidiaries between 31 December 2020 (being the last financial year end) and the 
date of this notice.



6 Hulamin AGM Notice for the year ended 31 December 2020

6.3 Responsibility statement
The directors, whose names appear on the corporate information page of this notice, jointly and severally accept full responsibility for the 
accuracy of the information pertaining to special resolution number 3 and certify that to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are 
no facts that have been omitted which would make any statement false or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such 
facts have been made and that this notice contains all information required by the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements.

6.4 Additional disclosures in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements
Other disclosures in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements are contained in this notice as follows: 

• Major shareholders of the Company  page 118 of Annexure B

• Share capital of the Company  page 112 and 113 of Annexure B 

7. Amendments to Memorandum of Incorporation
7.1 Odd-lot offers

In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, an “odd-lot” offer is an offer where the listed company intends reducing administrative costs 
resulting from a large number of “odd-lot” holders. The JSE interprets an “odd-lot” as a total holding of: (a) less than 100 securities; or  
(b) 100 or more securities, provided that it can be illustrated to the JSE that the cost associated with a holder disposing of such number  
of shares is equal to or exceeds the total value of such number of securities. 

When a listed company proposes to make an odd lot offer in all instances a two-way election must be provided for in terms of which 
securities holders may: (i) elect to retain their odd-lot holding; or (ii) elect to sell their odd-lot holding. 

In terms of paragraph 5.124 of the JSE Listings Requirements, expropriation of securities, being the default action applicable if securities 
holders do not make any election, is only allowed where the listed company’s memorandum of incorporation is amended to make 
provision for expropriation of odd-lots and where the specific odd-lot offer has been approved by shareholders at a general meeting.

The board proposes to amend the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation as contemplated in clause 5.124 of the JSE Listings 
Requirements to permit the expropriation of odd-lots where securities holders do not make an election in the event of an odd-lot offer by 
the Company. 

Special resolution number 4.1
“Resolved as a special resolution that the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company be and is hereby amended by the insertion 
of the new clause 51 (Odd-Lot Offers) set out in paragraph 1 of Annexure A to the notice calling this meeting, into the Company’s 
Memorandum of Incorporation immediately after clause 50 (Signature of Documents)”.

7.2 Amendments to Schedule B
The Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation was amended on 17 December 2020, which amendment was accepted by the Companies 
and Intellectual Property Commission (the Commission). The amendment to the memorandum comprised inter alia the replacement of 
Schedule B thereto. 

The board has identified certain patent errors in the replacement Schedule B adopted by the shareholders, introduced during the 
typesetting process, which errors it wishes to correct.

It is accordingly proposed that ‘Schedule B – Rights, Limitations and Other Terms of A1, A2, A3, B1, B2 and B3 Ordinary Shares’ of the 
Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation be amended in the manner set out in paragraph 2 of Annexure A to the notice calling this 
meeting. 

Special resolution number 4.2
“Resolved as a special resolution that ‘Schedule B – Rights, Limitations and Other Terms of A1, A2, A3, B1, B2 and B3 Ordinary Shares’ 
of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation be and is hereby amended in the manner set out in paragraph 2 of Annexure A to the 
notice calling this meeting.”

8. Remuneration policy – non-binding advisory vote
The King IV Report on Corporate Governance and the JSE Limited Listings Requirements require that the Board (with the assistance of the 
Remuneration Committee) table the remuneration policy and the implementation report every year for separate non-binding advisory votes 
by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. In accordance with the provisions of the JSE Listings Requirements, the Company shall give 
shareholders the right to express their views on the remuneration policy by casting an advisory vote in the manner set out below.

“Resolved that the Company’s remuneration policy for financial year-ended 31 December 2020, as contained in the remuneration report 
as set out in Annexure C of this notice, be and is hereby approved, through a non-binding advisory vote, in accordance with the JSE Listings 
Requirements and the recommendations of King IV.”

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING CONTINUED
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9. Implementation report – non-binding advisory vote
“Resolved that the Company’s implementation report, as contained in the remuneration report as set out in Annexure C of this notice, be and is 
hereby approved, through a non-binding advisory vote, in accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements and the recommendations of King IV.”

10. Other matters
• Report back from the Social, Ethics and Sustainability Committee in terms of Regulation 43(5)(c) of the Companies Act on social and ethics 

matters pertaining to the Company.

• To transact such other business as may be transacted at an annual general meeting.

11. Electronic participation arrangements
The Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation authorises the conduct of shareholders’ meetings entirely by electronic communication as does 
section 63(2)(a) of the Companies Act. In light of the measures put in place by the South African Government in response to the COVID-19 
pandemic, the Board has decided that the Annual General Meeting will only be accessible through a remote interactive electronic platform as 
detailed below.

Shareholders or their duly appointed proxies who wish to participate in the Annual General Meeting are required to complete the Electronic 
Participation Application Form available immediately after the proxy form on page 11 and email same to the Company’s Transfer Secretaries 
at proxy@computershare.co.za and to Hulamin at secretarial@hulamin.co.za as soon as possible, but in any event by no later than 15:00 on 
Tuesday, 25 May 2021.

Shareholders or their duly appointed proxies are required to provide satisfactory identification before being entitled to participate in the Annual 
General Meeting.

Upon receiving a completed Electronic Participation Application Form, the Company’s Transfer Secretaries will follow a verification process to 
verify each applicant’s entitlement to participate in and/or vote at the Annual General Meeting. The Company’s Transfer Secretaries will provide 
the Company with the nominated email address of each verified shareholder or their duly appointed proxy to enable the Company to forward 
them a Microsoft Teams meeting invitation required to access the Annual General Meeting.

Fully verified shareholders or their duly appointed proxies who have applied to participate electronically in the Annual General Meeting are 
requested by no later than 14:55 on Thursday, 27 May 2021 to join the meeting by clicking on the “Join Microsoft Teams Meeting” link to 
be provided by Hulamin’s company secretary or by the secretarial office, whose admission to the meeting will be controlled by the company 
secretary/secretarial office.

Participants will be liable for their own network charges in relation to electronic participation in and/or voting at the Annual General Meeting. 
Any such charges will not be for the account of the Company’s Transfer Secretaries or Hulamin who will also not be held accountable in the 
case of loss of network connectivity or other network failure due to insufficient airtime, internet connectivity, internet bandwidth and/or power 
outages which prevents any such shareholder or their proxy from participating in and/or voting at the Annual General Meeting.

Voting and proxies
For an ordinary resolution to be approved by the shareholders, it must be supported by more than 50% of the voting rights exercised on the 
resolution. For a special resolution to be approved by the shareholders, it must be supported by at least 75% of the voting rights exercised on the 
resolution.

Voting will be via a poll; every shareholder of the Company shall have one vote for every share held in the Company by such shareholder.

A shareholder entitled to participate and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to electronically participate, 
speak and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company.

The electronic platform (Microsoft Teams) to be utilised to host the Annual General Meeting does not provide for electronic voting during the 
meeting.

Accordingly, shareholders are strongly encouraged to submit votes by proxy in advance of the Annual General Meeting, by completing the Form 
of Proxy (found on page 11) and lodging this form with the Company’s Transfer Secretaries by no later than 15:00 on Tuesday, 25 May 2021 by:

• delivery to Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited, Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank; or

• email to proxy@computershare.co.za.

Any forms of proxy not submitted by this time can still be lodged by email to proxy@computershare.co.za prior to the commencement of the 
meeting.

Shareholders are reminded that they are still able to vote normally through proxy submission, despite deciding to participate either electronically 
or not at all in the Annual General Meeting.

Shareholders who indicate in the Electronic Participation Application Form that they wish to vote during the electronic meeting, will be contacted 
by the Company’s Transfer Secretaries to make the necessary arrangements.
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Dematerialised shareholders without ‘own name’ registration
Dematerialised shareholders, other than those with ‘own name’ registration, who wish to participate in the Annual General Meeting, should 
instruct their Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or Broker to issue them with the necessary letter of representation to participate 
in the Annual General Meeting, in the manner stipulated in the relevant custody agreement. The letter of representation will need to be 
submitted together with the completed Electronic Participation Application Form to the Company’s Transfer Secretaries and to Hulamin in the 
manner and within the timeframe described above under the section titled “Electronic Participation Arrangements”.

If these shareholders do not wish to participate in the Annual General Meeting in person, they must provide the CSDP or broker with their voting 
instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement entered into between them and the CSDP or broker.

Certificated shareholders and dematerialised shareholders with ‘own name’ registration
Those Certificated Shareholders and Dematerialised Shareholders with ‘own name’ registration, who wish to participate in the Annual General 
Meeting (either in person or represented by proxy), must submit a completed Electronic Participation Application Form to the Company’s 
Transfer Secretaries and to Hulamin in the manner and within the timeframe described above under the section titled “Electronic Participation 
Arrangements”.

Questions
Shareholders are encouraged to submit via email any questions in advance of the Annual General Meeting to the Company Secretary at 
secretarial@hulamin.co.za. These questions will be addressed at the Annual General Meeting and will be responded to via email thereafter.

By order of the Board

Company Secretary  
Pietermaritzburg

28 April 2021

Registered office
Moses Mabhida Road, Pietermaritzburg, KwaZulu-Natal

Transfer Secretaries
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited
Rosebank Towers
15 Biermann Avenue
Rosebank, Johannesburg, 2196
(Private Bag X9000, Saxonwold, 2132)

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING CONTINUED
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The Chairman of the Social, Ethics and Sustainability Committee feedback report
The Chairman of the Social, Ethics and Sustainability Committee, Mr VN Khumalo, advised that the following, inter alia, were discussed at the Social, 
Ethics and Sustainability Committee meetings held during 2020.

• The terms of reference incorporating the responsibilities prescribed for a Social and Ethics Committee in terms of the Companies Act, King IV Code 
of Corporate Governance and the annual workplan

• Strategy on how Hulamin will achieve its transformation, social and ethics goals

• Employment equity targets and the progress made in achieving same

• Hulamin’s BEE scorecard report and the impact of the new B-BBEE codes on Hulamin’s score

• Environmental sustainability performance and the underlying Resource Efficiency performance

• Hulamin’s current carbon footprint and the strategies to reduce this in line with commitments made to Customers and the Science-Based Target for 
GHG reduction.

• The recycling content of our products and strategies for improvement

• Report on disputes and stakeholder engagement issues

• Report on Hulamin’s contribution to the greater Pietermaritzburg area and Hulamin’s granting of sponsorships, donations and charitable giving

• Report on the educational development of employees

• Report on labour regulatory compliance

• Review of safety, health and environmental performance and policies

• Assurance on the implementation of Hulamin’s compliance policies in customer dealings

• Review of the following codes and policies:

 » Stakeholder engagement policy

 » Code of ethics incorporating code of conduct and ethics pertaining to the procurement staff

 » Code of conduct for suppliers and service provider

 » Corporate compliance policy

 » Whistle blowing policy

 » Crimes involving dishonesty

 » Conflict of interest and gifts policy for employees.

• Noting the fraud policy and fraud prevention strategy approved by the Audit Committee.

• Risk Oversight

The committee is an integral component of the risk management process and specifically the committee shall oversee the risk management, 
activities relative to:

 » B-BBEE, Social and economic development, Good corporate citizenship, Environmental Management, Environmental Sustainability,  
Health and public safety, Consumer Relationships, Labour and employment, Ethics and Stakeholders (reputational risk)

In addition, the committee, whose terms of reference include the functions to be performed by a Social and Ethics Committee, as prescribed by the 
Companies Act of 2008, wishes to confirm that:

1. Compliance by the group with the United Nations Global Compact Principles and the OECD recommendations is mandatory, which in essence relate 
to social, labour, environmental and anti-corruption standards. Any non-compliance is therefore not tolerated by the group.

2. The group complies with the Employment Equity and Black Economic Empowerment Acts. Specific targets have been set for the company to 
increase its levels of compliance with these Acts over the short- to medium-term.

3. The group complies with its Code of Ethics. The Code of Ethics of the group requires all directors and employees to be committed to fair dealing, 
honesty and integrity in the conduct of its business. The Code of Ethics has been endorsed by the Board and distributed to all employees in the 
group. Compliance by all employees to the high moral, ethical and legal standards of the Code is mandatory, and if employees become aware of,  
or suspect, a contravention of the Code, they must promptly and confidentially report it in the prescribed manner.
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Annexure A
Proposed Amendments to the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation 
1. Odd-Lot Offers 
  It is proposed that the following new clause 51 (Odd-Lot Offers) be inserted into the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation immediately 

after clause 50 (Signature of Documents):

 “51. Odd-Lot Offers

 51.1 For the purposes of this clause 51, “odd-lot” means a total holding of:

  (a) less than 100 ordinary shares; or 

  (b)  100 or more ordinary shares, provided that it can be illustrated to the JSE that the cost associated with a holder disposing of such 
number of shares is equal to or exceeds the total value of such number of securities; or such other number of shares as may be 
permitted by the JSE. 

 51.2  The Company may make and implement odd-lot offers in accordance with the provisions of this clause 51, if approved by the shareholders 
in general meeting and in accordance with the restrictions and procedures imposed by the Listing Requirements or as otherwise 
permitted by the JSE.

 51.3  If, upon implementation of any odd-lot offer made by the Company, there are shareholders holding an odd-lot in the Company  
(“odd-lot holders”), then the Company shall, save in respect of odd-lot holders who have elected to retain their odd-lots or to sell their 
odd-lots in the Company in accordance with the terms of the odd-lot offer:

  (a)  cause the odd-lots to be expropriated by the Company from the odd-lot holders who have not made an election to retain their  
odd-lots in the Company on such terms and conditions as the board may determine; and

  (b) procure that the proceeds of such expropriation are paid to such odd-lot holders. [LR 5.124]”.

2. AMENDMENTS TO SCHEDULE B
 It is proposed that Schedule B of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation be amended as follows:

 1) By the replacement in Article 1.1.5 of the reference to Article 6 with a reference to Article 7. 

 2)  By the insertion, in article 1.3.1, of the words ‘in accordance with the Act and this Memorandum of Incorporation and the’ between the 
words ‘decided by the shareholders’ and ‘A1 Ordinary Shares shall rank’. 

 3) By: 

  (a)  the renumbering of Article 2.1.1 to Article 2.1.2, of Article 2.1.2 to 2.1.3, and so on until Article 2.1.8 is renumbered Article 2.1.9; and 

  (b)  the insertion of a new Article 2.1.1 to read ‘“A2 Ordinary Shares” means the A2 ordinary shares of no par’ prior to words ‘value in 
the Company’, such that Article 2.1.1 reads ‘“A2 Ordinary Shares” means the A2 ordinary shares of no par value in the Company, the 
terms of which shares are set out in this Article 2;’.

 4) By the replacement: 

  (a) in Article 4.1, of the reference to Article 34 with a reference to Article 4; 

  (b) in Article 4.1.1, of the reference to Article 34 with a reference to Article 4; 

  (c) in Article 4.1.3, of the reference to Article 34.7 with a reference to Article 4.7;

  (d) in Article 5.1, of the reference to Article 45 with a reference to Article 5;

  (e) in Article 5.1.1, of the reference to Article 45 with a reference to Article 5; and

  (f) in Article 5.4, of the reference to Article 55.7 with a reference to Article 5.7.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING CONTINUED
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FORM OF PROXY
Think future. Think aluminium.

Hulamin Limited
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
Registration number: 1940/013924/06 
Share code: HLM
ISIN: ZAE000096210
(“Hulamin” or “the Company”)

Note: All beneficial shareholders that have dematerialised their shares through a CSDP or broker, other than those which are in “own name”,  
must not complete this form.

Certificated shareholders and/or dematerialised shareholders with “own name” registration must either provide their CSDP or broker with their 
voting instructions, or alternatively, should they wish to attend the annual general meeting in person, they should request the CSDP or broker to 
provide them with a letter of representation in terms of the custody agreement entered into between themselves and the CSDP or broker.

The Board requests that completed forms of proxy are received at the office of the company’s Transfer Secretaries, Computershare Investor Services 
Proprietary Limited, Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, Johannesburg, 2001 (Private Bag x9000, Saxonwold, 2132), or via email  
to proxy@computershare.co.za by 15:00 on Tuesday, 25 May 2021. Any forms of proxy not lodged by this time may still be lodged by email to  
proxy@ computershare.co.za prior to the commencement of the meeting.

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the meeting mentioned below is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend, speak and, on a poll, to 
vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the company.

I/We (name in block letters)

Of (address in block letters)

Contactable number  (telephone number)

Email address

being the holder/holders of   ordinary shares in Hulamin do hereby appoint

1. of (or failing him/her)

2. of (or failing him/her)

the Chairman of the annual general meeting, as my/our proxy to attend and speak and to vote for me/us at the annual general meeting of the 
company to be held at 15:00 on Thursday, 27 May 2021, for the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, all 
the resolutions to be proposed thereat, or at any adjournment thereof, as follows:

Resolution For Against Abstain

1.   Approval of the appointment of Ernst & Young as the independent auditors of the company with  
Mr Sifiso Sithebe as the designated auditor

2.   Re-election of retiring directors:

 2.1  RG Jacob as an executive director

 2.2  VN Khumalo as a non-executive director

 2.3  N Maharajh as an independent non-executive director

 2.4  SP Ngwenya as a non-executive director

3.  Appointment of group Audit Committee members and N Maharajh as Chairman of the group Audit Committee:

 3.1 N Maharajh as Chairman

 3.2  CA Boles

 3.3  Dr B Mehlomakulu

4.   Special resolution number 1: Approval of non-executive directors’ fees

5.   Special resolution number 2: Provision of financial assistance

6.   Special resolution number 3: General repurchase of shares

7.1  Special resolution number 4.1: MOI Amendment: Odd-Lot Offers

7.2  Special resolution number 4.2: MOI Amendment: Schedule B

8.   Non-binding advisory vote – Remuneration policy

9.   Non-binding advisory vote – Implementation report

Signed at       on this  day of 2021

Signature       Name

Assisted by me (where applicable)    Capacity
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1. Shareholders’ instructions to the proxy must be indicated in the appropriate box provided. Failure to comply with the above will be deemed to 
authorise the proxy to vote or abstain from voting at the annual general meeting as he/she deems fit. A shareholder may instruct the proxy to 
vote less than the total number of shares held by inserting the relevant number of shares in the appropriate box provided. A shareholder who 
fails to do so will be deemed to have authorised the proxy to vote or abstain from voting, as the case may be, in respect of all the shareholders’ 
votes exercisable at the annual general meeting.

2. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity (e.g. for a company, close 
corporation, trust, pension fund, deceased estate, etc.) must be attached to this form of proxy.

3. Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be initialled by the signatory/ies.

4. A minor must be assisted by the minor’s parent or guardian unless the relevant documents establishing the minor’s legal capacity are produced 
or have been registered by the share registrars of the company.

5. The Chairman of the annual general meeting may accept any form of proxy which is completed other than in accordance with these notes if 
the Chairman of the annual general meeting is satisfied as to the manner in which the shareholder wishes to vote.

SUMMARY IN TERMS OF SECTION 58(8)(b)(I) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2008, AS AMENDED
Section 58(8)(b)(i) provides that if a company supplies a form of instrument for appointing a proxy, the form of proxy supplied by the company for 
the purpose of appointing a proxy must bear a reasonably prominent summary of the rights established by section 58 of the Companies Act, 2008, 
as amended, which summary is set out below:

• A shareholder of a company may, at any time, appoint any individual, including an individual who is not a shareholder of that company, as a proxy, 
among other things, to participate in, and speak and vote at, a shareholders’ meeting on behalf of the shareholder.

• A shareholder may appoint two or more persons concurrently as proxies and may appoint more than one proxy to exercise voting rights attached 
to different securities held by the shareholder.

• A proxy may delegate the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of the shareholder to another person.

• A proxy appointment must be in writing, dated and signed by the shareholder; and remains valid only until the end of the meeting at which it 
was intended to be used, unless the proxy appointment is revoked, in which case the proxy appointment will be cancelled with effect from such 
revocation.

• A shareholder may revoke a proxy appointment in writing.

• A proxy appointment is suspended at any time and to the extent that the shareholder chooses to act directly and in person in the exercise of any 
rights as a shareholder.

• A proxy is entitled to exercise, or abstain from exercising, any voting right of the shareholder without direction.

NOTES TO THE FORM OF PROXY
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Hulamin Limited
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
Registration number: 1940/013924/06 
Share code: HLM
ISIN: ZAE000096210
(“Hulamin” or “the Company”)

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING – 27 MAY 2021 (“AGM”)
Capitalised terms which are not defined herein shall bear the meanings assigned in the notice of annual general meeting (the “AGM Notice”) to which 
this form is attached and forms part.

Instructions
Shareholders or their proxies, have the right, as provided for in the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and the Companies Act, to participate 
in the AGM by way of electronic communication.

Shareholders or their duly appointed proxies who wish to participate in the AGM must complete this application form and email it (together with 
the relevant supporting documents referred to below) to the Company’s Transfer Secretaries at proxy@computershare.co.za and to the Company at 
secretarial@hulamin.co.za as soon as possible, but in any event by no later than 15:00 on Tuesday, 25 May 2021.

Upon receiving a completed Electronic Participation Application Form, the Company’s Transfer Secretaries will follow a verification process to verify 
each applicant’s entitlement to participate in and/or vote at the AGM. The Company’s Transfer Secretaries will provide the Company with the email 
address of each verified shareholder or their duly appointed proxy (each, “a Participant”) to enable the Company to forward the Participant a 
Microsoft Teams meeting invitation required to access the AGM.

Hulamin will send each Participant a Microsoft Teams meeting invitation with a link to “Join the Microsoft Teams Meeting” on 27 May 2021 to enable 
Participants to link up and participate electronically in the AGM. This link will be sent to the email address nominated by the Participant in the table 
below.

Please note
The electronic platform to be utilised for the AGM does not provide for electronic voting during the meeting. Accordingly, shareholders are strongly 
encouraged to submit votes by proxy in advance of the AGM, by completing the Form of Proxy (found at page 11) and lodging the completed proxy 
form together with this Electronic Participation Application Form with the Company’s Transfer Secretaries.

Participants who indicate in this form that they wish to vote during the electronic meeting, will be contacted by the Company’s Transfer Secretaries 
to make the necessary arrangements.

Participants will be liable for their own network charges in relation to electronic participation in and/or voting at the AGM. Any such charges will 
not be for the account of the Company’s Transfer Secretaries or Hulamin who will also not be held accountable in the case of loss of network 
connectivity or other network failure due to insufficient airtime, internet connectivity, internet bandwidth and/or power outages which prevents any 
such Participant from participating in and/or voting at the AGM.

By signing this application form, the Participant indemnifies and holds the Company harmless against any loss, injury, damage, penalty or claim arising 
in any way from the use of the telecommunication lines to participate in the AGM or any interruption in the ability of the Participant to participate in 
the AGM via electronic communication, whether or not the problem is caused by any act or omission on the part of the Participant or anyone else, 
including without limitation the Company and its employees.

Information required for participation by electronic communication at the AGM
Full name of shareholder:

Identity or registration number of shareholder:

Full name of authorised representative (if applicable):

Identity number of authorised representative:

Email address:
*Note: this email address will be used by the Company to share the Microsoft Teams invitation required to access the AGM electronically

Cell phone number:

Telephone number, including dialling codes:

*Note: The electronic platform to be utilised for the AGM does not provide for electronic voting during the meeting. Accordingly, shareholders are 
strongly encouraged to submit votes by proxy in advance of the AGM, by completing the proxy form found at page 11.

Indicate (by marking with an ‘X’) whether:
 ■ votes will be submitted by proxy in advance of the AGM (in which case, please enclose the duly completed proxy form with this form); or
 ■ the Participant will not be submitting votes by proxy in advance of the AGM and wishes to cast votes during the AGM. If this option is selected,  

the Company’s Transfer Secretaries will contact you to make the necessary arrangements.

By signing this application form, I consent to the processing of my personal information above for the purpose of participating in Hulamin’s AGM.

Signed at        on 2021

Signed:

APPLICATION FORM FOR ELECTRONIC PARTICIPATION 
AT THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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Documents required to be attached to this application form

1. In order to exercise their voting rights at the AGM, shareholders who choose to participate electronically may appoint a proxy, which proxy may 
participate in the AGM, provided that a duly completed proxy form has been submitted in accordance with the instructions on that form, and 
as envisaged in the notice of the AGM, a copy of which proxy form follows Annexure A of the AGM notice.

2. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of the named person, including any person acting in a representative capacity, who is to 
participate in the AGM, must be attached to this application.

3. A certified copy of the valid identity document/passport/ of the person attending the AGM by electronic participation, including any person 
acting in a representative capacity, must be attached to this application.

Applications to participate by electronic communication will only be considered if this application form is completed in full, signed by the shareholder, 
its proxy or representative, and delivered as detailed above. The Company may in its sole discretion accept any incomplete application forms.

APPLICATION FORM FOR ELECTRONIC PARTICIPATION 
AT THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING CONTINUED
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Hulamin Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa) 
Registration number: 1940/013924/06
Share code: HLM ISIN: ZAE000096210
Founded: 1940
Listed: 2007
Sector: Industrial Metals and Mining

Business address and registered office
Moses Mabhida Road
Pietermaritzburg 
3200

Postal address
PO Box 74
Pietermaritzburg 3200

Contact details
Telephone: +27 33 395 6911
Facsimile: +27 33 394 6335 
Website: www.hulamin.co.za 
Email: hulamin@hulamin.co.za

Securities exchange listing
South Africa (Primary) JSE Limited

Transfer Secretaries
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited 
Private Bag X9000
Saxonwold 2132
South Africa

Auditors
Ernst & Young Inc. 
102 Rivonia Road, 
Sandton
2146
Private Bag X14, 
Sandton, 
2146 
Practice number: 918288
Telephone: +27 11 772 3000
Facsimile: +27 11 772 4000 
Website: http://www.ey.com 

Sponsor
Questco Corporate Advisory Proprietary Limited 
Ground Floor, Block C
Investment Place
10th Road
Hyde Park
2196
Telephone: +27 11 011 9200
Email: sponsor@questco.co.za
Website: www.questco.co.za

Directorate
Non-executive directors
CA Boles* 
VN Khumalo 
RL Larson*
TP Leeuw, Chairman* 
N Maharajh*
NNA Matyumza*1

B Mehlomakulu (Dr)* 
SP Ngwenya
GHM Watson*
GC Zondi (Alternate)

Executive directors
RG Jacob, Chief Executive Officer 
AP Krull, Chief Financial Officer2 

LM Farquharson, Acting Chief Financial Officer3

M Gounder, Chief Financial Officer4

MZ Mkhize5

*  Independent non-executive directors
1  Resigned 30 July 2020
2    Resigned 31 October 2020
3.    Appointed Acting Chief Financial Officer  

for the period 1 November 2020 to 31 March 2021
4  Appointed Chief Financial Officer 1 April 2021
5  Resigned 28 February 2020

Company Secretary
W Fitchat
Email: willem.fitchat@hulamin.co.za 

Corporate information and investor relations
BA Mngadi
Email: Ayanda.Mngadi@hulamin.co.za 
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY AND 
APPROVAL OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The Directors are required by the Companies Act, 2008 of South Africa, to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible for the content and 
integrity of the annual financial statements of Hulamin Limited and its subsidiaries and related financial information included in this report. It is their 
responsibility to ensure that the annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at the end of the financial year 
and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards, the Companies Act, No 
71 of 2008, as amended, and the JSE Listing Requirements. The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual financial 
statements. 

In preparing the annual financial statements, the Company and the Group have used appropriate accounting policies, supported by reasonable and prudent 
judgement and estimates, and have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. The directors are of the opinion that the 
annual financial statements fairly present the financial position of the Company and the Group at 31 December 2020 and the results of its operations and cash 
flows for the year then ended. The directors have considered the group’s past results, expected future performance and reasonable changes thereto, and 
access to its funding, material and other resources, and in light of this review and the Group’s current financial position, are satisfied that the Company and 
Group have access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future as a going concern. 

The directors are responsible for the systems of internal control. These are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance as to the reliability of 
the annual financial statements, to adequately safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of assets, and to prevent and detect material misstatement and 
loss. 

Based on the results of a formal documented review of Hulamin’s system of internal controls and risk management by the internal audit function during the 
year, the information and explanations given by management and the comment by the independent auditors on the results of their statutory audit, nothing 
other than detailed in the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer statement has come to the attention of the directors which indicates that, in all 
material aspects, Hulamin’s system of internal controls and risk management is not effective and that the internal financial controls do not form a sound basis 
for the preparation of reliable annual financial statements. The opinion of the directors is supported by the Group’s Audit Committee. 

The financial statements have been audited by the independent auditing firm, Ernst & Young Inc., which was given unrestricted access to all financial records 
and related data, including minutes of all meetings of the shareholders, the Board of Directors and committees of the Board. The directors believe that all 
representations made to the independent auditors during the audit were valid and appropriate. Their unqualified report appears on pages 13 to 16. 

The annual financial statements of the Group and Company set out on pages 17 to 117, which have been prepared on the going-concern basis, were approved 
by the Board of Directors on 13 April 2021 and were signed on its behalf by: 

 

Thabo Patrick Leeuw  Richard Gordon Jacob 
Chairman       Chief Executive Officer 

Pietermaritzburg, KwaZulu-Natal 
13 April 2021 
 
 

CERTIFICATE BY COMPANY SECRETARY 
I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief that the requirements as stated in terms of section 88(2) of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, as 
amended, have been met and that all returns, as required of a public company in terms of the aforementioned Act, have been submitted to the Companies and 
Intellectual Property Commission and that such returns are true, correct and up to date. 

Willem Fitchat 
Company Secretary 

Pietermaritzburg, KwaZulu-Natal 
13 April 2021 
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DIRECTORS’ STATUTORY REPORT 

Dear shareholder 

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report for the year ended 31 December 2020. 

Nature of business 
Hulamin Limited (“Hulamin”) is the holding company of two main operating segments, Hulamin Rolled Products and Hulamin Extrusions. Their activities are 
dealt with separately in note 2.1 of the group financial statements. 

The activities of Isizinda Aluminium Proprietary Limited (“Isizinda”), which supplied slab to Hulamin Rolled Products, are integrated into the Hulamin Rolled 
Products segment. Hulamin, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Hulamin Operations Proprietary Limited (“Hulamin Operations”) has ownership of 38.74% in 
Isizinda, with the remaining shares being held 58.74% by Bingelela Capital Proprietary Limited (‘Bingelela’) and 2.53% by the Isizinda Employee Share Trust (‘the 
Isizinda Trust’). 

On 22 May 2019, Hulamin Operations agreed a term sheet with Isizinda, Bingelela, the Isizinda Trust, Bingelela Alloys Proprietary Limited and Bingelela 
Extrusion Billets Proprietary Limited. The agreement gives effect, inter alia, to the purchase by Hulamin Operations from Isizinda the slab business (‘the Sale of 
Business Agreement’), the provision of funding by Hulamin to Isizinda (‘the funding agreement’) and an evergreen lease agreement between Hulamin and 
Isizinda for the lease of a portion of the property on which the slab business is located (‘lease agreement’). This transaction is more fully described below in the 
section entitled ‘Isizinda transaction’. 

Financial results 
The net loss attributable to shareholders of the group for the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to R230 million (2019: R1 204.5 million). This translates 
into a loss per share of 75 cents (2019: loss per share of 380 cents). 

The group’s results were impacted by impairment charges totalling R8.5m million (2019: R1 302.9 million), largely relating to the reduction in the carrying 
amounts of the net assets of the Hulamin Extrusions cash-generating units to their estimated value in use. These impairments reflect both a reduction in the 
five-year forecast cash flows of these cash-generating units due to the softer outlook in market conditions, as well as an increase in Hulamin’s weighted average 
cost of capital which takes account of increased uncertainty in the macro environment and the associated rise of risk indicators. 

A metal price lag gain (after hedging) of R112 million (refer note 2.1(b)) was recorded in 2020 (2019: loss of R68 million), as the Rand aluminium price increased 
during 2020. In anticipation of tight liquidity due to Covid disruptions, the programme to hedge the metal price lag by 50% was suspended at the end of March 
2020 to reduce cash flow volatility from the commodity and currency derivative instruments. Once liquidity headroom improves during 2021, Hulamin will 
consider the timing and quantum of restoring this hedging programme. Any restoration also requires reliable sales forecasting rather than a resurgence of 
disruptions. 

The group recorded a headline loss per share of 68 cents (2019: headline loss per share of 76 cents) based on the weighted average number of shares in issue 
during the year. 

Factors impacting the decline in headline earnings per share for the current period are: 

Hulamin Rolled Products operating performance 
Hulamin Rolled Products experienced challenging conditions in 2020, with Covid-19 causing significant market and operational disruption both locally and 
internationally. The ban on alcohol sales within RSA had a particularly significant impact on local aluminium can sales.  These effects were compounded by the 
anti-dumping petition on imports into the USA from many countries including RSA prior to the release of the preliminary findings as outlines in notes 1.9 (ii) and 
1.10.  As a result, Hulamin Rolled Products sales volumes declined 24% to approximately 155 000 tons. Due to the high fixed manufacturing cost base of the 
business, the impact on operating profit of this sharp reduction in volume has been severe. 

Hulamin Extrusions operating performance 
Following the restructuring of the business in H2 of 2019, and the closure of the Olifantsfontein plant, 2020 was to be the year of rebuilding the business. 
Unfortunately, this was severely disrupted with the national Covid-19 lockdown with the business losing seven weeks of output. Even when operations 
restarted in May, operating at capacity was disrupted by infections and Covid-19 protocols. 

Business performance improved significantly in the second half of the year as the business and economy recovered. The business enjoyed a strong order book 
through this period and business performance improved in line with this strong order book.  

Group 
In addition to the items noted above, the financial results were impacted by: 

• A positive metal price lag of 112 million (2019: negative of R68 million) (refer note 2.1(b)), resulting from an increase in the aluminium price during 
2020 (this was partially offset by the Rand strengthening against the US Dollar in the second half of the financial year); 

• A negative R114 million relating to aluminium futures and currency hedges not qualifying for hedge accounting in 2020; 

• A cost associated with the BEE Extension Transaction amounting to R15 million; 

• A receipt of the employee surplus account for the Tongaat Hulett Pension Fund amounting to R16 million; and  

• A derecognition of previously recognised deferred tax asset of R76.9 million.  
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DIRECTORS’ STATUTORY REPORT CONTINUED 

Solvency and liquidity 
The group’s net borrowings were R751 million (2019: R225.9 million) and net debt was R818.8 million (2019: R272.4 million) as at 31 December 2020. This 
represents a net debt to equity ratio of 35% (2019:10.6%). 

The annual financial statements presented on pages 17 to 117 set out fully the financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the year. 

Isizinda transaction 
Hulamin produces the majority of its rolling slab requirements at its Pietermaritzburg plant and sourced the balance from Isizinda. The operation of slab casting 
facilities is therefore one of Hulamin’s core business competencies and a strategic element of the business. Bingelela wished to exit the slab casting business to 
pursue the production of rim alloys and extrusion billet on the property. Accordingly, it was agreed on 22 May 2019 that, inter alia, Hulamin Operations would 
purchase the slab business from Isizinda, effective 1 January 2020, and that Isizinda would use the proceeds from the disposal of the business assets to reduce 
its loan from Hulamin. 

As reported previously in 2019 Hulamin agreed to a funding agreement between Hulamin and Isizinda in terms of which Hulamin advanced R50 million to 
Isizinda, which has been used by Isizinda to declare a dividend of R35 million to Bingelela, with a further dividend of R15 million to be declared and paid upon 
Hulamin completing a long-term metal supply agreement with Hillside Aluminium Proprietary Limited. 

This transaction was concluded on 1 January 2020 resulting in Hulamin gaining full ownership and control of the production of rolling slab at Bayside. Upon the 
effective date of sale, the “relevant activities” of Isizinda, in terms of IFRS 10 changed materially and as of 1 January 2020, management determined that 
Hulamin no longer controls Isizinda in terms of the requirements of IFRS 10. This loss of control in Isizinda resulted in the group acquiring a 38.7% investment in 
joint venture. Full details of the accounting implications of the Isizinda Transaction have been disclosed in note 6.1(d) of the group financial statements. 

Impact of new accounting standards 
The group adopted amendments to various accounting standards which were effective for the year ended 31 December 2020. These amendments did not have 
a material impact on the group results. 

Full details of the impact of the adoption of these amendments have been disclosed in note 10 of the group financial statements. 

Dividends 
No dividends were declared for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: No dividends declared). 

Share capital 
There were minor changes in the authorised and issued share capital during the year under review due to the BEE Extension transaction, which is disclosed in 
note 8.1(d) of the group annual financial statements. 

During the year, Hulamin Operations purchased 7 638 806 shares (2019: 8 183 539 shares) on-market to hold treasury shares to settle share scheme obligations 
in terms of a share repurchase programme approved by shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 15 May 2019. 

Details of the authorised, issued and unissued ordinary shares, the share repurchase and the group’s share incentive schemes are set out in notes 3.5 and 8.1 of 
the group financial statements. 

Subsidiaries 
Details of Hulamin Limited’s interest in its subsidiaries are set out in note 6.1 (d) of the group financial statements. 

Directorate 
Brief curricula vitae of the directors are listed on the company’s website. Details of directors’ remuneration are reflected in note 8.3.1 of the group financial 
statements. 
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DIRECTORS’ STATUTORY REPORT CONTINUED 

Directors’ and prescribed officer’s shareholdings 
At 31 December 2020, the present directors and prescribed officer of the company beneficially held a total of 1 100 749 ordinary no par value shares, 
equivalent to 0.34 percent, in the company (2019: 1 192 359 ordinary no par value shares, equivalent to 0.37 percent, were held by directors). 

Their associates held no ordinary par value shares in the company. Details of the directors’ and prescribed officer’s shareholdings and interests in the share 
incentive schemes are set out in notes 8.3.2 and 8.3.3 of the group financial statements. 

There has been no change in the directors’ and prescribed officer’s shareholdings between 31 December 2020 and 31 March 2021. 

Holding company 
Hulamin Limited is the ultimate holding company at 31 December 2020. 

Auditors 
Ernst & Young Inc. continued as auditors of Hulamin Limited and its subsidiaries during the current financial year. At the annual general meeting of 27 May 
2021, shareholders will be requested to appoint Ernst & Young Inc. as auditors of Hulamin Limited for the 2021 financial year and it will be noted that Mr S 
Sithebe will be the individual registered auditor that will undertake the audit. 

Secretary 
The Company Secretary of Hulamin Limited is Mr W Fitchat. His business and postal address appears in the corporate information section. 

Events after the reporting period 
Events between the end of the financial year and the date of this report have been detailed in note 1.9 of the group financial statements. The most noteworthy 
events are: 

a) The sale of the Hulamin Extrusions site in Gauteng and receipt of the proceeds. This follows the closing of this site (as detailed in the prior year report) and 
concentration of extrusion activity at the Pietermaritzburg site;  

b) The economic impact of the foreign trade duties imposed on aluminium imported into RSA; and 

c) 4 721 600 A3 ordinary shares arising from the BEE Extension Transaction were issued to the ESOP trust in January 2021. 

Going concern 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using appropriate accounting policies, supported by reasonable judgements and estimates. The 
directors believe that the group has adequate resources to continue as a going concern for the foreseeable future. 

Despite the deterioration in the group’s liquidity position during 2020 to the date of this report, the directors believe that cash generated by Hulamin’s operations, 
identified cash preservation activities, Hulamin’s committed unutilised debt facilities as well as additional funding opportunities will enable the group to continue 
meeting its obligations as they fall due. The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020, therefore, have been prepared on the going 
concern basis. 

In making this assessment, the board has considered the potential impact of the uncertainties surrounding the group which relate to matters a) and b) listed in 
the section above, together with a consideration of management’s scenarios and forecasts to the end of 2021 set out in note 1.10 of the group financial 
statements. It is recognised, however, that a more adverse impact of the uncertainties than included in these scenarios, or a different combination thereof, 
could further deteriorate the group’s forecasted liquidity position and may require the group to further increase operational flexibility and reduce costs. The 
group may also, if necessary, be required to consider raising additional loan facilities or equity capital. 

Whilst, the board do not consider it likely that either a lack of approval of the Long-Term Negotiated Pricing Agreement Policy by the Department of Mineral 
Resources and Energy or an adverse adjudication by NERSA of the electricity supply agreement entered into between South32 and Eskom will prevent the 
continuation of the metal supply agreement entered into between Hulamin and South32, the impact of such an event would be substantial for Hulamin, with 
annual negative cash flows of between R300 million and R400 million. 
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DIRECTORS’ STATUTORY REPORT CONTINUED 

Approval 
The annual financial statements of the group and company set out on pages 17 to 117 have been approved by the board. Signed on behalf of the board of directors 
by: 

 
 

Thabo Patrick Leeuw  Richard Gordon Jacob 
Chairman       Chief Executive Officer 

Pietermaritzburg, KwaZulu-Natal 
13 April 2021 
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THE CEO AND CFO’S RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT 
The directors, whose names are stated below, hereby confirm that: 

• the annual financial statements set out on pages 17 to 117, fairly present in all material respects the financial position, financial performance and 
cash flows of the issuer in terms of IFRS. 

• no facts have been omitted or untrue statements made that would make the annual financial statements false or misleading; 

• internal financial controls have been put in place to ensure that material information relating to the issuer and its consolidated subsidiaries have 
been provided to effectively prepare the financial statements of the issuer; and 

• the internal financial controls are adequate and effective and can be relied upon in compiling the annual financial statements, having applied the 
combined assurance model pursuant to principle 15 of the King Code. Where we are not satisfied, we have disclosed to the audit committee and the 
auditors the deficiencies in design and operational effectiveness of the internal financial controls and any fraud that involves directors, and have 
tabled the planned remedial action. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
Richard Gordon Jacob  Meganathan Gounder 
Chief Executive Officer   Chief Financial Officer 

Pietermaritzburg, KwaZulu-Natal 
13 April 2021 
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 

Introduction 
The Hulamin Group Audit Committee (“the committee” or “Audit Committee”) presents its report in terms of section 94(7)(f) of the Companies Act, No 71 of 
2008, as amended (“Companies Act”), and as recommended by King IV, for the financial year ended 31 December 2020. 

The Audit Committee is an independent statutory committee appointed by the shareholders. Further duties are delegated to the committee by the Board of 
Directors of the company. 

Membership and meetings 
The committee comprises three independent non-executive directors. All members of the committee have the requisite financial knowledge and commercial 
skills and experience to contribute effectively to committee deliberations. The members were appointed by shareholders at the 2020 annual general meeting of 
the company in terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act. For the year under review, the Audit Committee comprised: 

• N Maharajh (Chairman) 

• NNA Matyumza (resigned as director with effect 30 June 2020) 

• CA Boles 

• Dr B Mehlomakulu (appointed as a member of Audit Committee with effect from 1 August 2020) 

The Chief Financial Officer, Head of Internal Controls and representatives from the external and internal auditors attend meetings by invitation. 

Other members of the Board and management team attend as required. The committee meets separately with the external and internal auditors at least once a 
year without management present, to ensure that all relevant matters have been identified and discussed without undue influence. 

The Audit Committee had three scheduled meetings during the year. 

Full details of membership of the committee and attendance at committee meetings during the financial year are also set out in the Corporate Governance 
report available on the Hulamin website at www.hulamin.co.za. 

Role and responsibilities 
The role and responsibilities of the committee include statutory duties per the Companies Act, and further responsibilities assigned to it by the Board. The 
committee executed its duties in terms of the requirements of King IV. The Audit Committee fulfils an oversight role regarding financial reporting risks, internal 
financial controls, fraud risk and information technology risks as it relates to financial reporting. 

The key responsibilities of the committee are as follows: 

• Ensuring the integrity of the financial reporting process, including sound systems of internal control and financial risk management; 

• Review of integrated annual reports, annual financial statements, interim reports and other financial announcements, including the accounting 
principles and policies adopted therein and compliance with JSE regulations; 

• Monitoring the performance and effectiveness of the independent external auditors and evaluating the qualifications, expertise, resources, fees, scope 
of work and independence of the external auditors prior to recommending their appointment to the Board and shareholders; 

• Approving the internal audit workplan and overseeing the conduct of the internal audit and the implementation of internal control enhancements; 

• Approving any non-audit services provided by the external auditors; 

• Considering the appropriateness of the expertise, resources and experience of the finance function and of the Chief Financial Officer; 

• Approving the appointment of an external assurance provider in respect of the sustainability report; 

• Performing statutory duties in terms of the Companies Act, as well as to report to the shareholders in respect of the financial year, including those 
matters in terms of section 94(7)(f) of the Companies Act; 

• Ensuring that the combined assurance model introduced by the King IV Code is applied to provide a coordinated approach to assurance activities; 

• Providing oversight of the risk management through monitoring the implementation of the group risk policy and group risk plan as approved by the 
Board; 

• Oversee the governance of technology and information by setting the direction on how technology and information should be approached and 
addressed, and recommend to the Board the policy that gives effect to the set direction of technology and information; and 

• Review and recommend to the Board for authorisation the group’s treasury policy, authority limits and funding, investment and treasury risk 
management strategies.  

http://www.hulamin.co.za/
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE CONTINUED 

Performance of duties 
The Audit Committee is satisfied that, during the year under review, it complied with its legal, regulatory and other responsibilities, conducted its affairs in 
compliance with Board-approved terms of reference, and discharged its responsibilities contained therein. 

The committee is therefore pleased to report that it discharged the following responsibilities for the period under review: 

External auditor appointment and independence 
The committee has satisfied itself that the external auditor was independent of the company, as set out in section 94(8) of the Companies Act, which includes 
consideration of previous appointments of the auditor, the extent of other work undertaken by the auditor for the company and compliance with criteria relating 
to independence or conflicts of interest as prescribed by the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors. 

The committee ensured that the appointment of the auditor complied with the Companies Act, and any other legislation relating to the appointment of auditors. 

In respect of the 2020 financial year, the committee was satisfied with the quality and effectiveness of the audit process of Ernst & Young Inc. and that Ernst & 
Young Inc. and the designated audit partner, Mr S Sithebe, were accredited as such on the JSE list of auditors and their advisors. As required by the JSE Listings 
Requirements, the company received a summary from Ernst & Young of its latest IRBA inspection report, responses thereto and any remedial actions in respect 
thereof, as well as the quality control monitoring system applied by Ernst & Young. 

The committee, in consultation with executive management, agreed to the engagement letter, terms, audit plan and audit fees for the 2020 year as disclosed in 
note 2.4.5 of the financial statements of the group. 

There is a formal procedure that governs the process whereby the auditor is considered for non-audit services. The committee considers the approval of non-
audit services where the approval will add value to the external audit process or the anticipated engagement is superior to other service providers. The 
committee approved all engagements for the provision of non-audit services by the external auditor, in terms of the established policy for non-audit services. In 
terms of the policy, the cumulative fee for non-audit services should not exceed 25% of the annual audit fee without the specific approval of the Audit 
Committee. 

Internal audit 
The committee is responsible for ensuring that the company’s internal audit function is independent and has the necessary resources, standing and authority 
within the company to enable it to discharge its duties in terms of the established internal audit charter. Furthermore, the committee oversees cooperation 
between the internal and external auditors and serves as a link between the Board of Directors and these functions. 

The internal audit function reports centrally and is responsible for reviewing and providing assurance on the adequacy of the internal control environment 
across the group’s operations. 

An internal audit charter is in place which defines the function, responsibility and authority of the group’s internal audit activity. The internal audit function’s 
2020 annual audit plan was approved by the committee. 

The Head of Internal Audit had direct access to the committee and was responsible for reporting the findings of the internal audit work against the agreed 
internal audit plan to the committee. 

During the year, the committee satisfied itself that the Head of Internal Audit was competent and possessed the appropriate expertise and experience to act in 
this capacity, and believes that the group’s internal audit function met its objectives and that the adequate procedures were in place to ensure that the group 
complies with its legal, regulatory and other responsibilities. 

During the year under review, the committee met with the internal and external auditors without management being present. 
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE CONTINUED 

Internal financial controls 
The committee has overseen a process guided by principle 15 of the King Code, by which Hulamin management and internal audit performed a written 
assessment of the effectiveness of the company’s system of internal control and risk management, including internal financial controls. This process enabled 
the committee to ensure that Hulamin’s internal assurance services and functions enable an effective control environment, and that these services and 
functions support the integrity of information for both Hulamin’s internal decision- making and for Hulamin’s external reports. 

The following information was assessed to substantiate the committee’s views on the effectiveness of the design and implementation of financial controls, and 
of the nature and extent of any significant weaknesses in the design, implementation or execution of those internal financial controls. 

Internal Control Review Assessment 

The CEO and CFO’s evaluation of controls included: 

• The identification and classification of risks including the determination of materiality. 

• Testing the design and determining the implementation of controls addressing high and low risk areas as determined by management. 

• Utilising internal audit to test the operating effectiveness of controls addressing these identified high risk areas. 

The CEO, CFO and the internal auditor, reviewed the controls over financial reporting, and presented their findings to the Audit Committee. During the current 
financial year management identified 8 significant deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting of the 697 controls tested throughout the year.  

These significant deficiencies relate to certain controls within the group’s financial statement closing process, entity level controls with respect to performance 
management and operational controls with respect to asset management. Investigations by management indicated that these significant deficiencies arose 
largely due to staff capacity constraints in the group finance and operational team’s due to the restructuring process the group embarked on in 2018/2019 and 
the impact of lockdowns experienced under COVID 19 in 2020 which impacted negatively on these internal controls.  

A formal remediation plan has been developed to address all control deficiencies identified including the significant deficiencies which will be remediated over 
the course of 2021. Management will report regularly to the audit committee with respect to their progress over the course of 2021.  

The Committee satisfied itself that none of these deficiencies had a material effect for the purposes of the preparation and presentation of the financial 
statements for the year under review and believe that Hulamin’s internal controls can be relied upon as a reasonable basis for the preparation of the Annual 
Financial Statements. 

Governance of risk 
The Board has assigned oversight of the company’s risk management function to the Risk Committee. The chairman of the Audit Committee attended meetings 
of the Risk Committee as a member thereof for the year under review to ensure that information relevant to these respective committees was transferred 
regularly. The Audit Committee fulfils an oversight role regarding financial reporting risks, internal financial controls, and fraud and information technology risks 
as they relate to financial reporting. 

Evaluation of the expertise and experience of the financial director and finance 
function 
The committee has satisfied itself during the year under review that both the Chief Financial Officer and subsequent Acting Chief Financial Officer have the 
appropriate expertise and experience. The committee is of the view that the finance function needs to be strengthened and has commenced the process to 
effect this. 

Financial statements and accounting practices 
The committee has reviewed the accounting policies and the financial statements of the company and the group for the year ended 31 December 2020 and is 
satisfied that they are appropriate and comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

The committee has considered and discussed the annual financial statements and associated reports with both management and the external auditors.  
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE CONTINUED 

Financial statements and accounting practices continued 
During this process, the committee: 

• evaluated significant judgements and reporting decisions; 

• determined that the going-concern basis of reporting is appropriate; 

• evaluated the material factors and risks that could impact on the annual financial statements and associated reports; 

• evaluated the completeness of the financial and sustainability discussion and disclosures; and 

• discussed the treatment of significant and unusual transactions with management and the external auditors. 

The significant audit and accounting matters considered by the Committee in relation to the 2020 annual financial statements were: 

• Impairment of property, plant and equipment and related fair value less costs to sell assessments; 

• Accounting for the sale of the Isizinda slab assets and the resultant loss of control of Isizinda; 

• The financial impact of the BEE Extension Transaction; 

• The derecognition of deferred tax assets; 

• The appropriateness of going concern in light of the continued impact of Covid 19 

The auditors have issued an unmodified audit opinion. 

Integrated reporting, sustainability and combined assurance 
The committee fulfils an oversight role regarding the company’s integrated report and the reporting process. The integrated report is a separate report to these 
financial statements. 

The committee considered the company’s sustainability information as disclosed in the integrated report and separate sustainability report of the group for the 
year ended 31 December 2020 and has assessed its consistency with operational and other information known to committee members, and for consistency 
with the annual financial statements. The committee discussed the sustainability information with management and has considered the conclusion of the 
external assurance provider. The committee is satisfied that the sustainability information is reliable and consistent with the financial results. 

The committee recommended to the Board the appointment of KPMG Services (Pty) Ltd to perform an assurance engagement on key performance indicators 
included in the company’s 2020 sustainability reporting. The committee determined the scope of this assurance engagement and satisfied itself as to the 
independence and competency of the external assurance provider. 

The committee ensures the combined assurance model is appropriate to address the significant risks facing the business and is satisfied that the company has 
optimised the assurance coverage obtained from management, and internal and external assurance providers for the year under review. 

The committee recommended the 2020 integrated report for approval by the Board of Directors. This report will be made available on the Hulamin website at 
www.hulamin.co.za. 

Technology and information 
The committee oversees the governance of technology and information by setting the direction on how technology and information should be approached and 
addressed. 

The committee reviewed the governance structure, key risks, internal controls and activities of the technology and information function during the year. The 
key matters which are being attended to relate to a cybersecurity control and resilience improvement programme, and an updated IT strategy, which includes 
the modernisation of Hulamin’s application environment and a digitalisation programme. 

Treasury 
The committee has reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval the group’s treasury strategy, policy and authority limits. The committee has reviewed 
the risk management activities report as provided by the Treasury Committee and has found the risk management activities to be sufficient to mitigate risk. 

  

http://www.hulamin.co.za/
http://www.hulamin.co.za/
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE CONTINUED 

Going concern 
The committee has reviewed a documented assessment, including key assumptions, prepared by management of the going concern status of the company and 
the group as at 31 December 2020 and has made a recommendation to the Board in this respect. The Board’s statement on the going- concern status of the 
company and the group, as supported by the committee, is detailed on page 5. 

On behalf of the Audit Committee 

 
 

Naran Maharajh 

Chairman of the Audit Committee 

Pietermaritzburg, KwaZulu-Natal 

13 April 2021 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
POSITION 

 

as at 31 December 2020  

  2020 2019 
 Notes R’000 R’000 

ASSETS    

Non-current assets    

Property, plant and equipment 5.1 813 097     813 570  

Right-of-use assets 5.2    44 550     17 108  

Intangible assets 5.3    33 162     13 157  

Retirement benefit asset 8.2 (c)    63 084     95 560  

Deferred tax asset 9.2(a)    15 449     93 130  

Lease receivable 5.4    8 482    -    

Investments accounted for using the equity method 6.1(d)    58 635    -    

  1 036 459     1 032 525  

Current assets    

Inventories 4.2   2 333 828    2 176 408  

Trade and other receivables 4.3 (b) 1 097 335      804 415  

Derivative financial assets 7.1 (d)    7 708     88 661  

Cash and cash equivalents 4.1    38 045     126 207  

Lease receivable 5.4    4 523    -    

Income tax asset 9.3    12 873     17 562  

    3 494 312    3 213 253  

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 6.2    14 250     14 250  

Total assets  4 545 021    4 260 028  

EQUITY    

Stated capital and consolidated shares 3.5   1 817 627    1 817 580  

Treasury shares 3.5   (35 863)   (22 000) 

BEE reserve     24 576     24 576  

Employee share-based payment reserve     57 321     63 305  

Hedging reserve 7.1 (d)    1 724     12 505  

Retained Earnings     503 061     674 342  

Total equity    2 368 446    2 570 308  

LIABILITIES    

Non-current liabilities    

Non-current borrowings 3.1   -      -    

Lease liabilities 3.3    47 251     34 405  

Deferred tax liability 9.2    2 070     16 990  

Retirement benefit obligations 8.2    202 899     225 007  

     252 220     276 402  

Current Liabilities    

Trade and other payables 4.4   1 114 788    1 005 121  

Current borrowings 3.2    789 053     352 083  

Lease liabilities 3.3    20 514     12 088  

Derivative financial liabilities 7.1 (d)   -       44 026  

  1 924 355    1 413 318  

Total liabilities  2 176 575    1 689 720  

Total equity and liabilities  4 545 021    4 260 028  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
PROFIT OR LOSS 

  

as at 31 December 2020     
   2020 2019 

  Notes R'000 R'000 

Revenue from contracts with customers  2.3   8 548 878    10 708 581  

Cost of goods sold  2.4.1   (7 843 237)   (9 929 196) 

Cost of services provided  2.4.1   ( 20 730)   ( 76 066) 

Gross profit      684 911     703 319  

Selling, marketing and distribution expenses  2.4.1   ( 469 749)   ( 520 020) 

Administrative and other expenses  2.4.1;2.4.5   ( 205 179)   ( 290 670) 

Impairment of loans in joint ventures  6.1(d)   ( 3 724)   -    

Net impairment losses on financial assets  4.3(c)    ( 5 068)   ( 1 906) 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets  2.4.4   ( 8 432)   (1 302 898) 

Gains and losses on financial instruments related to trading activities  2.4.2   ( 70 242)    79 571  

Other gains and losses  2.4.3    4 993    ( 88 800) 

Operating loss     ( 72 490)   (1 421 404) 

Interest income  9.1    9 071     8 021  

Interest expense  9.1   ( 45 965)   ( 56 513) 

Loss before share of joint venture profits     ( 109 384)   (1 469 896) 

Share of net losses of joint ventures accounted for using the equity method  6.1(d)   ( 1 565)   -    

Loss before tax     ( 110 949)   (1 469 896) 

Taxation   9.3   ( 119 490)    265 355  

Net loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the company     ( 230 439)   (1 204 541) 

     
Basic loss per share (cents)  2.2 ( 75) ( 380) 

Diluted loss per share (cents)  2.2 ( 75) ( 380) 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

  

as at 31 December 2020      
   2020 2019  
 Notes  R'000 R'000  
Net loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the company     (230 439)   (1 204 541)  

Other comprehensive income for the year   19 637     46 807   

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:     (10 781)    18 785   

Cash flow hedges transferred to the statement of profit or (loss) 7.1(d)      210 379    (54 750)  

Cash flow hedges (reversed)/created  7.1(d)     (213 515)    57 039   

Cost of hedging 7.1(d)     (11 838)    23 801   

Income tax relating to these items      4 193    (7 305)  

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:   30 418     28 022   

Remeasurements of retirement benefit obligations 8.2(d),(e)     31 399     35 478   

Remeasurements of retirement benefit asset 8.2(c)  153 955  

Income tax relating to these items   (1 134)      (8 411)  

      

     -      -     

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the company     (210 802)   (1 157 734)  
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT  

as at 31 December 2020    

  2020 2019 

 Notes R'000 R'000 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Cash generated from operations A   (280 184)    625 512  

Interest paid    (60 438)   (62 754) 

Interest received     8 358     8 021  

Income taxes paid    (28 231)   (37 492) 

Net cash (outflow)/ inflow from operating activities    (360 495)    533 287  

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Additions to property, plant and equipment 5.1   (131 432)   (305 095) 

Additions to intangible assets 5.3   (8 848)   (6 222) 

Proceeds from lease receivable 5.4    2 950    -    

Net proceeds from repayments of loan granted to investment accounted for using equity method 6.1(d)    20 496    -    

Net cash outflow from the group as a result of loss in control of Isizinda 6.1(d (7 346) - 

Net cash outflow from investing activities    (124 180)   (311 317) 

Cash flows before financing activities ("free cash flow")    (484 675)    221 970  

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Repayment of current portion of non-current borrowings 3.1   -      (54 000) 

Net proceeds from/(repayment) current borrowings* 3.4    436 970    (413 700) 

Settlement of employee share incentives schemes    -      ( 305) 

Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities 3.3   (11 668)   (14 675) 

Dividends paid    -      (58 202) 

Acquisition of treasury shares 3.5   (13 816)   (22 000) 

Settlement payments in respect of share-based payment – Isizinda 6.1(d)   -      (50 000) 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities     411 486    (612 882) 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents    (73 189)   (390 912) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 4.1    126 207     525 981  

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  2.4.2   (14 973)   (8 862) 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 4.1    38 045     126 207  

* Movement in the current borrowings represents the net movement on the Nedbank facility which is drawn down or settled on a daily basis. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 
STATEMENT 

  

for the year ended 31 December 2020   
   2020 2019  
  Notes R'000 R'000  

A Cash generated from operations     

 Loss before tax    (110 949)   (1 469 896)  

 Net interest cost  36 894     48 492   

 Operating loss    (74 055)   (1 421 404)  

 Adjusted for non-cash flow items:     

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 5.1 48 392     107 625   

 Depreciation of right-of-use assets 5.2    8 691     16 483   

 Amortisation of intangible assets 5.3    7 153     12 116   

 Impairment of financial assets      5 068  -  

 Impairment of loans to joint ventures 6.1(d)    3 724    -     

 Impairment of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and right of use asset 2.4.4    8 432    1 302 898   

 Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2.4.3   -       26 455   

 Loss arising from loss of control in Isizinda  6.1(d)    11 207    -     

 Gain on liquidation of pension fund     (16 000)   -     

 Share of net losses of Joint Ventures accounted for using the equity method     1 565    -     

 Net movement in retirement benefit asset and obligations 8.2    41 921     48 002   

 Value of employee services received under share schemes 2.4.1(a)    22 756     6 968   

 Foreign exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents 2.4.2    14 973     8 862   

 Gain on sale of investment 2.4.2   -      (2 655)  

 Currency exchange translation on foreign debtors and creditors 2.4.2   (5 482)    9 200   

 Settlement of share-based payment - Isizinda 2.4.3; 6.1(d)   -       65 000   

 Other non-cash items  (3 253)   ( 479)  

 Cash generated before working capital changes     75 092     179 071   

 Changes in working capital  B   (355 276)    446 441   

 Cash (used in)/ generated from operations    (280 184)    625 512   

B Changes in working capital     

 (Increase)/decrease in inventories    (157 620)    86 139   
 (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables    (277 533)    702 704   
 Increase in derivatives*  21 953 18 726  
 Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  57 924    (361 128)  
     (355 276) 446 441   

 * The increase in derivatives was reclassified into working capital from cash generated before working capital changes to reflect the group hedging 
strategy with respect to working capital. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN 
EQUITY 

 

as at 31 December 2020  
 Stated   Employee    
 capital and   Share-based    
 Consolidated  Treasury Hedging payment BEE Retained  
 shares shares reserve reserve reserve earnings Total 
Note A B C D E F equity 
 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 
Balance at 31 December 2018   1 817 580    -      (6 280)    57 914     51 776    1 881 631    3 802 621  
Net loss for the year   -      -      -      -      -      (1 204 541)   (1 204 541) 
Other comprehensive (loss) / income         
net of tax:        
 - cash flow hedges   -      -       18 785    -      -      -       18 785  
 - retirement benefit assets   -      -      -      -      -       28 022     28 022  
   and obligations        
Equity settled share-based payment          -    
schemes:        
 - Value of employee services (note 2.4.1)   -      -      -       6 968    -      -       6 968  
 - Settlement and forfeiture of employee   -      -      -      (1 577)   -       1 272    ( 305) 
   share incentives        
 - Settlement of equity-settled share         
based payment (note 6.1(d))   -      -      -      -      (27 200)    27 200    -    

 - Tax on employee share incentives   -      -      -      -      -      (1 040)   (1 040) 
 - Acquisition of treasury shares   -      (22 000)   -      -      -      -      (22 000) 
Dividend paid   -      -      -      -      -      (58 202)   (58 202) 
Balance at 31 December 2019   1 817 580    (22 000)    12 505     63 305     24 576     674 342    2 570 308  

Net loss for the year   -      -      -      -      -      (230 439)   (230 439) 

Other comprehensive (loss) / income         

net of tax:        

 - cash flow hedges   -      -      (10 781)   -      -      -      (10 781) 

 - retirement benefit assets   -      -      -      -      -       30 418     30 418  

   and obligations        

Equity settled share-based payment         

schemes:        

 - Value of employee services (note 2.4.1)   -      -      -       22 756    -      -       22 756  

 - Settlement and forfeiture of employee        

   share incentives   -      -      -      (28 740)   -       28 740    -    

Vesting of A1 ordinary shares 47 (47)      

Acquisition of treasury shares   -      (13 816)   -      -      -      -      (13 816) 

Dividend paid   -      -      -      -      -      -      -    

Balance at 31 December 2020   1 817 627    (35 863)    1 724     57 321     24 576     503 061  2 368 446  
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NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

A: Stated capital and consolidation shares 
Stated capital represents the group’s issued share capital held by outside shareholders. Consolidation shares represent shares held under various BEE 
transactions. Further information of the group’s stated capital and consolidation shares is presented in note 3.5. 

B: Treasury shares 
Shares in the company held by wholly-owned group companies are classified as treasury shares. These shares are treated as a deduction from the issued and 
weighted average number of shares and the cost of the shares is deducted from group equity. Dividends received on treasury shares are eliminated on 
consolidation. No gains and losses are recognised in the group statement of profit or loss or the statement of comprehensive income on the purchase, sale, 
issue or cancellation of treasury shares. During the year the group purchased 7 638 806 shares (2019: 8 183 539 shares). The total cost of R13 816 000 (2019: 
R22 000 000) including after tax transactions costs and excluding the vesting of A1 ordinary shares, was deducted from shareholder equity. The total deduction 
in paid-up capital was R35 863 000 (2019: R22 000 000). 

C: Hedging reserve 
The hedging reserve includes the cash flow hedge reserve and the costs of hedging reserve. The cash flow hedge reserve is used to recognise the effective 
portion of gains or losses on derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges. Amounts are subsequently transferred to revenue as part of the 
hedging relationship or reclassified to profit or loss as appropriate. The group defers the changes in the forward element of forward contracts and the time 
value of option contracts in the costs of hedging reserve. These deferred costs of hedging are included in revenue when it is recognised. Further analysis of the 
reserve is presented in note 7.1(d)(iii). 

D: Employee share-based payments reserve 
The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the grant date fair value of options issued to employees. On settlement, the value of the reserve is 
transferred to retained earnings. A deferred tax asset on outstanding grants is recognised where the grants are in-the-money, with the deferred tax on the 
portion above the fair value of the option being recognised directly in retained earnings. Further details of share options outstanding are provided in notes 
8.1(c) and 8.1(d)(ii). 

E: BEE reserve 
The BEE reserve is used to recognise the grant date fair value of options issued to identified BEE participants and Isizinda BEE participants. Further details of 
these transactions are provided in notes 8.1(d)(i) and 8.1(d)(iii). 

F: Retained earnings 
The retained earnings represent the cumulative historic profit and loss reinvested in the group. No restrictions exist on the use of the retained income. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

1. General 
1.1 Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), IFRIC 
interpretations, SAICA Financial Reporting guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, Financial Pronouncements as issued by 
Financial Reporting Standards Council, the requirements of the Companies Act, no 71 of 2008, as amended, and the Listing Requirements of 
the JSE Limited. 

The basis of preparation is consistent with the prior year, except for new and revised standards and interpretations adopted per note 1.2(a) to 
the financial statements. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared using the historical cost basis except for certain items as set out in the accounting policies 
which follow (see the accounting policies relating to derivative financial instruments, share-based payments, retirement benefit assets and 
obligations and non-current assets held for sale). The consolidated financial statements are presented in South African Rands and all values 
are rounded to the nearest thousand (R’000), except when otherwise indicated. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the going-concern basis using accrual accounting (refer to note 1.10). 

Assets and liabilities and income and expenses are not offset unless specifically permitted by an accounting standard. Financial assets and 
financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported only when a legally enforceable right to offset exists and the intention is either to 
settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

The group presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current/non-current classification. An asset is current 
when it is: 

• Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle; 

• Held primarily for the purpose of trading;  

• Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period; and 

• All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is current when: 

• It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle; 

• It is held primarily for the purpose of trading;  

• It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period or there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the 
liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period; and 

• The group classifies all other liabilities as non-current. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities. 

Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately as current items in the statement of Financial position. 

Accounting policies (as shown throughout this report) are the specific principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices applied in preparing 
and presenting financial statements. Changes in accounting policies resulting from the initial application of a standard or an interpretation are 
accounted for in accordance with the transitional provisions in the accounting standard. If no such guidance is given, they are applied 
retrospectively. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONTINUED 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

1. General continued 
1.2 New accounting standards 

(a) New and revised standards and interpretations in issue and effective which are applicable to the group 

Pronouncement Effective date Impact 

Definition of a 
Business – 
Amendments to 
IFRS 3  

Annual periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2020 

The IASB issued amendments to the definition of a business in IFRS 3, ‘Business 
Combinations’ to assist entities determine whether an acquired set of activities and 
assets is a business or not. The amendment aims to: 

a) clarify the minimum requirements for a business,  
b) remove the assessment of whether market participants are capable of 

replacing any missing elements,  
c) add guidance to help entities assess whether an acquired process is 

substantive,  
d) narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs, and  
e) introduce an optional fair value concentration test. 

The amendments apply prospectively to transactions or other events that occur on or 
after the date of first application. This had no material impact on the group financial 
statements. 

Definition of 
Material – 
Amendments to IAS 
1 and IAS 8  

Annual periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2020 

In October 2018, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of Financial 
Statements’ and IAS 8 to align the definition of ‘material’ across the standards and to 
clarify certain aspects of the definition. The new definition states that, ’Information is 
material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence 
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis 
of those financial statements, which provide financial information about a specific 
reporting entity.’ 

The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of 
information, or both. An entity will need to assess whether the information, either 
individually or in combination with other information, is material in the context of the 
financial statements. 

The amendments must be applied prospectively. This had no material impact on the 
group financial statements. 

The Conceptual 
Framework for 
Financial Reporting  

Annual periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2020 

The revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (the Conceptual Framework) is 
not a standard, and none of the concepts override those in any standard or any 
requirements in a standard. The purpose of the Conceptual Framework is to assist the 
Board in developing standards, to help preparers develop consistent accounting policies if 
there is no applicable standard in place and to assist all parties to understand and interpret 
the standards. 

The Conceptual Framework includes some new concepts, provides updated definitions 
and recognition criteria for assets and liabilities and clarifies some important concepts. 

This had no material impact on the group financial statements. 

Interest rate 
Benchmark Reform- 
Amendments to 
IFRS 9, IAS 39 and 
IFRS 7 

Annual periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2020. The effective 
date reflects the 
urgency of the 
issue. 

Interest rate benchmarks such as interbank offered rates (IBORs) play an important role in 
global financial markets. These benchmarks index a wide variety of financial products 
worth trillions of dollars and other currencies, ranging from mortgages to derivatives. 

Market developments have undermined the reliability of some existing benchmarks. In 
this context, the Financial Stability Board has published a report setting out 
recommendations to reform some major benchmarks.1 Some jurisdictions have already 
made clear progress towards replacing existing benchmarks with alternative, nearly risk-
free rates. 

This work has, in turn, led to uncertainty about the future of some existing interest rate 
benchmarks, which may affect companies’ financial reporting. 

The amendments made provide relief from the potential effects of the uncertainty caused 
by the reform. 

This amendment is not applicable to Hulamin as some of the hedging instruments 
currently held are linked JIBAR and there has been no reform to this benchmark rate in the 
current year nor is it expected in the near future. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONTINUED 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

1. General continued 
1.2 New accounting standards continued 

(b) New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet effective  
Hulamin will adopt these standards on their effective dates: 

Pronouncement Effective date Impact 

Amendments to 
IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ – 
COVID-19 related 
rent concessions 

Annual periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 June 2020 

(published May 
2020) 

As a result of the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, rent concessions have been granted 
to lessees. Such concessions might take a variety of forms, including payment holidays and 
deferral of lease payments.  

On 28 May 2020, the IASB published amendments to IFRS 16 that provides an optional 
practical expedient for lessees from assessing whether a rent concession related to COVID-
19 is a lease modification. Lessees can elect to account for such rent concessions in the 
same way as they would if they were not lease modifications. In many cases, this will 
result in the accounting for the concession as a variable lease payment in the period(s) in 
which the event or condition that triggers the reduced payment occurs.  

Hulamin does not expect this to have a material impact on the group financial statements. 

IFRS 17, ‘Insurance 
contracts’ 

Annual periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2023 

 

Early application is 
permitted for 
entities that apply 
IFRS 9, ‘Financial 
Instruments’, and 
IFRS 15, ‘Revenue 
from Contracts with 
Customers’, at or 
before the date of 
initial application of 
IFRS 17. 

 

The IASB issued IFRS 17, ‘Insurance contracts’, and thereby started a new epoch of 
accounting for insurers. Whereas the current standard, IFRS 4, allows insurers to use their 
local GAAP, IFRS 17 defines clear and consistent rules that will significantly increase the 
comparability of financial statements. For insurers, the transition to IFRS 17 will have an 
impact on financial statements and on key performance indicators. 

Under IFRS 17, the general model requires entities to measure an insurance contract at 
initial recognition at the total of the fulfilment cash flows (comprising the estimated future 
cash flows, an adjustment to reflect the time value of money and an explicit risk 
adjustment for non-financial risk) and the contractual service margin. The fulfilment cash 
flows are remeasured on a current basis each reporting period. The unearned profit 
(contractual service margin) is recognised over the coverage period. 

Aside from this general model, the standard provides, as a simplification, the premium 
allocation approach. This simplified approach is applicable for certain types of contract, 
including those with a coverage period of one year or less. 

For insurance contracts with direct participation features, the variable fee approach 
applies. The variable fee approach is a variation on the general model. When applying the 
variable fee approach, the entity’s share of the fair value changes of the underlying items 
is included in the contractual service margin. As a consequence, the fair value changes are 
not recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they occur but over the remaining 
life of the contract. 

The impact is currently being assessed by Hulamin and we do not expect this to have a 
material impact on the group financial statements. 

Classification of 
liabilities as Current 
or Non-current – 
Amendments to IAS 
1 

Annual periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2023 

The International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’) issued Amendments to IAS 1 – 
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current in January 2020. The amendments 
had originally been issued as an exposure draft in February 2015. The IASB considered the 
feedback received in December 2015 but in April 2016 it decided to delay the issuance of 
the amendments pending completion of the IASB’s project on the Conceptual Framework, 
which included the definition of a ‘liability’. The Board’s work on the amendments to IAS 1 
restarted in September 2018 and were completed in the third quarter of 2019. 

The IASB noted that these amendments are intended to be clarifications of the 
requirements of IFRS, rather than fundamental changes. Diversity in practice had emerged 
in a number of areas due to perceived inconsistencies in IAS 1, where certain paragraphs 
appeared to contradict one another. Therefore, depending on how IAS 1 has been 
interpreted in the past, the clarification of the requirements may result in significant 
changes to how entities classify liabilities.  

The amendments to IAS 1 are broad, and may impact entities in many different ways, 
some of which may be unexpected. It is important that entities carry out an analysis of the 
impact of the revised requirements on the recognised liabilities in their statements of 
financial position. 

No material impact is expected upon the adoption of this standard by Hulamin as the 
current classification of liabilities is in line with the additional clarity now provided by IASB. 
Hulamin does not expect this to have a material impact on the group financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONTINUED 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

1. General continued 
1.2 New accounting standards continued 

(b) New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet effective continued 

Pronouncement Effective date Impact 

A number of 
narrow-scope 
amendments to 
IFRS 3, IAS 16, and 
some annual 
improvements on 
IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IAS 
41 and IFRS 16 

Annual periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2022 

 

Amendments to IFRS 3, ‘Business Combinations’ updated a reference in IFRS 3 to the 
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting without changing the accounting 
requirements for business combinations. 

Amendments to IAS 16, ‘Property, plant and equipment’ prohibit a company from 
deducting from the cost of property, plant and equipment amounts received from 
selling items produced while the company is preparing the assets for its intended use. 
Instead, a company will recognise such sales proceeds and related costs in profit or loss.  

Amendments to IAS 37, ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities, contingent assets’ specify 
which costs a company includes when assessing whether a contract will be loss-making. 

Annual improvements make minor amendments to IFRS 1, ‘First-time adoption of IFRS’, 
IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’, IAS 41, ‘Agriculture’ and Illustrative Examples 
accompanying IFRS 16, ‘Leases’. 

Hulamin is currently assessing the impact of these pronouncements t on the group 
financial statements and we do not expect this to have a material impact on the group 
financial statements. 

Interest rate 
Benchmark Reform- 
Amendments to 
IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 
7. IFRS 4 and IFRS 
16 (the 
amendments) 

(Phase 2) 

The effective date 
is for annual 
periods beginning 
on or after 1 
January 2021, but 
earlier application 
is permitted. 

On 27 August 2020, the International Accounting Standards Board published phase two 
of the interest rate benchmark reform.  

Phase 1 (as discussed above) addressed issues affecting financial reporting in the period 
before the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an RFR.  

Phase 2 on the other hand focused on issues that affect financial reporting when an 
existing interest rate benchmark is replaced with an RFR. Publication of the phase two 
amendments completes the IASB’s work to amend IFRS in response to IBOR reform. 

Publication of the phase two amendments completes the IASB’s work to amend IFRS in 
response to IBOR reform. 

This amendment is again not applicable to Hulamin as some of the hedging instruments 
currently held are linked to JIBAR and there has been no reform to this benchmark rate 
in the current year nor is it expected in the near future. 

1.3 Fair value measurement 
The group measures financial instruments such as derivatives at fair value at each balance sheet date. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or 
transfer the liability takes place either: 

• In the principal market for the asset or liability; or 

• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the 
asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair 
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONTINUED 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

1. General continued 
1.3 Fair value measurement continued 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, 
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly 
observable 

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable 

External valuers are involved for valuation of significant assets. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence and 
whether professional standards are maintained. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, 

characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy. 

Fair-value related disclosures for financial instruments and non-financial assets that are measured at fair value or where fair values are 
disclosed, are summarised in the following notes: 

• Non current assets classified as held for sale (note 6.2) 

• Derivative assets and liabilities (note 7.1) 

• Impairment of non-financial assets (note 2.4.4) 

• Non- current borrowings (note 3.1) 

1.4 Accounting for assets and liabilities 
(i) Recognition 

Assets and liabilities are recognised when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with them will flow to and from the group 
respectively, and when their costs or fair values can be measured reliably. 

Financial instruments are recognised when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are 
recognised based on trade dates. 

(ii) Derecognition 

Financial assets, or parts thereof, are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows have expired, been transferred 
and/or control has passed. 

All other assets are derecognised on disposal or when they no longer meet the definition of an “asset” as prescribed by the Framework. 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the relevant obligation has either been discharged, cancelled or has expired. 

1.5 Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another 
entity. 

(i) Financial assets 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive 
income (OCI) and fair value through profit or loss. 

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the group’s 
business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which 
the group has applied the practical expedient, the group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset 
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which 
the group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price as disclosed in note 2.3 Revenue from contracts with 
customers. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONTINUED 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

1. General continued 
1.5 Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement continued 

(i) Financial assets continued 

Initial recognition and measurement 

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that 
are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is 
performed at an instrument level. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or 
loss, irrespective of the business model. 

The group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The 
business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial 
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through OCI are held within a business model with the 
objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. 

Subsequent measurement 

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are subject to impairment. Gains 
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired. 

The group’s financial assets at amortised cost includes trade receivables. 

Derecognition 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., 
removed from the group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or 
The group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full 
without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the group has transferred substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset. 

Impairment 

For trade receivables, the group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised 
from initial recognition of the receivables. Therefore, the group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance 
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. 

(ii) Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, at amortised cost, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, or as derivatives 
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable 
transaction costs. 

The group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings and derivative financial instruments. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONTINUED 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

1. General continued 
1.5 Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement continued 

(ii) Financial liabilities continued 

Subsequent measurement 

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial liabilities are classified in two categories: 

• Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, or 
• Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings). 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings) is the category most relevant to the group. After initial recognition, interest-bearing 
loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when 
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. 

Derecognition 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an existing financial 
liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The 
difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

The accounting policy on derivatives is detailed in note 7.1. 

1.6 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
The preparation of the group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent 
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying 
amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods. In the process of applying the group’s accounting policies, management has made the 
following judgements, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements: 

(i) Methods of depreciation, useful lives and residual values of assets 

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their useful lives taking into account residual values. The estimated useful lives 
and residual values are assessed annually taking into account technological innovation, product life cycles, maintenance programmes and 
projected disposal values. Refer note 5.1 and 5.3. 

(ii) Post-retirement benefit obligations 

Actuarial valuations of post-retirement benefit obligations are based on assumptions which include employee turnover, mortality rates, 
discount rate, expected long-term rate of return on retirement plan assets, health care costs, inflation rates and salary increments. 

Management experts are used to assist with valuations of post employment benefit obligations. Refer note 8.2. 

(iii) Share-based payment transactions 

The critical estimates and assumptions used in the IFRS 2 calculations are disclosed in note 8.1 of the group financial statements. Management 
experts are used to determine the grant date fair value of options granted. Management assesses the likelihood of achieving non-market 
performance measures based on approved budgets and the five-year business plan. 

(iv) Impairment of non-financial assets 

The recoverable amounts of the assets (or cash-generating units to which they belong) disclosed in notes 5.1 and 5.2 of the group financial 
statements were estimated at period end in terms of IAS 36. 

The critical estimates and assumptions used in the recoverable amount calculations in respect of the assets of the group are disclosed in note 
2.4.4 of the group financial statements. Forward-looking financial information is based on board-approved business plans. 

(v) IFRIC 23 Uncertainty of Income Tax Treatment 

Interpretation IFRIC 23 clarifies the accounting treatment for uncertainties in income taxes as part of the application of IAS 12. The 
interpretation specifically addresses whether an entity considers each uncertain tax treatment separately or together with one or more other 
uncertain tax treatments. In applying IFRIC 23 the group assessed the risk profile of all uncertain tax matters based on the following criteria: 

•  the outcome of similar historical or current audits within the group;  
•  consensus opinions from expert advisers regarding areas and levels of tax risk; and 
•  changes in tax law impacting existing or future tax matters.  
Based on this assessment, the potential cash tax outflow for each uncertain tax matter is quantified using the applicable statutory tax rate and 
applying a risk probability factor (exercising judgement on the most likely outcome). The impact on current and deferred tax is also taken into 
consideration. The probalised risk values are consolidated in arriving at the group’s total estimated uncertain tax provision. 
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1. General continued 
1.6 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions continued 

(vi) Investment in Isizinda Aluminium (Pty) Ltd (“Isizinda”) 

The group holds a 38.7% (2019: 38.7%) interest in Isizinda. Management have previously assessed the investment in Isizinda to represent 
control in terms of the requirements of IFRS 10. Hulamin acquired the rolling slab casting business and assets from Isizinda, effective 1 January 
2020, and entered into a lease agreement with Isizinda to continue operating this casting facility. Upon the effective date of sale, the “relevant 
activities” of Isizinda, in terms of IFRS 10, have changed materially. Accordingly, as of 1 January 2020, management assessed that Hulamin no 
longer control’s Isizinda in terms of the requirements of IFRS 10.  

The significant judgements applied in determining whether Hulamin has control or joint control over Isizinda were determined with reference 
to Isizinda’s relevant activities and which parties could direct those activities as outlined in the memorandum of incorporation and the 
shareholders agreement. The relevant activities are those that significantly impact the economic performance or returns over Isizinda. 

The contractual arrangement provides the group with only the right to the net assets of the joint arrangement, with the voting rights to the 
assets and obligation for liability of the joint arrangement resting primarily with Hulamin Operations Proprietary Limited. Under IFRS 11 this 
joint arrangement is classified as a joint venture and has been included in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method. For 
more detail on the investment in joint venture refer note 6.1 (d). 

(vii) Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options 

The group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an option to extend the 
lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be 
exercised. The group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. The group applies judgement in evaluating 
whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors 
that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or termination. 

The group included the renewal period as part of the lease term for leases of buildings. The group typically exercises its option to renew for 
these leases because these buildings are required for staff occupation. For more details on leases refer notes 3.3 and 5.2. 

(viii) Non current assets classified as held for sale 

Critical assumptions and estimates have rendered certain assets belonging to the group to meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale at 
that date for the following reasons: 

• The assets are available for immediate sale and can be sold to the buyer in its current condition; 

• The actions to complete the sale were initiated and expected to be completed within one year from the date of initial classification; and 

• A potential buyer has been identified and negotiations as at the reporting date are at an advanced stage. For more details on the assets 
held for sale refer to note 6.2. 

(ix) Taxes 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profit will be available against which these can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine 
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits, together with 
future tax planning strategies. 

Further details on the recognised and unrecognised portion of the deferred tax is disclosed in note 9.2. 

(x) Leases – Estimating the incremental borrowing rate 

The group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental borrowing rate (IBR) to measure 
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the 
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects 
what the group ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to 
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The group has used its incremental borrowing rate with reference to the revolving loan facility. 
Refer note 3.3. 
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1. General continued 
1.6 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions continued 

(xi) Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables 

The group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of 
various customer segments that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is initially based on the group’s historical observed default 
rates. The group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if 
forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased 
number of defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At every reporting date, the historical observed 
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed. 

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. 
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The group’s historical credit loss experience 
and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of customer’s actual default in the future. Refer note 4.3(c). 

(xii) Revenue recognition – Estimating variable consideration for returns and volume rebates 

The group estimates variable considerations to be included in the transaction price for the sale of goods with volume rebates. Refer to note 
2.3. 

1.7 Foreign currencies 
The functional currency of each entity within the group is determined based on the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
that entity operates. Transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency are recognised at the exchange rate ruling on the 
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of these transactions and from translation at year 
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the 
period in which they arise, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges. The company and group’s functional currency and 
presentation currency respectively is the South African rand. 

1.8 Contingent liabilities 
The group has no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2020 (2019: RNil). 

1.9 Events after the reporting period 
Events after the reporting period are those events, favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the end of the reporting period and the 
date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. Management has considered the relevant events during this period and 
concluded that they are non-adjusting events as determined in accordance with IAS 10, ‘Events after the reporting period’. Details of material 
non-adjusting events are provided below. 
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1. General continued 
1.9 Events after the reporting period continued 

(i) Continuing economic impact of COVID-19 

Impact on sales and operations 

The group has historically generated approximately 55% – 60% of its sales in international markets. North America and Europe represent the 
most material export markets and have, in a similar manner to the local South African market, been significantly negatively impacted by the 
ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. These markets have had various degrees of lockdowns implemented which constrained consumer demand. 

Impact on derivatives and hedge accounting 

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has continued to have an adverse impact, not only on operations and sales volumes, but also on commodity 
prices and currencies. 

The metal price lag (“MPL”) hedging programme (see further detail for the groups hedging strategy in note 7.1(a) and 7.1(b)) was suspended 
at the end of March 2020 in order to reduce potential cash flow volatility from commodity and currency hedges. This will be re-evaluated 
during 2021 once the outlook becomes more stable.  

Liquidity and cash preservation 

Hulamin closed 2020 with a strong balance sheet, with net borrowings of R751 million, lease liabilities of R67.8 million and a net debt to equity 
ratio of 35% (2019: 10.6%) (refer note 7.4) and adequate headroom in its debt facilities of, of approximately R450 million (refer note 7.3). In 
terms of the covenant definition with Hulamin’s bankers, the net debt (including letters of credit) to equity (adjusted for intangibles and 
deferred tax asset) ratio was 38.8% (2019: 16.3%) on 31 December 2020, against a covenant level of 50%.  

The second wave and prospect of a third wave of the pandemic in 2021, and its continued consequential economic impacts, requires 
unprecedented and strong actions. Accordingly, Hulamin has put on hold all uncommitted non-urgent capital expenditure, sharply reduced 
metal procurement, eliminated variable costs and reduced fixed costs where possible to preserve and protect cash flow and the balance 
sheet. Presently, the group can operate up to full production capacity, whilst practicing the required protective measures to limit the spread of 
the virus on site, and is therefore able to capitalise on opportunities available, although demand side risk continues to exist. 

This uncertainty and its impact on the going concern assumption has been further detailed in note 1.10. 

Statement of financial position 

Certain line items in the statement of financial position may be impacted in the 2021 financial statements. Below are indications of how material 
line items in the statement of financial position may be affected: 

Impact on trade and other receivables 

We have seen a delay in customer payments as most local customers only resumed operations during the government lockdown level 3. The 
group also covers trade receivables through the Credit Guarantee Insurance Company (CGIC) (refer to note 4.3). We are actively engaging with 
customers regarding outstanding balances in conjunction with CGIC. 

Impact on retirement benefit assets 

At the end of March 2020, the net asset position was 8.6% lower than at December 2020, but the market has subsequently recovered 
significantly. This is a long-term asset and will be held for a further estimated 19 years. 

Impact on the impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, intangibles, right-of-use asset and deferred tax assets 

The above factors (and those detailed in note 1.10) may impact both on the future impairment assessments of property, plant and equipment, 
intangibles and the right-of-use asset. However, these impacts are uncertain. The continued impact of COVID-19 is expected to be most 
pronounced on near-term cash flows, which have a lower effect on possible asset impairment. 
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1. General continued 
1.9 Events after the reporting period continued 

(i) Continuing economic impact of COVID-19 continued 

The exchange rate assumptions used in the impairment assessment are explained in note 2.4.4 and reflect a forecast for the South African 
Rand that is considerably stronger than the exchange rates of the second quarter of 2020. The positive effect on profits of a stronger Rand 
may largely be offset by lower sales volumes and lower USD-denominated prices during the same timeframe. The exchange rate, sales 
volumes and USD prices would also likely affect the value of working capital, with the lower USD aluminium price also offsetting the effect of a 
weaker Rand. The combined off-setting effect of these factors on future cash flows is uncertain and may lead to a higher market risk premium 
within the discount rate for the next impairment assessment. However, any higher risk premium may be offset by lower interest rates, 
resulting in an uncertain movement in the future weighted average cost of capital. 

The extent to which these areas are impacted will depend on future developments relating to the above uncertainties which cannot be 
predicted at this time. 

(ii) US Anti-dumping petition against imports of common alloy sheet 

On 9 March 2020, a petition was filed in the United States (“US”) by domestic US producers against imports of aluminium common alloy sheet 
from 18 countries, including South Africa. The petition claims material harm to the US aluminium industry and seeks tariff relief in the form of 
anti-dumping countervailing duties. The total US common alloy sheet market is approximately 2 million tons per annum of which domestic US 
producers have historically supplied less than 65% of the market. Hulamin’s share of this market is less than 2%. 

Hulamin sells a range of products into the US, including common alloy sheet. On average, over the past three years, Hulamin’s sales of 
common alloy sheet into the US amounted to approximately 12% of the total sales of Hulamin Rolled Products. Hulamin’s share of the US 
common alloy sheet market is less than 2%. Preliminary investigations by the International Trade Commission (“ITC”), a department within the 
US Government were initiated in 2020 and these findings were published in the Federal register on the 15 October 2020.  

The preliminary duties levied on Hulamin is 8.98% and this level of duty is considered favourable when compared to Hulamin’s main offshore 
competitors located in Germany, Indonesia, Bahrain and Romania. 

The final phase of the investigation is underway, and the final dumping order is expected to be published in April 2021. 

(iii) Metal supply 

The primary metal supply agreement with South32 was due for renewal in December 2019. Hulamin and South32 concluded an agreement for 
the supply of molten and solid primary aluminium for the next 5 years (January 2020 to December 2024) on 30 January 2020. 

The initial term of the agreement terminates on 31 August 2020 but will be extended to 31 December 2024 if Eskom and South32 obtain the 
necessary approvals in relation to their agreement on electricity supply by this date. 

The boards of Eskom and South32 have approved conditional pricing and terms and submitted an application to the National Energy Regulator 
of South Africa (“NERSA”) to review the new pricing for Hillside in August 2019. The final processing of the application is subject to the 
approval of the Long-Term Negotiated Pricing Agreement Policy by the Department of Mineral Resources and Energy, where after NERSA will 
be able to finalise the application. 

Due to the current extraordinary period, it is likely that delays in progressing the NERSA approval process can be expected. This uncertainty 
and its impact on the going concern assumption has been further detailed in note 1.10. 

(iv) Sale of Olifantsfontein site 

 The sale of the Hulamin Extrusions site in Gauteng and receipt of the proceeds. This follows the closing of this site (as detailed in the prior year 
report) and concentration of extrusion activity at the Pietermaritzburg site. Refer note 6.2(ii) for details on conclusion of this sale. 

(v) Issue of A3 ordinary shares 

4 721 600 A3 ordinary shares arising from the BEE Extension Transaction were issued to the ESOP trust in January 2021. The notes to the 
Statement of Changes and Equity provide more detail in this regard. 
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1. General continued 
1.10 Going concern 

The financial statements of the Hulamin Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 have been prepared on the going concern basis. The 
factors that have been considered in reaching this conclusion are as follows: 

• Hulamin’s 2020 financial performance and position as documented in detail throughout these financial statements 

• Trading conditions in 2021 and outlook 

• Liquidity and access to funding facilities 

• Indicators of uncertainty 

• Scenarios and forecasts 

• Litigation and claims 

These matters are considered below: 

(a) 2020 financial performance and position 
The Group’s performance and position has been summarised in the table below:  

EARNINGS   2020 2019 

Operating loss before interest and tax R’000   ( 72 490)   (1 421 404) 

Net loss R’000   ( 230 439)   (1 204 540) 

Loss per share (Basic) cents   (  75)   (  380) 

Headline (loss)/earnings per share (Basic) cents   (  68)   (  76) 

Normalised EBITDA (refer note 2.1(b)) R’000   ( 89 421)    313 327  

Cash flow and financial position    

Cash flow from operating activities R’000   ( 360 495)    533 287  

Cash flow before financing activities (“free cash flow”)* R’000   ( 484 675)    221 970  

Net debt R’000    818 772     272 369  

Equity R’000   2 368 446    2 570 308  

Net debt/equity ratio % 34.6 10.6 

Net current assets R’000   1 569 957    1 799 935  

Current ratio times 1.8 2.3 

*  Refer the cashflow statement. 

Profit and earnings performance 

Hulamin Rolled Products 

Cost reductions, tighter working capital controls and a weaker exchange rate partially offset the substantial negative impacts of the 
coronavirus pandemic on Hulamin Rolled Products in H1 2020. The Covid-19 lockdown regulations in South Africa, along with the waves of 
infections resulted in substantial disruptions to manufacturing operations and significant demand shocks during H1 2020, particularly in the 
South African market, where the bans on alcohol sales resulted in substantially lower demand for beverage can products.   

Operational performance levels began to recover during H2 2020, with consistent improvements through the period, particularly in Q4 2020. 
Notwithstanding this recovery in H2 2020, the sales volumes for Hulamin Rolled Products ended the year at approximately 155,000 tons, or 
24% lower than the 2019 volume of 204,000 tons, due to the various negative impacts of Covid-19. As a result of the substantially lower sales 
volumes, and despite significantly lower capital expenditure, debt levels increased through 2020 and have remained elevated into 2021, 
although within facility limits and with sufficient headroom. 

In October 2020, the US Department of Commerce announced preliminary anti-dumping and countervailing duties against the 18 countries 
included in the investigation.  The outcome for Hulamin was relatively positive, which resulted in increased demand for Hulamin’s products in 
the US market in Q4 2020, along with higher pricing levels. This trend has continued into 2021.  

In December 2020, the South African government announced that a 15% import duty on rolled aluminium products would be imposed from 
January 2021. Given the timing of this announcement, there was no impact on 2020 sales volumes, however demand for local Rolled Products 
has increased in 2021 and the order book is full.  
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1.10 Going concern continued 

(a) 2020 financial performance and position continued 
Hulamin Extrusions 

Following the national Covid-19 lockdown, the business lost seven weeks of output. Even when operations resumed in May, operating at 
capacity was disrupted by infections and Covid-19 protocols.  

Business performance improved significantly in the second half of the year as the business and the market recovered from the lockdown. The 
business enjoyed a strong order book through this period and business performance improved in line with this strong order book. 

Following the restructuring of the business in 2019, a sale of the Olifantsfontein plant and equipment was concluded for R55 million with final 
transfer happening in January 2021. 

Group 

In addition to the factors detailed above, the following items contributed to a net loss of R230 million (2019: net loss of R1 204.5 million): 

• A positive metal price lag of R112 million (2019: negative of R68 million) refer note 2.1(b), resulting from as increase in the aluminium 
price during 2020 (this was partially offset by the Rand strengthening against the US Dollar in the second half of the financial year); 

• A negative R114 million relating to aluminium futures and currency hedges not qualifying for hedge accounting in 2020; 

• A cost associated with the BEE Extension Transaction amounting to R15 million; 

• A receipt of the employee surplus account from the Tongaat Hulett Pension Fund amounting to R16 million; and  

• A derecognition of previously recognised deferred tax asset of R76.9 million. 

These impairments recognised in the prior year relate to both a reduction in the 5-year forecast cash flows of the primary cash-generating 
units, reflecting the softer outlook in market conditions, as well as an increase in the Company’s weighted average cost of capital which takes 
account of increased uncertainty in the macro environment and the associated rise of risk indicators. 

Liquidity and solvency 

The group’s net borrowings were R751 million (2019: R225.9 million) and net debt was R818 million (2019: R272.4 million) at 31 December 
2020. This represents a net debt to equity ratio of 35% (2019: 10.6%). 

(b) Trading conditions in 2021 and outlook 
The pandemic-induced changes in behaviour in South Africa and globally continued to disrupt operations and those of our customers during 
January and February 2021 Domestic market. 

Sales in the local market have, in recent years, been hampered by the slow growth in the local economy and increased import competition 
with lower local sales levels anticipated than in previous business plans. 

However, the conversion of the local beverage can market to the all-aluminium can has supported demand for local can body stock, which has 
also allowed Hulamin to increase its purchases of can maker’s scrap and used beverage cans (UBCs) to reduce its metal procurement costs. 

On 31 December 2020, ITAC announced a ruling in support of Hulamin’s application for local import tariff. The 15% duty will have a significant 
positive impact on Hulamin’s local sales volumes, particularly additional can body stock, foil and local distributor products. 
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(b) Trading conditions in 2021 and outlook continued 
Domestic market 

Underlying demand for aluminium rolled products in various industries has seen noticeable improvement following the lockdowns and 
economic impacts arising from Covid-19. 

Sales of material for the heat exchanger market remain an important element of local sales. 

These sales are anticipated to remain under pressure through 2021, with recovery to 2017/2018 levels only during 2022. 

The foil business remains challenging, however a perpetuation of the current Rand weakness to the US dollar and the successful outcome to 
Hulamin’s duty application may result in further local foil supply opportunities. 

International market 

Hulamin’s export sales include canstock, heat-treated plate for general engineering applications, and a substantial volume of lower value, 
more commoditised products referred to as common alloy. 

Even before the pandemic significant curtailment in demand in the US for both common alloy sheet/coil and heat-treated plate throughout 
2019 had a severe impact on Hulamin Rolled Products. Although sales of heat-treated plate have improved, the impact of coronavirus on 
fabrication, automotive and aerospace markets may have a negative impact on these sales for the remainder of 2021. 

The US Aluminium Association petitioned for anti-dumping and countervailing duties to be imposed on 18 countries, including South Africa, 
and a preliminary finding by the US authorities was announced late in 2020 (refer note 1.9). This finding was relatively positive for Hulamin 
which may support Hulamin’s sales of common alloy products into this market in 2021. The ruling is likely to be finalised towards the middle of 
2021. 

(c) Liquidity and funding 
Hulamin’s facilities of R1.5 billion comprise a committed working capital facility of R1.0 billion and a borrowing facility (“GBF”) of R500 million. 
The GBF* is comprised of direct facilities of R200 million and indirect facilities (letters of credit and guarantee) of R300 million. This committed 
working capital facility was renewed in September 2019 and remains in place until September 2022. 

The utilisation of the working capital facility is restricted to the underlying eligible inventory and receivables. 

The following financial covenants are measured at each 6-month reporting period in respect of the Hulamin Group: 

Covenant Required level 

Current ratio >1.25 times 

Debt to equity ratio <0.50 times 

The following additional security ratios are measured monthly in respect of Hulamin Operations Proprietary Limited: 

Covenant Required level 

Stock cover ratio >1.50 times 

Collateral cover ratio >1.20 times 
 

* The GBF will become an on demand facility as of 1 October 2021.  
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(c) Liquidity and funding continued 
As noted above, Hulamin closed 2019 with a strong balance sheet, with net debt of R272 million and a net debt to equity ratio of 10.6% and 
considerable headroom with respect to its financial covenants and in relation to its direct borrowing facilities of, in excess of R1 billion. 

As detailed in note 1.9, due to the severe impact of Covid-19, net debt increased rapidly to R818.8 million at 31 December 2020, with a net 
debt to equity ratio of 35% (in terms of the banking covenant definition). 

Headroom in facilities reduced to R427 million, impacted both by the increase in debt and the reduction in the level of eligible inventory and 
receivable security, following the sharp decrease in activity levels. 

Hulamin has implemented the following measures to improve its liquidity position while it ramps up performance following the return to alert 
level 3 in South Africa: 

• Management of the cash cycle by way of increased sales to customers offering supply chain financing programmes and metal 
procurement on short commitment cycles; 

• Deferral of non-urgent operational and capital expenditure; and 

(d) Indicators of uncertainty 
Hulamin’s sales are largely based on or denominated in US Dollars or Euros, whilst most of Hulamin’s operating costs are incurred in Rand. As 
such, the Group’s results and financial condition will be impacted if there is a material change in the Rand/US dollar exchange rate. 

Unlike in 2020, Hulamin Rolled Products has not hedged its US Dollar and Euro conversion margins and will therefore benefit from undue Rand 
weakness in 2021. 

High levels of volatility in currency levels and aluminium prices may also impact on cash flow and profitability through the metal price lag (“MPL”) 
and related hedging activities. As detailed in note 1.9, Hulamin suspended its MPL hedging programme at the end of March 2020 in order to 
reduce potential further cash flow volatility from the commodity and currency hedges. 

Further, Hulamin’s operations may be adversely affected by demand disruptions or production stoppages caused by supply shortages, Covid-
19 quarantining and deep cleaning activities, or labour absenteeism. 

An uncertainty in the 12-month horizon which could impact demand, production, currency and commodity levels relates to the combination of 
the following: 

(i) Continuity of primary aluminium supply from South32 

Whilst, management consider it unlikely that either a lack of approval of the Long-Term Negotiated Pricing Agreement Policy by the 
Department of Mineral Resources and Energy or an adverse adjudication by NERSA of the electricity supply agreement entered into between 
South32 and Eskom will prevent the continuation of the metal supply agreement entered into between Hulamin and South32, the impact of 
such an event would be substantial for Hulamin, with annual negative cash flows of between R300 million and R400 million. 
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(d) Indicators of uncertainty continued 

(ii) The outcome of the US Anti-dumping (“AD”) petition against imports of common alloy sheet 

The outlook for common alloy sales in the USA from 2021 onwards will depend on the final ruling of the anti-dumping investigation (note 1.9 
(ii) provides insights on the preliminary ruling), which could result in one of these possible outcomes: 

• The investigation concludes that there is no material harm to US aluminium industry and thus no dumping order is implemented; 

or 

• AD duties are implemented with Hulamin receiving a relatively low dumping margin, thus providing a relative advantage against its 
competitor importers for sales on common alloy in the USA. Hulamin is unable to determine at this stage what the impact of any duties 
imposed might be. 

(iii) The economic impact of Covid-19 

Although Hulamin is currently able to operate fully under alert level 1, a number of uncertainties prevail as a result of the impact of Covid-19 
on local and international economies. These uncertainties include: 

• Turmoil in the world economy and the possible adverse impact over the short to medium term on the demand for Hulamin’s products, 
particularly alcoholic beverage packaging and automotive heat exchange products; 

• Possible further extensions of the lockdown periods and/or a delay in ramping up South African operations with an impact on local 
market demand; 

• Extended lockdown and delayed return to normal capacity by our key international customers and the economies in which they 
operate; 

• Ongoing health and wellbeing of our employees; and 

• Financial market disruptions and access to funding. The background to these matters is set out in note 1.9. 

These uncertainties have been included in management’s scenarios and forecasts detailed below. 

(e) Scenarios and forecasts 
Management considered various scenarios through to the end of 2021, which included operational and demand limitations in 

South Africa as well as in international markets, combined with different outcomes relating to the US anti-dumping duty investigation and the 
local application for duties on imports of rolled products. Recent developments have reduced the uncertainties facing the business making 
many of the scenarios redundant.  Most notably: 

• A final outcome imposing 15% duty on local imports of rolled aluminium products; 

• A final determination of 8.85% anti-dumping duty on common alloy aluminium imports into the USA from South Africa.  This is 
marginally lower than the 8.98% preliminary finding (October 2020) with similar minor adjustments affecting most other countries. The 
relatively low rate on RSA represents a pricing advantage to Hulamin unless it is concluded in April 2021 that there has been no harm to 
the USA aluminium industry.  A no harm finding will level competition at nil anti-dumping duty for all countries included in the petition 
(with other duties on imports into the USA being consistent with the position at 31 December 2019). 

• A better understanding of the disruptive possibilities of Covid-19 combined with established measures to partly suppress contagion and 
global rolling out of vaccination.  Although the pandemic remains a significant cause of uncertainty, more is understood than at the 
same time last year. 

(f) Litigation and claims 
The company is not engaged in any significant legal action nor has it any material contingent liabilities which could have bearing on the ability 
to continue operations in the forecast period. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONTINUED 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

2. Performance: measures used to assess performance 
2.1 Reportable segment analysis 

(a) Accounting policies and significant judgements 
Description of segments and principal activities 

The group’s reportable segments have been determined in accordance with how the Hulamin Executive Committee, which is the group’s most 
senior operating decision-making body, allocates resources and evaluates performance and are predominantly based on business segment 
hierarchy which is representative of the internal reporting used for management purposes. 

The group is organised into two major operating divisions, namely Hulamin Rolled Products and Hulamin Extrusions. 

The Hulamin Rolled Products segment, which comprises the Hulamin Rolled Products and Hulamin Containers businesses, manufactures and 
supplies fabricated and rolled semi-finished aluminium products as well as aluminium foil containers and related products. 

The Hulamin Extrusions segment manufactures and supplies extruded aluminium products. 

Isizinda Aluminium (Pty) Ltd (‘Isizinda’) sold its slab assets to Hulamin Rolled Products and as such these activities remain integrated within the 
Hulamin Rolled Products segment. Reportable segments are based and managed in South Africa. 

All segment revenue and expenses are directly attributable to the segments. Segment assets include all operating assets used by a segment, as 
well as current assets. Segment liabilities include all operating liabilities. These assets and liabilities are all directly attributable to the 
segments. Transactions between segments are carried out at arm’s length and are eliminated on consolidation. Transactions which represent 
the sale of a particular segment’s finished goods to another segment do not occur and as such no inter-segment revenue is earned. 

Finance costs, finance income, other income, and fair value gains and losses on financial assets are not allocated to individual segments as the 
underlying instruments are managed on a group basis. 

Current taxes, deferred taxes and certain financial assets and liabilities are not allocated to those segments as they are also managed on a 
group basis. 

Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CONTINUED 

for the year ended 31 December 2020 

2. Performance: measures used to assess performance continued 
2.1 Reportable segment analysis continued 
(b) Segmental revenue, earnings and other disclosures  
 2020 2019 

 Hulamin Rolled 
Products R’000 

Hulamin 
Extrusions 

R’000 
Group 
R’000 

Hulamin 
Rolled 

Products 
R’000 

Hulamin 
Extrusions 

R’000 Group R’000 
Revenue from contracts with customers: 
External 8 005 726  543 152  8 548 878  9 957 173  751 408  10 708 581  
Timing of revenue recognition:       
–  At a point in time 7 984 996  543 152  8 528 148  9 881 107  751 408  10 632 515  
–  Over time 20 730  -  20 730  76 066  -  76 066  
Earnings       
EBITDA** (4 808) 4 986  178 104 766  (87 048) 17 718  
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 
and intangibles  -  (8 432) (8 432) (1 266 979) (35 919) (1 302 898) 
Depreciation and amortisation (60 888) (3 348) (64 236) (123 142) (13 082) (136 224) 
Operating loss (65 696) (6 794) (72 490) (1 285 355) (136 049) (1 421 404) 
Interest received 9 071  -  9 071  8 002  19  8 021  
Interest paid (34 770) (11 195) (45 965) (47 460) (9 053) (56 513) 
Loss before share of joint venture profits (91 395) (17 989) (109 384) (1 324 813) (145 083) (1 469 896) 
Share of net losses on joint ventures accounted 
for using the equity method  (1 565) -  (1 565) -  -  -  
Loss before tax (92 960) (17 989) (110 949) (1 324 813) (145 083) (1 469 896) 
Taxation (119 490) -  (119 490) 265 820  ( 465) 265 355  
Net loss for the year (212 450) (17 989) (230 439) (1 058 993) (145 548) (1 204 541) 
Reconciliation of net loss (used in calculating 
earnings per share) to headline loss       

Net loss for the year (212 450) (17 989) (230 439) (1 058 993) (145 548) (1 204 541) 
(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment ( 13) -  ( 13) 26 455  -  26 455  
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 
and intangibles -  8 432  8 432  1 266 979  35 919  1 302 898  
Loss arising from loss of control in Isizinda 11 207  -  11 207  -  -  -  
Profit on disposal of investment in Almin Metal 
Industries Limited  -  -  -  -  (2 655) (2 655) 
Tax effect 4  -  4  (362 161) -  (362 161) 
Headline loss for the year (201 252) (9 557) (210 809) (127 720) (112 284) (240 004) 
Reconciliation of headline loss       
to normalised EBITDA**       
Headline loss for the year (201 252) (9 557) (210 809) (127 720) (112 284) (240 004) 
Limitation of IAS 39, “Financial Instruments” 
resulting in highly effective commodity risk 
management programme not qualifying for 
hedge accounting 

-  -  -  24 835  -  24 835  

Restructuring costs -  12 673  12 673  75 757  38 639  114 396  
Metal price lag (111 901) -  (111 901) 67 577  -  67 577  
Settlement of share-based payment - Isizinda 
(note 6.1.(d)) -  -  -  65 000  -  65 000  
Tax effect 31 332  (3 548) 27 784  (47 087) (10 819) (57 906) 
Normalised headline (loss)/ earnings (note A) (281 821) ( 432) (282 253) 58 362  (84 464) (26 102) 
Interest paid 34 770  11 195  45 965  47 460  9 053  56 513  
Interest income (9 071) -  (9 071) (8 002) ( 19) (8 021) 
Taxation 88 354  3 348  91 702  143 429  11 284  154 713  
Normalised EBIT* (note A) (167 768) 14 111  (153 657) 241 249  (64 146) 177 103  
Depreciation and amortisation 60 888  3 348  64 236  123 142  13 082  136 224  
Normalised EBITDA** (note A) (106 880) 17 459  (89 421) 364 391  (51 064) 313 327  
Total assets 4 344 175  200 846  4 545 021  4 032 486  227 542  4 260 028  
Total liabilities 2 040 199  136 376  2 176 575  1 539 212  150 508  1 689 720  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONTINUED 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

2. Performance: measures used to assess performance continued 
2.1 Reportable segment analysis continued 

(b) Segmental revenue, earnings and other disclosures continued 

 2020 2019 

 

Hulamin 
Rolled 

Products 
R’000 

 

Hulamin 
Extrusions R’000 

 

Group    
R’000 

 

Hulamin Rolled 
Products R’000 

 

Hulamin 
Extrusions 

R’000 
 

Group R’000 
 

Other disclosures       

Additions to property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets 
Currency conversion    116 529  23 751       140 280     280 242     31 075     311 317  

Rand/US dollar average   16.45   14.45 

Rand/US dollar closing   14.62   14.01 

All non-current assets of the group are located in, or are attributable to, operations in South Africa. 

Sales to the largest ten customers of the Hulamin Rolled Products segment accounts for 57% (2019: five largest constituted 47%) of total 
group revenue.  

* Earnings before interest and taxation 

** Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation and impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. 

A: Normalised EBIT, normalised EBITDA, headline earnings and normalised headline earnings 

Headline earnings per share is calculated using the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year and is based on the 
earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders, after excluding those items as required by Circular 1/2019 issued by the South African Institute 
of Chartered Accountants (SAICA). 

Normalised EBIT, normalised EBITDA and normalised headline earnings per share are measures which the Hulamin Executive Committee uses 
in assessing financial performance. These are calculated in a consistent manner as per the 2019 annual financial statements. 

Normalised headline earnings per share is calculated by dividing normalised headline earnings by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares in issue during the year. Normalised headline earnings is defined as headline earnings excluding (i) metal price lag and 

(ii) material non-trading expense or income items which, due to their irregular occurrence, are adjusted for in order to better present earnings 
attributable to the ongoing activities of the group. Normalised EBIT and EBITDA are similarly derived. 

The presentation of normalised EBIT, normalised EBITDA, headline earnings per share and normalised headline earnings per share is not an 
IFRS requirement and these may not be directly comparable with the same or similar measures disclosed by other companies. 

2.2 Earnings per share 
Earnings per share, headline earnings per share and normalised headline earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 

Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion of all 
the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. 

Potential ordinary shares shall be treated as dilutive only when their conversion to ordinary shares would decrease earnings per share or 
increase loss per share from continuing operations. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONTINUED 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

2. Performance: measures used to assess performance continued 
2.2 Earnings per share continued 

Weighted average number of shares 

The weighted average number of shares used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share, headline earnings per share and 
normalised earnings per share is as follows: 

 2020 2019 
 Number Number 
 of shares of shares 
Weighted average number of shares used for basic and diluted EPS* 308 496 091 317 287 805 
Share options  657 581 4 543 138 

* The weighted average number of shares takes into account the weighted average effect of changes in treasury shares during the year. Potential 
ordinary shares were antidilutive. 

Reconciliation of net profit (used in calculating earnings per share) for the year to headline earnings 

  Gross Net Gross Net 

  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

Net loss for the year     -      (230 439)   -      (1 204 541) 
Adjustments     19 626     19 630    1 326 698     964 537  
– Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets     8 432     8 432    1 302 898     948 144  
– Gain on disposal of investment in Almin Metals Industries (note 6.2(i))    -      -      (2 655)   (2 655) 
Loss arising from loss of control in Isizinda (6.1(d)     11 207     11 207    

– Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment    ( 13)   ( 9)    26 455     19 048  

      

Headline loss     (210 809)    (240 004) 

Headline loss per share 

Headline loss per share   

Basic (cents) ( 68) (76) 
Diluted (cents) ( 68) (76) 

 

Normalised headline loss per share   

Basic (cents) ( 91) (8) 
Diluted (cents) ( 91) (8) 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONTINUED 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

2. Performance: measures used to assess performance continued 
2.2 Earnings per share continued 

Information concerning the classification of securities 

(i) Options 

Options granted to employees under the various Hulamin group schemes as presented in note 8.1 are considered to be potential ordinary 
shares. They have been included in the determination of diluted earnings per share if the required performance condition would have been 
met based on the company’s performance up to the reporting date, and to the extent that they are dilutive. The options have not been 
included in the determination of basic earnings per share. 

54 197 400 (2019:47 214 968) options were not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share because they were antidilutive for the 
year ended 31 December 2020. These options could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future. 

(ii) Bonus shares 

Rights to deferred shares granted to senior management under the group’s short-term incentive scheme are included in the calculation of 
diluted earnings per share assuming all outstanding rights will vest. The rights are not included in the determination of basic earnings per share. 

2.3 Revenue from contracts with customers 

(a) Accounting policies and significant judgements 

(i) Sale of goods 

Revenue from contracts with customers of the group comprises revenue from the sale of fabricated and semi-fabricated aluminium products. 

Sales are recognised when control of the products has transferred to the buyer. The delivery of products and the transfer of risks are 
determined by the terms of sale, and specifically by the guidance provided under International Chamber of Commerce Terms of Trade, where 
applicable. This is typically when the goods are handed to the carrier nominated by Hulamin. 

As assessment of the concept of “control” as defined in IFRS15 and “risk” as defined in the Inco terms was performed and the point at which 
“risk” passes from Hulamin is the same point at which “control” is transferred. 

Products are often sold with retrospective volume discounts, rebates and early-settlement terms. These rights give rise to a variable 
consideration. Revenue from these sales are recognised based on the price specified in the contract, net of the estimated volume discounts, 
rebates and early settlement discounts. 

If the consideration in a contract or sale of goods includes a variable amount, the group estimates the amount of consideration to which it will 
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and 
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when 
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. 

The group provides retrospective volume rebates to certain customers once the quantity of products purchased during the period exceeds a 
threshold specified in the contract. Rebates are offset against amounts payable by the customer. To estimate the variable consideration for 
the expected future rebates, the group applies the most likely amount method for contracts with a single-volume threshold and the expected 
value method for contracts with more than one volume threshold. The selected method that best predicts the amount of variable 
consideration is primarily driven by the number of volume thresholds contained in the contract. The group then applies the requirements on 
constraining estimates of variable consideration and recognises a refund liability (included in trade and other payables) for the expected 
future rebates. 

No element of financing is deemed present as the sales are not made on extended credit terms. 

A receivable is recognised when control passes as this is the point in time that the consideration is unconditional because only the passage of 
time is required before the payment is due. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONTINUED 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

2. Performance: measures used to assess performance continued 
2.3 Revenue from contracts with customers continued 

(a) Accounting policies and significant judgements continued 

(ii) Transportation services 

Certain International Chamber of Commerce Terms of Trade used include multiple deliverables such as the sale of goods and the provision of 
transportation services. For some of these specific terms, control of the goods sold passes before the transportation service has been 
provided. The revenue is recognised based on the actual service provided to the end of the reporting period as a proportion of the total 
service to be provided, because the customer receives and uses the benefit simultaneously. This is determined based on the actual shipping 
days incurred relative to the standard time to ship to the specified destination. Where revenue is earned on multiple performance obligations 
the transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation based on the stand-alone selling prices. 

(iii) Time value of money 

The group does not have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the promised goods or services to the customer and 
payment by the customer exceeds one year. Consequently, the group has applied the practical expedient provided in IFRS 15.63 and does not 
adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of money. 

(b) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers 
Revenue has been disaggregated into categories that depict how the nature, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by 
economic factors. The group presented disaggregated revenue based on the type of goods or services provided to customers and the 
geographical region. 

 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

Analysis of revenue by product market:   

Automotive and transport   1 542 497    1 194 723  

Building and construction    150 267     259 207  

General engineering   2 254 509    3 702 585  

Packaging   4 587 401    5 552 066  

Other    14 204    -    

   8 548 878    10 708 581  

Geographical analysis of revenue:   

South Africa   2 950 413    4 659 035  

North America   1 258 694    2 207 098  

Europe   2 894 756    2 435 942  

Asia    421 198     376 207  

Middle East    222 358     86 285  

Australasia    99 256     75 611  

South America    80 700     430 022  

Rest of Africa    621 503     438 381  

   8 548 878    10 708 581  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONTINUED 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

2. Performance: measures used to assess performance continued 
2.3 Revenue from contracts with customers continued 

(c) Transportation services 
There are contracts with customers which require that the group provides transportation services as a separate performance obligation. The 
group acts as a principal in these transactions. The performance obligation is satisfied and payment is due upon the final delivery of the goods 
to the customer. 

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are, as 
follows:  

 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

Within one year 857    3 543  

2.4 Material profit or loss items 
The group has identified a number of items which are material due to the significance of their nature and/or amount. These are listed 
separately here to provide a better understanding of the financial performance of the group. 

2.4.1 Expenses by nature 

 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

Aluminium and other material costs   5 061 218    6 757 735  

Utilities and other direct manufacturing costs   1 145 312    1 263 731  

Employment costs (note 2.4.1(a))   1 099 183    1 200 513  

Termination benefits (note 2.4.1(b))    7 839     114 396  

Depreciation on property, plant & equipment (note 5.1)    48 392     107 625  

Depreciation on right-of-use assets (note 5.2)    8 691     16 483  

Amortisation of intangible assets (note 5.3)    7 152     12 116  

Repairs and maintenance    274 099     305 816  

Freight and commissions    414 179     544 284  
Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right of use assets and intangible assets 
(note 2.4.4)    8 432    1 302 898  

Other operating income and expenditure 477 898     495 159  

   8 552 395    12 120 756  

Classified as:   

Cost of sales of goods 7 843 237    9 929 196  

Cost of providing services    20 730     76 066  

Selling, marketing and distribution expenses    469 749     520 020  
Administrative and other expenses (including net impairment losses on financial assets) 
(note 2.4.5) 210 247    292 576  

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (note 2.4.4)    8 432    1 302 898  

   8 552 395    12 120 756  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONTINUED 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

2. Performance: measures used to assess performance continued 
2.4 Material profit or loss items continued 

2.4.1(a) Employee benefit costs 

The cost of short-term employee benefits is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the period in which the service is 
rendered and is not discounted. 

The expected cost of profit-sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive obligation 
to make such payments as a result of past performance. 

Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net interest is calculated by applying the 
discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Defined benefit costs are categorised as 
service cost, net interest expense or income and remeasurement. 

The group presents service cost and net interest expense or income in profit or loss. Curtailment gains and losses are accounted for 
as past service costs.  

 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

Employment costs     

Salaries and wages   1 002 092    1 103 179  

Retirement benefit costs:   54 372    59 403  

Defined contribution schemes (note 8.2)     59 662     68 167  

Defined benefit scheme (note 8.2)   (5 290)   (8 764) 

Post retirement medical aid costs (note 8.2)     15 082     23 757  

Retirement gratuities (note 8.2)    4 881     7 206  
Share incentive costs    22 756     6 968  

   1 099 183    1 200 513  

2.4.1(b) Termination benefits 

The business turnaround plan for the Hulamin Rolled products and Hulamin Extrusions divisions in 2019 included a strategy to reduce costs 
which resulted in the loss of 250 jobs. An agreement was reached with the local union representatives in November and October 2019 
respectively, which specifies the number of staff involved and the voluntary redundancy compensation package offered by the group, as 
well as amounts payable to those made redundant. Of the total cost of restructuring raised in 2019 of R114 million, R105 million was settled 
in 2019 and the balance was settled in the current year. 

 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

Termination benefits can be attributable as follows:   

Hulamin Rolled Products    7 839     75 757  

Hulamin Extrusions   -       38 639  

    7 839     114 396  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONTINUED 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

2. Performance: measures used to assess performance continued 
2.4 Material profit or loss items continued 

2.4.2 Gains and losses on financial instruments related to trading activities 

The group is exposed to fluctuations in aluminium prices and exchange rates and hedges these risks with derivative financial 
instruments. The group applies hedge accounting to gains and losses arising from certain derivative financial instruments. 

Hedges of forecast sales transactions are, where effective, accounted for as cash flow hedges. 

The effective portion of cash flow hedge gains and losses are recorded initially in the hedge reserve and released to revenue from 
contracts with customers when the sale occurs. 

Other gains and losses include, inter alia, the fair value adjustments arising from fair value hedges, non-hedge accounted derivative 
financial instruments (including the ineffective portion of cash flow hedge gains and losses), non-derivative financial instruments and 
forward point gains. 

 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

Foreign exchange gains on debtors and creditors balances    24 526    (9 200) 

Foreign currency denominated cash balances   (14 973)   (8 862) 

Valuation adjustments on non-derivative items    9 553    (18 062) 

Foreign exchange contracts: firm commitments, debtors and creditors balances   (124 179)    76 527  

Commodity futures    44 384     21 106  

Valuation adjustments on derivative items   (79 795)    97 633  

Gains and losses on financial instruments related to trading activities   (70 242)    79 571  

In 2019, Hulamin adopted the hedge accounting provisions of the new financial instruments standard, IFRS 9, which overcomes the 
limitations in IAS 39, which resulted in the commodity hedges being effective for hedge accounting purposes, thereby allowing profit 
and losses to be recognised in the same year as the underlying revenue (Refer to note 10 (b)). 

2.4.3 Other gains and losses 

 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 13   (26 455) 

Loss arising from loss of control in Isizinda   (11 207)   -    

Gain on liquidation of pension fund     16 000    -    

Gain on disposal of investment in Almin Metal Industries (note 6.2(i))    -       2 655  

Other  187   -    

Settlement of share-based payment – Isizinda (note 6.1.(d))   -      (65 000) 

    4 993    (88 800) 

The gain on liquidation of the pension fund is a receipt awarded to Hulamin in respect of the employee surplus account for the 
Tongaat Hulett Pension Fund.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONTINUED 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

2. Performance: measures used to assess performance continued 
2.4 Material profit or loss items continued 

2.4.4 Impairment of non-financial assets 

At each reporting date, the carrying amount of the tangible and intangible assets are assessed to determine whether there is any 
indication that those assets may have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 
is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an 
individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is estimated. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent 
market transactions are considered. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. 

These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available fair 
value indicators. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be lower than its carrying amount, its carrying amount 
is reduced to the higher of its recoverable amount and zero. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. After 
the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation or amortisation charge for the asset is adjusted to allocate its remaining 
carrying value, less any residual value, over its remaining useful life. 

If an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount but limited to the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

(a) Impairment assessment – Individual assets 

(i) Isizinda Aluminium property, plant and equipment (Rolled Products Segment) 
The current economic downturn in the property market served as an indicator for impairment (see note 6.1(d)). An impairment test 
was conducted, and it was determined that the carrying amount of land and buildings did not exceed the recoverable value of the 
property and as such the property was not impaired. The recoverable amount was determined to be R81.5 million (2019: R68.7 
million). The fair value of the property is level 3 in the valuation hierarchy. The fair value of the property was determined with 
reference to market related rental prices per square metre, accepted vacancy rates and maintenance costs per square metre. An 
independent valuator was used to determine the fair value less costs to sell. 

(ii) Extrusions Olifantsfontein property, plant and equipment (Extrusions Segment) 
In 2019, Hulamin Extrusions restructured its business operations, which included the disposal of its Olifantsfontein operation (refer 
note 2.4.1(b)(i)). This served as an indicator of impairment. An impairment test was conducted and it was determined that the 
carrying amount of plant and equipment exceeds its recoverable amount of R14.2 million, which represents fair value less costs of 
disposal. Accordingly, an impairment charge of R6 million was recognised in the prior year. The fair value of the property, plant and 
equipment is level 1 in the valuation hierarchy and was determined with reference to an agreement of sale entered into with a third-
party buyer for these assets (refer note 6.2(ii)). 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONTINUED 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

2. Performance: measures used to assess performance continued 
2.4 Material profit or loss items continued 

2.4.4 Impairment of non-financial assets continued 

(b) Impairment assessment – Cash generating unit 

The group’s shares continued to trade on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange at a discount to underlying net asset value during the 
year under review. In the circumstances, and as required by IAS 36, management have assessed the recoverable amounts of the 
assets (or cash-generating units to which they belong) net of liabilities at the period end. The recoverable amount was determined to 
be the value in use. The assessment compared the estimated value in use based on forecast future cash flows to the carrying amount. 

(i) Rolled Products Cash Generating Unit 
The key economic and business assumptions used in the value-in-use calculation are consistent with those used in the budget and the 
five-year business plan approved by the board of directors. Adjustments were made to the business plan forecasts to ensure 
compliance with the value in use methodology required by IAS 36. The group forecasts that free cash flows will improve in future 
periods. 

Key assumptions include: 

   2020 2019 

 

Comparison of key assumptions   

Weighted average cost of capital   

– before tax 21.5% 22.4% 

– after tax 16.1% 16.9% 

 In year five Compound annual growth rate 

  2020 2019 2020 2019 

Annual average (ZAR/USD) 16.94 16.04 0.6% 2.0% 

Sales volume (tons) 235 000 235 000 8.7% 2.9% 

Rolling margins indexed against 2019 (USD/ton) 107 98 1.9% 1.8% 

Total manufacturing costs indexed against 
2019 (USD) 98 93 5.8% 1.1% 
Working capital investment indexed against 
2019 (USD) 130 120 3.7% 5.0% 

A pre-tax discount rate of 21.5% (post-tax 16.1%) was used in the calculation and this rate has decreased from the pre-tax 22.4% 
(post-tax 16.9%) used in 2019. The decrease in the discount rate is due to: 

• Decreases in the component elements of the discount rate, particularly a decrease in the government bond rate and an increase 
in debt/equity reflecting higher peer gearing levels in recent times. 

• These factors were partly offset by an increase in the market risk premium due to the higher level of uncertainty 
that exists across most market participants in current times. 

Currency exchange rates are based on the median of forecasts by major financial and other institutions to 2022 and with reference to 
inflation differentials thereafter, with the ZAR: USD rate rising from an annual average of R15.50 in 2021 to R16.94 in 2025. 

Although sales volumes are forecast to peak at levels similar to what was forecast in December 2019, the recovery from the lower 
Covid-19 2020 volumes will reduce cash flows in the next five years. 

Rolling margin forecasts include anticipated changes in both market conditions and the product mix. The pressures on sales volume 
also impact selling prices and the sales mix. Selling prices will be maintained in the next few years while sales volume recovers in a 
post-Covid19 world economy amidst the finalising of anti-dumping duties levied on rolled aluminium into the USA.  The preliminary 
anti-dumping findings confer a relative advantage for Hulamin over most competing imports into the USA and forecast volumes 
assume that the final ruling will have a similar effect. 

Partially offsetting the lower volumes in the period of recovery from Covid19 is the effect of import duty on aluminium imports into 
RSA that is effective from 2021.  This duty is expected to improve domestic sales volume for much of the next five years. 
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2. Performance: measures used to assess performance continued 
2.4 Material profit or loss items continued 

2.4.4 Impairment of non-financial assets continued 

(b) Impairment assessment – Cash generating unit continued 

These combined factors support that no impairment is necessary at year end. 

Sensitivity analysis 

The determination of the value in use for Hulamin Rolled Products, and any resulting impairment, is particularly sensitive to: 

Discount rate: A 1% increase in the post-tax discount rate may result in an impairment charge, before tax, of up to R218 million* 

Rolling margins: A reduction in average rolling margins of 5,0% for each year in the forecast period may result in an impairment 
charge, before tax, of up to R1 312 million*. 

Rate of exchange: A R1,00 strengthening in the ZAR/USD rate for each year in the forecast period may result in an impairment 
charge, before tax, of up to R1 141 million. 

* The recognition of impairment charges is subject to the limitation that individual assets in the CGU cannot be reduced to below each asset’s 
recoverable amount. The cumulative recoverable amount limit is R701 million (2019: R646 million). 

(ii) Extrusions Cash Generating Unit 
Following the restructuring of the business in H2 of 2019, and the closure of the Olifantsfontein plant, 2020 was the year to rebuild 
the business. Unfortunately, the Extrusions cash generating unit experienced difficult trading conditions in the first half of 2020 as the 
country went into lockdown to curb the infection rate of Covid-19. However, this changed significantly in the second half of 2020 as 
the business and economy recovered. The market uncertainty impacting the achievement of these cash flows remains high and this is 
reflected in the discount rate. The carrying value of the assets therefore exceeds the recoverable amount by R34 million. The 
impairment charge was NIL based on the fair value less costs of disposal of individual assets. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal. Value in use was estimated using a pre -tax 
discount rate of 23.3% (2019: 23.6%), post tax 16.8% (2019: 17.4%). The fair value less costs of disposal was determined by an 
independent valuator, utilising the market approach whereby comparable asset pricing was obtained in the second-hand market, 
adjusted as required for location, age and specification, less costs of disposal. The fair value level of the non-current assets represents 
level 2 in the valuation hierarchy. 

Sensitivity analysis 

The determination of the value in use for Hulamin Extrusions, and any resulting impairment, is particularly sensitive to: 

Discount rate: A 1% increase in the pre-tax discount rate may result in an additional impairment charge, before tax, of up to R8.6 
million* (2019:  R12 million). 

Earnings before tax: A 5% decrease in earnings before tax may result in an additional impairment charge, before tax, of up to 
R12 million* (2019:  R10 million). 

* The recognition of impairment charges are subject to the limitation that individual assets in the CGU cannot be reduced to below each 
asset’s recoverable amount. The cumulative recoverable amount limit is R22 million (2019: R18 million). 
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2. Performance: measures used to assess performance continued 
2.4 Material profit or loss items continued 

2.4.4 Impairment of non-financial assets continued 

(b) Impairment assessment – Cash generating unit continued 

The impairment charges recognised in the income statement are as follows: 

 2020 2019 
 R’000 R’000 
Isizinda Aluminium property, plant and equipment – note (a)(i)   -       13 032  
Extrusions Olifantsfontein property, plant and equipment – note (a)(ii)    8 432     5 789  
Rolled Products cash generating unit – note (b)(i)   -      1 253 947  
Extrusions cash generating unit – note (b)(ii)   -       30 130  
Total impairment charge    8 432    1 302 898  
Taxation   -      (354 754) 
Net impairment charge    8 432     948 144  

 

The impairment charges on the cash generating units have been allocated to all assets in the cash generating unit, including right-of-
use assets. The impairment charges allocated are limited to individual assets recoverable amount. 

2.4.5 Administrative and other expenses 

The following items are included in administrative and other expenses.  

 2020 2019 
 R’000 R’000 
Increase in expected credit loss of debtors     5 068     1 906  
Termination benefits (note 2.4.1(b))    7 839     114 396  
Auditors’ remuneration (Internal and external)    15 053     13 087  
Audit fees    14 906     12 894  
Fees for other services   -      -    
Expenses 147 193 
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3. Debt/equity: measures to assess group leverage 
3.1 Non-current borrowings 

  2020 2019 

  R’000 R’000 
Nedbank loan facility    -       54 000  
Less: Current portion included in current borrowings (note 3.2)    -      (54 000) 

    -      -    

Effective interest rate  (%) - 9.70 

The Nedbank long-term loan was secured against a mortgage bond of R405 million (2019: R405 million) over land and buildings disclosed in 
note 5.1 with a carrying amount after impairments of R65.7 million (2019: R67.1 million). 

The loan was repayable in quarterly instalments over five years commencing in March 2016. As the loan was repaid in full in 2020 (2019: 
R54 million) no amount is due within twelve months from reporting date. This loan was reclassified to current borrowings (note 3.2) in 2019. 

The fair values of the non-current borrowings approximate their carrying value since the interest payable on these borrowings approximates 
current market rates. The fair value of the borrowings is classified as level 3 fair values in the fair value hierarchy due to the use of 
unobservable inputs, including own credit risk. 

3.2 Current borrowings 

  2020 2019 

  R’000 R’000 

Nedbank revolving facilities     789 053     298 083  

Current portion of term loan (note 3.1)    -       54 000  

Pension fund loan (note 9.4)    -      -    

     789 053     352 083  

Effective interest rates are as follows:    

Nedbank revolving facility (%) (%) 5.98 8.96 

Pension fund loan (%) (%) - 0.49 

The Nedbank revolving facilities comprise gross borrowings of R789 million (2019: R298 million) which has been offset by bank balances of 
RNil million (2019: RNil million) in terms of the loan agreements with Nedbank. A new agreement was signed with Nedbank in 2019 and under 
this agreement, there is no restriction on credit balances in the receivable account. Therefore, no cash will offset debt. 

The Nedbank revolving facilities are secured against inventories, trade receivables, bank balances, moveable items of property, plant and 
equipment and also against credit insurance on trade receivables and against insurance on fixed assets. 

The terms of the Nedbank revolving facilities require prior notification for the following specified events: 

• Encumbering any assets to secure financial indebtedness in excess of R20 million; 

• Making loans or guarantees in excess of R20 million; 

• Disposing of assets for which the higher of market value or sales price thereof exceeds R20 million; 

• Entering into a merger or corporate restructuring; Amendments to the aluminium price and exchange rate hedging strategy; and/or 

• Pre-approval is required when incurring additional financial indebtedness in excess of R50 million. The Nedbank Revolving Facility 
requires that the group comply with the following financial covenants: 
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3. Debt/equity: measures to assess group leverage continued 
3.2 Current borrowings continued 

 2020 2019 

Current ratio >1.25 >1.25 
Debt to equity ratio* <0.50 <0.50 

* As defined in the contractual agreements. 

The group has complied with the financial covenants of its borrowing facilities during the 2020 and 2019 reporting period. 

The obligations of the revolving credit facility have been guaranteed by each of Hulamin Limited, Hulamin Extrusions Proprietary Limited and 
Hulamin Containers Proprietary Limited. The debt package is held through Hulamin Operations Proprietary Limited. 

The fair values of the current borrowings approximate their carrying value based on the short-term nature of these borrowings. 

3.3 Lease liabilities 
At the commencement date of the lease, the group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to be made 
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments and variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate. The lease 
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the group. Variable lease payments that 
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs. 

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date because 
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to 
reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if 
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change 
in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset. 

The group leases various buildings, forklifts and IT-equipment. Rental contracts typically extend for fixed periods of 1 to 5 years but may have 
further extension options. Rentals periods vary between monthly and quarterly. Lease payments for some contracts include CPI increases. 

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities (included under interest-bearing loans and borrowings) and the movements during 
the period: 

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 7.3. 

 

2020 2019 

R’000 R’000 

As at 1 January 2020    46 493     47 299  

Additions    32 939     13 869  

Payment of principal and interest   (17 992)   (19 622) 

Interest    6 324     4 947  

As at 31 December 2020    67 764     46 493  

Current    20 514     12 088  

Non-current    47 251     34 405  
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3. Debt/equity: measures to assess group leverage continued 
3.4 Net debt reconciliation 

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and movements in net debt for the year ended 31 December 2020. 

 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

Net debt comprises:   

Cash and cash equivalents    38 045     126 207  

Non-current borrowings   -      -    

Current borrowings   (789 053)   (352 083) 

Lease liabilities   (67 764)   (46 493) 

Net debt (note 7.4)   (818 772)   (272 369) 

Cash and cash equivalents    38 045     126 207  

Gross debt – variable interest rates   (856 817)   (398 576) 

Net debt   (818 772)   (272 369) 

The categories of net debt are reconciled as per the table below: 

 Assets Liabilities from financing activities  

 Cash 
Lease liabilities - 

due within one 
year 

Lease liabilities - 
due after one 

year 
Borrowings - due 

after one year 

Borrowings - 
due after one 

year Total 
Opening balance as at 
01 January 2019 525 981  (12 378) (34 921) (765 783) (54 000) (341 101) 
Cash flows (408 636) (3 816) (10 860) 467 700  -  44 388  

Acquisition- leases -  4 106  11 376  -  -  15 482  
Transfer between 
categories -  -  -  (54 000) 54 000  -  
Foreign exchange 
adjustments 8 862  -  -  -  -  8 862  

Net debt as at 
31 December 2019 126 207  (12 088) (34 405) (352 083) -  (272 369) 

Cash flows (73 189) (3 532) (8 136) (436 970) -  (521 827) 

Acquisition – leases -  (4 894) (4 709) -  -  (9 603) 
Transfer between 
categories -  -  -  -  -  -  

Foreign exchange 
adjustments (14 973)  -  -  -  -  (14 973)  

Net debt as at 
31 December 2020 38 045  (20 514) (47 250) (789 053) -  (818 772) 

3.5 Stated capital, consolidation shares and treasury shares 
Transactions relating to the acquisition and sale of shares in the company, together with their associated incremental direct costs, are 
accounted for in equity. Other transactions are accounted for directly in equity only if permitted by IFRS. 

Consolidated shares represent the A and B class ordinary shares issued to the BEE investor company and the ESOP Trust. Accordingly, the 
subscription value of these shares is deducted from equity attributable to the equity holders of the company until the shares are cancelled, 
disposed of or reissued. 

(a) Authorised 
800 000 000 ordinary shares of no par value (2019: 800 000 000 ordinary shares) 
31 477 333 A ordinary shares of no par value (2019: 31 477 333 A ordinary shares) 
36 072 000 B ordinary shares of no par value (2019: 36 072 000 B ordinary shares) 
The A ordinary shares consist of 26 755 733 A2 shares and 4 721 600 A3 shares. 
The B ordinary shares consist of 9 018 000 B1 shares, 9 018 000 B2 shares and 18 036 000 B3 shares. 
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3. Debt/equity: measures to assess group leverage continued 
3.5 Stated capital, consolidation shares and treasury shares continued 

(b) Issued 

 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

Ordinary shares   
Closing balance: 324 318 436 shares of no par value (fully paid up) (2019: 319 596 836 shares 
(fully paid up) 1 817 627  1 817 580  
A ordinary shares   

Closing balance: 26 755 733 A2 shares (fully paid up)    

(2019: 4 721 600 A1 and 26 755 733 A2 shares (fully paid up)) 59 609  59 656  

B ordinary shares   

Closing balance: 9 018 000 B1, 9 018 000 B2, 18 036 000 B3 shares (fully paid up)   

of no par value (2019: 9 018 000 B1, 9 018 000 B2, 18 036 000 B3 shares (fully paid up)) 361  361  

Total issued stated capital 1 877 597  1 877 597  

Consolidated A and B ordinary shares (59 970) (60 017) 

Stated capital 1 817 627 1 817 580  

  

Issued shares movement schedule   

 2020 2019 
 No. No. 

Ordinary shares:   

Opening Balance    319 596 836    319 596 836  

A1 shares converted to ordinary share capital    4 721 600    -   

Closing Balance    324 318 436    319 596 836  

   

A ordinary shares:   

Opening balance    31 477 333    31 477 333  

Converted to ordinary issued shares    (4 721 600)   -   

Closing balance    26 755 733    31 477 333  

   

B ordinary shares:    

Opening balance    36 072 000    36 072 000  

Movement    -      -    

Closing balance    36 072 000    36 072 000  

(c) A and B ordinary shares 
All A ordinary shares and B ordinary shares have voting rights which rank pari passu with ordinary shares. 4 721 600 A3 ordinary shares were 
authorised in terms of the BEE Extension transaction prior to 31 December 2020 and were issued on 13 January 2021. 4 721 600 A1 ordinary 
shares converted into ordinary issued shares on 22 December 2020 in terms of the BEE Transaction. 

A3 ordinary shares are entitled to dividends whilst all A2 and B ordinary shares have no entitlement to dividends. 

(d) Unissued 

(i) Under option to employees: 

Details of the employee share incentive schemes, including the share options outstanding at the end of the year, the range of exercise prices 
and the weighted average contractual lives related thereto, are set out in note 8.1. 

(ii) Under the control of the directors: 

At 31 December 2020, 6 801 529 unissued ordinary shares (2019: 6 801 529) were under the control of the directors, for the purpose, inter alia, 
of existing employee share incentive schemes. Shares under the control of the directors are approved annually at the Annual General Meeting. 
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3. Debt/equity: measures to assess group leverage continued 
3.5 Stated capital, consolidation shares and treasury shares continued 

(e) Treasury shares 
During the year a wholly-owned group company purchased 7 638 806 shares (2019: 8 183 539) shares on-market in order to hold treasury shares 
to settle share scheme obligations. The buy-back was approved by shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 15 May 2019. The shares 
were acquired at an average price of 178 cents per share (2019: 267 cents per share), with prices ranging from 220 to 125 cents per share (2019: 
470 to 192 cents per share). The total cost of R13 816 000 (2019: R22 000 000) including after-tax transaction costs and excluding the vesting of 
the A1 ordinary shares of R47 000, was deducted from shareholder equity. The total reduction in paid-up capital was R35 816 000 (2019: R22 
000 000). 

3.6 Dividends per share 
Dividends to equity holders are only recognised as a liability when approved by the board of directors and are included in the statement of 
changes in equity. 

 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

Dividends per share declared   
Final dividend: Nil cents on 324 318 436 ordinary shares (2019: Nil cents on 319 596 836 
ordinary shares)   -      -    

Final dividend: Nil cents of 4 721 600 A1 ordinary shares prior to conversion to ordinary 
shares (2019: Nil cents on 4 721 600 A1 ordinary shares)   -      -    

Total   -      -    

No dividend was declared in respect of the 2020 financial year. 

4. Working capital: measures used to assess liquidity 
4.1 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost and includes cash on hand and deposits held with local banks with original 
maturities of three months or less.  

  2020 2019 

  R’000 R’000 

Bank balances      38 031     110 182  

Overnight call deposits     -       16 000  

Cash on hand  14 25 

     38 045     126 207  

Effective interest rate on credit balances  (%) - 1.38 

Bank balances with a carrying value of R13.5 million (2019: R30.9 million) were pledged as security for borrowing facilities (note 3.2). For 
further information on the credit quality of cash, refer to the Financial Risk Management section (note 7). 

The group has sufficient liquidity available through its working capital facilities in place with Nedbank Limited. Committed undrawn facilities 
available at year-end are further detailed in note 7.3. 

Included in bank balances are the following foreign currency denominated accounts:  

 Closing rates 2020 2019 

 2020 R’000 R’000 

Euro 17.97    7 433    -    

Pound Sterling 19.91    4 213  50 

US Dollar 14.62    4 450  672 
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4. Working capital: measures used to assess liquidity continued 
4.2 Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs represents the costs incurred in bringing each product to its present 
location and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated cost of 
completion and costs necessary to make the sale. 

The cost is determined on the following basis: 

Consumable stores: Weighted average. 

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods: First-in-first-out. The inventory balance consists of:  

 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

Raw materials    407 695     352 349  

Work-in-progress    632 568     520 040  

Finished goods    998 380    1 023 437  

Consumable stores    295 185     280 582  

   2 333 828    2 176 408  

Inventories with a carrying value of R1 886 million (2019: R1 998 million) are encumbered as security for borrowing facilities (note 3.2). 
Inventories recognised as an expense during the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to R7 850 million (2019: R10 000 million). Certain 
items of inventory were written down to net realisable value. These were recognised as an expense and included in cost of sale of goods in the 
statement of profit or loss as follows:  

 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

Inventory net realisable value adjustment    23 022     18 649  

4.3 Trade and other receivables 

(a) Accounting policies and significant judgements 
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. They are generally 
due for settlement within 60 days and therefore are all classified as current. Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of the 
consideration that is unconditional. Details of the group’s impairment policies are provided in section (c) below. 

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, the carrying amount approximates their fair value. 

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovery include, amongst others, the failure of an overdue debtor to engage in a repayment plan within the group, and a failure to make 
contractual payments for a period greater than 120 days past due. 

Sundry receivables generally arise from transactions outside of the usual trading activities of the group. 
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4. Working capital: measures used to assess liquidity continued 
4.3 Trade and other receivables continued 

(b) Financial and non-financial assets 

 2020 2019 
 R’000 R’000 
Financial assets 964 350     702 160  

Trade receivables – net of settlement discounts     903 899     695 727  
Less: Loss allowance   (9 959)   (7 001) 

Net Trade receivables     893 940     688 726  
Sundry receivables    70 410     13 434  

Non-financial assets    132 985     102 255  

Prepayments    53 523     40 786  
Value-added taxation receivable    79 462     61 469  

   

 1 097 335     804 415  

Included in trade receivables is an amount of R17.8 million (2019: R16.6 million) relating to claims from customers on current year sales for 
which it is probable that credit notes will be issued in the following financial year. 

Included in sundry receivables is a R16 million accrual arising from the liquidation of the Tongaat Hulett Pension Fund, R20m due from the sale 
of liquid metal of which does not form part of Hulamin’s core business and sundry deposits placed with customs of R20m. 

(c) Impairment of trade receivables 
The group applies IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade 
receivables. 

To measure expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and days past due. The 
group has trade receivables for sales of inventory and the provision of services. The sale of goods and provision of services have substantially 
the same risk characteristics for the same type of customer. The group has therefore concluded that the expected loss rate relating to sale of 
goods are a reasonable approximation of the loss rate for the provision of services. The group also covers all trade receivables through the 
Credit Guarantee Insurance Company (CGIC) and cover is subject to an uninsured portion of 20% (2019: 10%) and a franchise loss. The CGIC 
cover is taken out at the inception of the sale and is integral to the enactment of the sale. Therefore, the CGIC cover is included in the 
calculation of the loss allowance. 

The group performs an assessment at the end of each reporting period of the change in credit risk from when the trade receivables were 
recognised. This includes an assessment of default. As the trade receivables are insured, as detailed above, historical assessment indicates a 
low risk of default. 

The group has determined that it is appropriate to group trade receivables into local and export receivables. The aggregation of trade 
receivables in this manner is consistent with the way in which the executive committee monitors sales and market demand. Further the cover 
obtained through CGIC quotes a premium based on the two categories of trade receivables, local and export, further indicating the similarity 
of trade receivables within these two categories. 

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profile of sales over a period of 24-months before 31 December 2020 or 1 January 2020 
respectively and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. As debtors’ days are on average 30 days for local 
debtors and 45 days for export debtors a 24-month period reflects sufficient data points over the life of the asset to determine historical credit 
losses. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability 
of the customer to settle the receivables. Current forward-looking information considered by the Hulamin Credit Risk Committee includes 
regional growth and political stability. If forecast economic conditions are expected to deteriorate over the next year, which can lead to an 
increased number of defaults, affected trade receivables are specifically provided for. 
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4. Working capital: measures used to assess liquidity continued 
4.3 Trade and other receivables continued 

(c) Impairment of trade receivables continued 
The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and expected credit losses requires 
judgement. The amount of the expected credit loss is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The group’s 
historical credit loss experience and forecast economic conditions may also not be representative of the customer’s actual default in the 
future. 

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2020 was determined as follows for trade receivables:  

  Current 30 days 60 days 90 days 120 days 
More than 
120 days Total 

Export debtors at 31 
December 2020 

        

Expected loss rate  (%) - 0.3 1.3 1.9 2.0 1.8  

Gross carrying amount  (R’000)    373 499     98 149     18 924     5 939     2 664     2 431     501 606  

Loss allowance  (R’000) 19 252 241 115 54 43 724 

Local debtors at 31 
December 2020 

        

Expected loss rate (%) - 0.1 1.6   (  0.9) 25.7 44.5  

Gross carrying amount (R’000)    395 657     99 631     10 395    ( 448)    4 260     17 678     527 173  

Loss allowance (R’000) 11 88 170 4    1 097     7 864     9 234  

The loss allowance as at 31 December 2019 was determined as follows for trade receivables: 

  Current 30 days 60 days 90 days 120 days 
More than 
120 days Total 

Export debtors at 31 
December 2019 

        

Expected loss rate (%) (%) - 0.3 1.2 1.9 1.8   -     

Gross carrying amount 
(R’000) 

(R’000)    378 502     113 161     13 213     7 242     3   122    516 243  

Loss allowance (R’000) (R’000) 20 289 164 137 73   -    683 

Local debtors at 31 
December 2019 

        

Expected loss rate (%) (%) - 0.3 0.6 7.1 37.9 65.1  

Gross carrying amount 
(R’000) 

(R’000) 
 

   175 506     46 164     29 903     2 367     3 769     6 715     264 424  

Loss allowance (R’000) (R’000) 17 154 174 169    1 429     4 375     6 318  

The closing loss allowance for trade receivables as at 31 December 2020 reconciles to the opening loss allowance as follows:  

 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

Opening balance     7 001     5 271  

Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year    5 068     1 906  

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible   (2 110)   ( 176) 

Closing balance     9 959     7 001  
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4. Working capital: measures used to assess liquidity continued 
4.3 Trade and other receivables continued 

(d) Credit risk of trade receivables 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial 
loss. Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject to the group’s established policy, procedures and control relating to 
customer credit risk management. Credit quality of a customer is assessed based on an extensive credit rating scorecard and individual credit 
limits are defined in accordance with this assessment. Outstanding customer receivables are regularly monitored and any shipments to major 
customers are generally covered by letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance. The group’s credit risk exposure to customers is mainly 
influenced by individual customer characteristics and there is no significant concentration of risk related to industry segments. In addition to 
significant exposures arising from specific customers, credit exposures to both local and overseas customers are detailed below. The 
establishment and subsequent maintenance of credit limits is, in the majority of cases, based on the specific amount of credit insurance that 
can be secured for each new customer. The percentage of all trade receivables covered by insurance is detailed below. 

As at 31 December 2020, the ageing analysis of trade and sundry receivables, which constitute financial assets, is as follows:  

  2020 2019 

  R’000 R’000 

Receivables that are not overdue and remain within credit limits      889 948     502 678  

Receivables which have exceeded credit terms and are:     74 859     199 482  

Overdue by less than 60 days      53 853     194 851  

Overdue by more than 60 days     21 006     4 631  

Total financial assets, net of provision for credit losses     964 807     702 160  

 
 
  2020 2019 

  R’000 R’000 

Local trade receivables     475 416     155 659  

– Balance subject to credit insurance (%)  95 92 

Export trade receivables     442 291     333 585  

– Balance subject to credit insurance (%)  100 92 

     917 707     489 244  

At 31 December 2020, the group had 22 debtors that owed it more than R10 million each and accounted for approximately 78% of all 
receivables outstanding (the prior year included 22 debtors that owed it more than R10 million each and accounted for approximately 68% of 
all receivables outstanding). There is no other significant concentration of risk related to a particular customer or industry segments. As at 
31  December 2020, the exposure of the group to trade receivables neither overdue nor impaired (excluding sundry receivables), in local and 
overseas markets, and the extent to which these are subject to credit insurance cover is as follows:  

Individual trade receivables covered by credit insurance are subject to 20% excess on local and export debtors. 

Trade and other receivables with a carrying value of R790 million (2019: R757.2 million) have been ceded as security for borrowing facilities 
(note 3.2). 

The group is exposed to exchange rate fluctuations on the following uncovered export trade debtors at year-end. This exposure arises due to 
the early closure of financial institutions on 31 December.  

  2020 2020 2019 

  Foreign Rand Rand  

 
 amount amount amount  

 ‘000 R’000 R’000 

Euro     2 124     38 170    -    

US Dollar     4 657     68 071     219 069  

      106 241     219 069  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONTINUED 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

4. Working capital: measures used to assess liquidity continued 
4.4 Trade and other payables  
 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

Trade payables     876 535     769 568  
Bonus accrual    15 946     9 363  
Termination benefits** -     9 209  
 Leave pay*    67 669     65 438  

Current leave obligations expected to be settled after 12 months    18 693     16 704  
Current leave obligations expected to be settled within 12 months    48 976     48 734  

Outstanding Isizinda settlement value (note 6.1(d))   -       15 000  
Sundry accruals and other payables*** 154 638     136 543  

   1 114 788    1 005 121  

* The entire amount of the leave pay accrual is presented as current, since the group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement. However, 
based on past experience, the group does not expect all employees to take the full amount of accrued leave or require payment within the next 12-
months. 

** Termination benefit provisions are recognised only when the group has a constructive obligation, which is when: (i) there is a detailed formal plan that 
identifies the business or part of the business concerned, the location and number of employees affected, the detailed estimate of the associated costs, 
and the timeline; and (ii) the employees affected have been notified of the plan’s main features. Refer note 2.4.1(b) for more detail. 

*** Sundry accruals and other payables include provisions, employee benefit obligations and accrued interest and is due to be settled within 12-months. 

Provisions are recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. 
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of 
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of 
obligations may be small. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of 
the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense. 

Due to the short-term nature of the current payables, the carrying amount approximates their fair value. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONTINUED 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

5. Long-term assets: utilisation of fixed and intangible assets 
5.1 Property, plant and equipment 

(a) Accounting policies and significant judgements 
Capital works under construction is stated at cost, net of accumulated impairment losses. Plant and equipment is stated at cost, net of 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the plant and equipment and 
borrowing costs for long-term construction projects. 

(i) Useful lives and residual values 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows: 

Buildings 30 to 50 years 

Plant and machinery 4 to 50 years 

Vehicles 4 to 10 years 

Equipment 5 to 20 years 

Furniture 5 to 10 years 

Depreciation commences when the assets are ready for their intended use. Where significant parts of an item have different useful lives to the 
item itself, these parts are depreciated over their estimated useful lives. The methods of depreciation, useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed annually. During the current year, the useful lives and residual values were assessed by the Asset Management team who have 
appropriate skills and expertise to make such assessments. No adjustments have been made to these. 

(ii) Derecognition 

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is 
derecognised. 

(iii) Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs include interest and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time 
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 

The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs to be capitalised is the weighted average interest rate applicable to 
the entity’s general borrowings during the year. The amount of borrowing costs capitalised during the year ended 31 December 2020 was R7.6 
million (2019: R6.2 million). The weighted average interest rate used for borrowing costs capitalised is 7.5% (2019: 9.23%). 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONTINUED 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

5. Long-term assets: utilisation of fixed and intangible assets continued 
5.1 Property, plant and equipment continued 
(b) Property, plant and equipment movement schedule  

 
Total              
R’000 

Land and 
buildings 

R’000 

Plant and 
machinery 

R’000 

Vehicles, 
equipment and 

other 
R’000 

Capital works 
under 

construction 
R’000 

2020      
At cost      
Balance at beginning of year   8 118 634    1 104 372    6 491 954     233 970     288 338  
Additions    131 432     1 589     13 792  190    115 861  
Deconsolidation of Isizinda (note 6.1 (d))   (120 811)   (72 472)   (21 587)   (20 278)   (6 474) 
Borrowing costs capitalised 7 590   -      -      -    7 590 
Capitalised from capital works under 
construction   -    879 82 487     4 722    (88 088) 
Transfers to intangible assets (20 049) - - - (20 049) 
Disposals   (15 043)   -      (2 108)   -      (12 935) 
Transfer to Assets-held-for sale (note 6.2)   -      -      -      -      -    
Balance at end of year 8 101 753    1 034 368    6 564 538     218 604  284 243  
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses      

Balance at beginning of year   7 305 064     881 511    6 022 080     194 404     207 069  
Charge for the year (note 2.4.1)    48 392     8 265  33 033  7 094    -    
Deconsolidation of Isizinda (note 6.19(d))   (72 411)   (16 717)   (45 224)   (7 450)   (3 020) 
Capitalised from capital works under 
construction   -      -       1 131    -      (1 131) 

Impairment of property, plant and 
equipment      

(note 2.4.4)    8 432    -       8 432    -      -    
Disposals   ( 821)   -      ( 821)   -      -    
Transfer to Assets-held-for sale (note 6.2)   -      -      -      -      -    
Balance at end of year   7 288 656     873 059    6 018 631     194 048     202 918  

Carrying value at 31 December 2020 813 097     161 309     545 907     24 556     81 325  

      
2019      
At cost      
Balance at beginning of year   8 037 015    1 114 589    6 567 947     217 476     137 003  
Additions    305 095     4 806     30 725     3 597     265 967  
Borrowing costs capitalised    6 245    -      -      -       6 245  
Capitalised from capital works under 
construction   ( 0)    1 364     105 485     12 897    (119 746) 

Transfers to Assets-held-for-sale (note 6.2)   (77 529)   (16 387)   (60 011)   -      (1 131) 
Disposals   (152 192)   -      (152 192)   -      -    
Balance at end of year   8 118 634    1 104 372    6 491 954     233 970     288 338  
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses      

Balance at beginning of year   6 135 221     571 134    5 343 230     153 045     67 812  
Charge for the year (note 2.4.1)    107 625     18 850     76 930     11 845    -    
Capitalised from capital works under 
construction   -    329    17 784     5 422    (23 535) 
Impairment of property, plant and 
equipment      

(note 2.4.4)   1 251 603     300 165     782 667     29 514     139 257  
Transfers to Assets-held for-sale (note 6.2)   (126 105)   -      (126 105)   -      -    
Disposals   (63 280)   (8 638)   (54 642)   -      -    
Balance at end of year   7 305 064     881 840    6 039 864     199 826     183 534  

Carrying value at 31 December 2019    813 570     222 532     452 090     34 144     104 804  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONTINUED 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

5. Long-term assets: utilisation of fixed and intangible assets continued 
5.1 Property, plant and equipment continued 

(b) Property, plant and equipment movement schedule continued 
A register of land and buildings is available for inspection at the company’s registered office. 

Moveable items with a carrying value of R12.9 million (2019: R17.2 million) and land and buildings, largely production buildings located at the 
Campsdrift site, with a carrying value of R65.6 million (2019: R67.1 million) are encumbered as security for borrowing facilities (note 3.1). 

The total depreciation charge is included in cost of sales, R66.8 million (2019: R78.7 million), and inventory, R9.4 million (2019: R28.9 million). 

Included in property, plant and equipment are assets with a carrying amount of R21.8 million (2019: R21.8 million) which are currently 
mothballed and not classified as held-for-sale. 

5.2 Right-of-use assets 
The group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the right to control the use 
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

The group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. 
The group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. 

The group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease 
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and 

lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows: 

Land and buildings 5 to 20 years 
Vehicles, equipment and other 5 to 10 years 

The group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e. those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or 
less from the commencement date). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases that are considered to be low 
value, which would generally include rental of printers etc. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low value assets are recognised 
as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

The lease liabilities relating to the right of use assets are disclosed in note 3.3. 

Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the year:  

 
Total 

R’000l 
Land and buildings 

R’000 

Vehicles, equipment 
and other 

R’000 
01 January 2019    47 299     7 617     39 682  
Additions    13 869    -       13 869  
Depreciation expense (note 2.4.1)   (16 483)   (1 345)   (15 138) 
Impairment (note 2.4.4)   (27 577)   (4 027)   (23 550) 
31 December 2019    17 108     2 245     14 863  
Additions    36 133     32 779  3 354     
Depreciation expense (note 2.4.1)   (8 691)   (2 110)   (6 581) 
31 December 2020 44 550    32 914  11 636    
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CONTINUED 
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5. Long-term assets: utilisation of fixed and intangible assets continued 
5.3 Intangible assets 

(a) Accounting policies and significant judgements 
The group’s only intangible asset is computer software. Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred 
to acquire and bring into use the specific software. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives, as follows: 

Internally generated 3 to 15 years 
Other external 3 to 10 years 

Maintenance costs are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of 
identifiable and unique software products controlled by the group are recognised as intangible assets when all the asset recognition criteria 
are met. Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software product comprise mainly software development employee 
costs. 

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss 
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is 
included in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised. 

Computer software costs recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives. 

Total amortisation is included in cost of sales in the statement of profit or loss. 
The weighted average interest rate used for borrowing costs capitalised is 7.5% (2019: 9.23%). 
Capital work in progress (“CWIP”) included within the total software cost above is R5.7 million (2019: R14.7million). 

  
 2020 2019 
 R’000 R’000 
Software costs – internally generated and capitalised   
Balance at beginning of year    77 270     93 103  
Additions    22 919     4 118  
Written off    -      (19 951) 
Balance at end of year    100 189     77 270  

Accumulated amortisation   
Balance at beginning of year    71 047     70 096  
Charge for the year (note 2.4.1)    3 757     6 910  
Written-off   -      (19 582) 
Impairment of intangible assets (note 2.4.4)   -       13 623  
Balance at end of year    74 804     71 047  

Carrying value at end of year 25 385     6 223  

Software costs – purchased   
Balance at beginning of year    106 332     104 228  
Additions 5 977     2 104  
Written-off   -      -    
Balance at end of year    112 309     106 332  

Accumulated amortisation   
Balance at beginning of year    99 398     84 099  
Charge for the year (note 2.4.1)    3 395     5 206  
Written-off    1 739    -    
Impairment of intangible assets (note 2.4.4)   -       10 093  
Balance at end of year    104 532     99 398  

Carrying value at end of year 7 777     6 934  

Total software costs   
Cost    212 498     183 602  
Accumulated amortisation   (179 336)   (170 445) 
Carrying value at end of year    33 162     13 157  
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for the year ended 31 December 2020 

5. Long-term assets: utilisation of fixed and intangible assets continued 
5.4 Finance Lease Receivable  

The group entered into a lease arrangement as a lessor in the current year which is considered to be a finance lease. The group leases 
property, plant and machinery and as they transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets they are classified as 
finance leases.  

The lease receivable arises due to a leasing agreement entered into with Bingelela Alloys. This lease represents a finance lease under the 
requirements of IFRS 16 and the related property, plant and machinery item subject to the lease was derecognised and the lease receivable 
recognised. This lease is over a period of years.  

The following reconciliation reflects the anticipated cash receipts over the period of the lease: 

 2020 

 R’000 

Opening balance  -  

Additions in the current year 14 204  

Interest income 933  

Other income statement charges 818   

Proceeds (2 950) 

Closing balance  13 005  

The information relating to the finance lease receivable is disclosed below:   

Finance Lease Receivable  

 2020 

Current     4 523  

Non current     8 482  

    13 005  

  

Finance lease arrangements   

  

 2020 

Less than 1 year     4 523  

1-2 years     9 046  

2-3 years     7 814  

3-4 years    -    

  

Gross Investment in lease receivable     21 383  

Unearned future interest   (8 378) 

Net Investment in lease receivable     13 005  

  

Profit and loss information   

 2020 

Profit or loss impact  1 183  

Finance income on the net investment in the lease  933 

5.5 Capital expenditure commitments 
Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised as liabilities is as follows: 

 2020 
R’000 

2019 
R’000 

Property, plant and equipment 52 681 84 824 

Capital expenditure will be funded by a combination of external borrowings and cash flows from operations. 
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CONTINUED 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

6. Investments: investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 
6.1 Details of investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture 

(a) Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020. Control 
exists where the group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the subsidiary. Specifically, the group controls an investee if, and only if, the group has: 

• Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee); 

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 

• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this presumption and when the group has less 
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it 
has power over an investee, including: 

• The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee; 

• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 

• The group’s voting rights and potential voting rights 

The group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the 
three elements of control. The results of entities controlled by the group acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the group 
statement of profit or loss from the date the group exercised control, or up until the point it ceases to exercise control. Inter-company 
transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between group entities are eliminated on consolidation. 

The group treats transactions with non-controlling interest as transactions with equity holders of the group. Gains or losses arising from these 
transactions are recorded in equity. 

(b) Investment in joint ventures 
The group applies IFRS 11, “Joint Arrangements” to all joint arrangements. Investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint 
operations or joint ventures, depending on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor. The group has assessed the nature of its 
joint arrangement and determined it to be a joint venture. Joint ventures are accounted for applying the equity method. 

Under the equity method of accounting, interest in joint ventures is initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the 
group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and movements in other comprehensive income. When the group’s share of losses in a 
joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the joint venture (which includes any long-term interest that, in substance, forms part of the 
group’s net investment in joint venture), the group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on 
behalf of joint ventures. 

Unrealised gains/losses on transactions between the group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest in the 
joint venture. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. 

During the current year, the group obtained a 38.7% investment in joint venture, Isizinda through the loss of control over Isizinda as detailed in 
note 1.6(v) and 6.1(e). 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONTINUED 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

6. Investments: investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 
continued 
6.1 Details of investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture continued 

(c) The consolidated financial statements of the group include: 
 

 
Country of 

incorporation 

Percentage 
equity interest 

2020 

Percentage 
equity interest 

2019 
 

Principal activities 
Subsidiaries     
Hulamin Rolled Products (Pty) Ltd* South Africa 100 100 Dormant 
Hulamin Containers (Pty) Ltd*# South Africa 100 100 Container fabricator 

Hulamin Operations (Pty) Ltd South Africa 100 100 Semi-fabrication and fabrication of 
rolled aluminium products 

Hulamin Extrusions (Pty) Ltd* South Africa 100 100 Semi-fabrication of extruded 
aluminium products 

Hulamin North America LLC* United States 
of America 

100 100 Sales office 

     
Joint venture     
Isizinda Aluminium (Pty) Ltd (note 6.1(d)) South Africa 38.7 38.7 Property owning company 

 
* Subsidiaries of Hulamin Operations (Pty) Ltd. 
# formerly known as Hulamin Systems (Pty) Ltd and into which the Containers division was sold on 1 November 2020. 

Structured entities 

The following structured entities have been consolidated: 

• Imbewu SPV 14 (Pty) Ltd (note 8.1(d)(i)) 

• The 2015 Hulamin Employee Share Ownership Trust (note 8.1(d)(ii)) 

Structured entities have no material individual assets or liabilities. All transactions with structured entities eliminate on consolidation. No 
financial guarantees are provided on behalf of structured entities. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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for the year ended 31 December 2020 

6. Investments: investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 
continued 
6.1 Details of investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture continued 

(d) Interests in Joint Ventures 

1. Loss of control 

The shareholders of Isizinda, namely Bingelela Capital Proprietary Limited (“Bingelela”) and Hulamin Operations Proprietary Limited (“Hulamin 
Operations”), agreed on a restructure of Isizinda during the 2019 financial year, whereby, inter alia: 

(i) Hulamin acquired the rolling slab casting business and assets from Isizinda, effective 1 January 2020, and entered into a lease 
agreement with Isizinda to continue operating this casting facility. All funds derived by Isizinda from the proceeds of the rolling slab 
casting business and assets shall be applied in the reduction of Isizinda’s indebtedness to Hulamin. 

(ii) Hulamin, in the prior year, advanced the sum of R50 million to Isizinda, who used these funds to declare and pay a dividend of 
R35  million to Bingelela. The balance of R15 million was paid into an escrow account and will be declared as a dividend and paid to 
Bingelela upon conclusion of a new metal agreement between Hulamin and the Hillside operation of South32. This is considered 
probable. 

The sale of the slab assets from Isizinda to Hulamin results in a change in the relevant activities of Isizinda to that of a property 
management company for which unanimous consent is required to make any decisions with regards to the relevant activities.  

Accordingly, upon the effective date of sale, the “relevant activities” of Isizinda, in terms of IFRS 10, have changed materially. and, as of 
1  January 2020, management assessed that Hulamin no longer controls Isizinda in terms of the requirements of IFRS 10. Management 
considered the disposal group in terms of  IFRS 5 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations, and concluded that as 
the operating activities “disposed of” in the loss of control were re-acquired by the group through the purchase of the rolling slab 
casting business that this did not meet the definition of a discontinued operation and hence no additional disclosure was required. 

The loss on loss of control represents the difference between the net assets deconsolidated and the fair value of the investment in joint 
venture. 

 

 R’000 

Total disposal consideration (see point 2 (iii) below) 84 373 

Carrying amount of net assets deconsolidated (95 580) 

Loss arising from loss of control before and after income tax (11 207) 

2. Fair value of remaining investment 

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Isizinda held by the group as at the date of derecognition were: 
 

 R’000 

Property, plant and equipment 77 798 

Trade debtors 228 787 
Cash and cash equivalents 7 346 
Income tax asset 2 757 

Total assets 316 688 

Deferred tax liabilities 15 280 

Trade creditors 207 384 
Current borrowings 94 024 

Total liabilities 316 688 

Total identifiable net assets at fair value – 
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6. Investments: investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 
continued 
6.1 Details of investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture continued 

(d) Interests in Joint Ventures continued 

2. Fair value of remaining investment continued 

Calculation of fair value: 

(i) Land and buildings: The recoverable value was determined with reference to market-related rental prices per square meter, 
accepted vacancy rates and maintenance cost per square meter to determine a value in use of unoccupied land and buildings. 
Inputs were obtained from third party property market reports. Inputs are ranked as level 3 on the fair value hierarchy. The fair 
value measurement is non-recurring. 

The following significant unobservable inputs have the greatest impact in determining the fair value: 

Rental price per square meter R20.18 

Maintenance cost per square meterR5.65 R5.65 

Vacancy rates  4.00% 

Capitalisation rate 12.50% 

(ii) Plant and machinery: The fair value of idle plant and machinery was determined with reference to the selling price of similar 
items of plant and machinery adjusted for the cost to dispose. Inputs are ranked as level 3 on the fair value hierarchy. The fair 
value measurement is non-recurring. 

(iii) The fair value of the remaining investment in joint venture and the loan granted to Isizinda recognised on 1 January 2020 was: 

 Fair value at 
derecognition 

R’000 
Fair value of Hulamin Operation’s share of the equity component (38.7%)  

Fair value Hulamin Operation’s loan to Isizinda, classified as follows:  

Current 45 643 

Non-current 38 730 

 84 373 

The fair value of the loan to Isizinda was determined with reference to a value in use model of the business and the future cash 
flows have been estimated using a discount rate of 15.73%. Inputs are ranked as level 3 on the fair value hierarchy. The fair 
value measurement is non-recurring. 

The fair value is sensitive to changes to these unobservable inputs. Changes to these inputs might result in a significantly 
higher or lower fair value measurement. 

3. Joint arrangements 

(a) Initial recognition and subsequent measurement 

The group applies IFRS 11, “Joint Arrangements” to all joint arrangements. Investments in joint arrangements are classified as either    
joint operations or joint ventures, depending on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor. The group has assessed the 
nature of its joint arrangement and determined it to be a joint venture. Joint ventures are accounted for applying the equity method. 
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6. Investments: investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 
continued 
6.1 Details of investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture continued 

(d) Interests in Joint Ventures continued 

3. Joint arrangements continued 

(a) Initial recognition and subsequent measurement continued 

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise 
the group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and movements in other comprehensive income. When the group’s share of 
losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the joint venture (which includes any long-term interest that, in substance, 
forms part of the group’s net investment in joint venture), the group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations 
or made payments on behalf of joint ventures. 

Unrealised gains/losses on transactions between the group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest in 
the joint venture. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the assets 
transferred. 

(b) Investment in Isizinda Aluminium Proprietary Limited (“Isizinda”) 

During the current year, the group obtained a 38.7% investment in joint venture, Isizinda through the loss of control over Isizinda as 
detailed in note 6.1(d). Isizinda is a separate structured vehicle incorporated and operating in South Africa. The primary activity of 
Isizinda is the management of properties, including the maintenance thereof, disposal of properties and other assets, sourcing, vetting 
and ongoing maintenance of tenants, and determining the terms for lease agreements. 

In determining whether an entity has control or joint control over an investee, one needs to determine what the investee’s relevant 
activities are and who can direct those activities. The relevant activities are those that significantly impact the economic performance or 
returns over the investee entity. The memorandum of incorporation and shareholders agreement requires that the management and 
decision-making over Isizinda’s operations requires unanimous consent of all shareholders. Hulamin Operations holds a protective right 
to prevent dividend payments before settlement of its loan by Isizinda. This protective right does not prevent the counterparty from 
exercising its rights regarding the management of Isizinda’s operations and decision-making thereon. 

IFRS 11.8 provides guidance that all parties control an arrangement when they must act together to direct the activities that 
significantly affect the returns of the arrangement. As the decision-making over Isizinda’s relevant activities requires unanimous 
consent of both Hulamin Operations and Bingelela, neither party can make decisions on Isizinda’s operations independently of the 
other party. Therefore, Isizinda is jointly controlled by Hulamin Operations and Bingelela. 

The contractual arrangement provides the group with only the right to the net assets of the joint arrangement, with the voting rights to 
the assets and obligation for liability of the joint arrangement resting primarily with Hulamin Operations Proprietary Limited. Under IFRS 
11, this joint arrangement is classified as a joint venture and has been included in the consolidated financial statements using the equity 
method. 

The summary of financial information in relation to the joint venture as presented below is disclosed at Hulamin Operations' 
proportional shareholding of 38.7 percent.  
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6. Investments: investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 
continued 
6.1 Details of investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture continued 

(d) Interests in Joint Ventures continued 

3. Joint arrangements continued 

(b) Investment in Isizinda Aluminium Proprietary Limited (“Isizinda”) continued  

Summarised financial information in relation to the joint venture is presented 
below: 

Prop share -  
38.75% 

R’000 
Balance – 100% 

R’000 
Summarised statement of financial position     
Current   -    -  
Cash and cash equivalents 64 165  

Other current assets    2 532  6 543  

Total current asset    2 596  6 708  

Financial liabilities (excluding trade payables)    29 065  75 102  

Total current liabilities    35 828  92 580  

Non-current   -    -  
Property, plant and equipment    33 529  86 638  

Total non-current asset    33 529  86 638  

Net assets 296 766  

Summarised statement of comprehensive income   -    -  
Revenue from contracts with customers 561 1 450  
Finance costs   (2 242) (5 793) 
Finance income 96 248 

Loss before tax   (3 562) (9 205) 

Income tax expense    1 997  5 160 

Loss after tax   (1 565) (4 045) 

Total comprehensive loss   (1 565) (4 045) 

Reconciliation of summarised financial information presented to the carrying 
amount of the joint venture   -     
Opening net assets on 1 January 2020   -     
Adjusted total comprehensive loss for the year   (1 565)  
Loan balance attributable to joint ventures *    63 924   
Impairment on loans to joint ventures   (3 724)  

Carrying value    58 635   

Interest in joint venture 38.7  

* The loan to Isizinda was subordinated in favour of other creditors and as such at year-end the full loan was non-current. 

  

6.2 Non-current assets held-for-sale 

The group classifies non-current assets and disposal groups as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sale 
transaction rather than through continuing use. Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Costs to sell are the incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset (or disposal 
group), excluding finance costs and income tax expense. 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are not depreciated or amortised once classified as held for sale. 
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6. Investments: investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 
continued 
6.2 Non-current assets held-for-sale continued 

(i) Almin Metal Industries Limited (“Almin”) 
During the 2018 financial year, the group received an offer from a third party to acquire the 49% interest which it holds in Almin. The sale was 
approved by the Board and was expected to be completed within 12 months from year-end. All conditions of sale have since been satisfied 
and the associate was disposed of in 2019. The difference between the carrying amount of the associate of R6.5 million and the proceeds from 
disposal amounting to R8.7 million (after the payment of an amount of R0.4 million in capital gains tax) was recognised in profit or loss as a 
gain on disposal (note 2.4.3). 

(ii) Extrusions Olifantsfontein plant 
In May 2019, Hulamin Extrusions announced the proposed restructuring of its business operations which included the intended disposal of the 
property, plant and equipment of its Olifantsfontein operation (refer to note 2.4.1(b) for further details). 

It was further determined that the assets relating to the Olifantsfontein plant were going to be recovered principally through sale rather than 
through use. The sale of these assets was highly probable. Hulamin Extrusions entered into an agreement of sale of these assets with a third 
party. The sale of these assets was expected to realise within one year from 30 June 2019 (classification date). At classification date, the 
carrying amount was lower than its fair value less costs to sell, thus no impairment loss was recognised. Subsequently the fair value less costs 
to sell was determined with reference to a binding sale agreement, which indicated that the carrying amount exceeded the fair value less costs 
to sell by R6  million and consequently an impairment charge of that amount was booked in profit or loss (refer note 2.4.4 (a)(ii). The sale of 
this asset was realised in 2021. 

 2020 2019 
 R’000 R’000 
Investment in associate – Almin   -      -    
Property, plant and equipment – Extrusions Olifantsfontein (note 5.1(b))    14 250     14 250  
    14 250     14 250  

 

7. Financial risk management: measures to mitigate risk 
Financial risk factors 

This note explains the group’s exposure to financial risks and how these risks could affect the group’s future financial performance. 

The group’s risk management is predominantly controlled by a central treasury department (group treasury) under policies approved by the board of 
directors. Group treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the group’s operating units. The board provides 
written principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and 
use of derivative financial instruments. 

7.1 Market risk 

(a) Foreign exchange risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. The 
group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the 
US Dollar and the Euro. 

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities that are denominated in a currency that 
is not the group’s functional currency, which is South African Rand. The group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk 
arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US Dollar and the Euro. The group’s risk management policy is to hedge 
its currency exposure related to import and export transactions, foreign currency assets and liabilities.  
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7. Financial risk management: measures to mitigate risk continued 
7.1 Market risk continued 

(a) Foreign exchange risk continued 
The group uses foreign exchange contracts, transacted with commercial banks, to manage these risks.  

For every 5% weakening or strengthening of the South African Rand against the group’s foreign currency exposure at 31 December, the after-
tax profit for the year would have been higher or lower by R4 043 089 (2019: R720 405) based on the group’s exposure at the balance sheet 
date. The sensitivity of profits to changes in exchange rates is a result of foreign exchange gains or losses on translation of foreign currency 
denominated trade receivables and payables and financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss that are offset by equivalent 
gains or losses in currency derivatives. There were no currency cash flow hedges at the end of 2020 and therefore for currency cash flow 
hedges the above change in currency exchange rates would have resulted in equity being lower or higher by RNil (2019: R18 360 107). 

(b) Commodity price risk 
The group purchases and sells aluminium at prices that fluctuated with movements on the London Metal Exchange and as a result the group is 
exposed to commodity price risk from the time the aluminium is purchased to when it is sold to a customer (Metal Price Lag). The group uses 
LME future contracts to manage the commodity price risk. Due to this commodity price risk having opposing effects on cash flows and profit, 
the strategy was to hedge 50% of the risk using futures contracts. The group suspended the hedging strategy for LME futures in the first 
quarter of 2020. The group has additional hedges in place for customer orders where the price has been fixed for a future delivery date fixed 
price contracts (FPC). 

Due to hedge accounting for commodity hedges, for every 5% weakening or strengthening of the price of aluminium at 31 December, after tax 
profit for the year would have been lower or higher by RNil (2019: RNil) based on the group’s exposure to firm customer commitments (FPC) 
at the balance sheet date. The above change in aluminium prices would have had a R1 550 628 effect on equity (2019: R23 177 081) 

(c) Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest 
rates. The group has no significant interest-bearing assets and interest rate risk is solely related to borrowings. The group’s borrowings bear 
interest at variable rates and the group has not fixed the interest rate on any of its borrowings. Consequently, every 0,5 percentage point 
increase or decrease in the interest rate at 31 December would have no fair value effect on after-tax profit (2019: nil) and no effect on equity 
(2019: nil). 

The group is also exposed to future cash flow risks on borrowings. Had interest rates for the year been 0,5 percentage points higher or lower 
and been applied to the period end net debt, the interest expense for the year would have been higher or lower by R4 million (2019: 
R1.4  million). 

The group analyses the impact on profit and loss of defined interest rate shifts – taking into consideration refinancing, renewal of existing 
positions, alternative financing and hedging. The analysis is only for liabilities that represent the major interest-bearing positions. 

(d) Hedge accounting 
Hedge effectiveness is determined at the inception of the hedge relationship, and through periodic prospective effectiveness assessments, to 
ensure that an economic relationship exists between the hedged item and hedging instrument. 

There is an economic relationship between the hedged items and the hedging instruments as the terms of the foreign exchange and 
commodity forward contracts match the terms of the expected highly probable forecast transactions (i.e., notional amount and expected 
payment date). The group established a hedge ratio of 1:1 for the hedging relationships as the underlying risk of the foreign exchange and 
commodity forward contracts are identical to the hedged risk components. To test the hedge effectiveness, the group used the hypothetical 
derivative method and compares the changes in the fair value of the hedging instruments against the changes in fair value of the hedged items 
attributable to the hedged risks. 

The group uses forward exchange contracts, FPCs and LME future contracts to hedge its exposure to foreign currency and commodity risk. 
When hedge accounting is applied, the group only designates the spot component of foreign currency forwards in hedge relationships. The 
spot component is determined with reference to relevant spot exchange rates. The differential between the contracted forward rate and the 
spot market exchange rate is defined as the forward points. The changes in the forward element of the foreign currency forwards that relate 
to hedged items is recorded in profit or loss and the forward element of the LME future contracts that relate to hedged items are recorded in 
equity. 
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7. Financial risk management: measures to mitigate risk continued 
7.1 Market risk continued 

(d) Hedge accounting continued 

(i) Classification of derivatives 

Derivatives are only used for economic hedging purposes and not as speculative investments. However, where derivatives do not meet the 
hedge accounting requirements, they are classified as ‘fair value through profit or loss’. They are presented as current assets or liabilities to 
the extent they are expected to be settled within 12-months after the end of the reporting period. 

The fair value of derivative assets and derivative liabilities are calculated as the difference between the contracted value and the value to 
maturity at the year-end date. The value to maturity of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using quoted forward exchange 
rates at the balance sheet date. The value to maturity of commodity futures is determined by reference to quoted prices at the balance sheet 
date. 

(ii) Derivatives and hedging activities 

As part of its risk management strategy, the group has identified a series of risk categories with corresponding hedging strategies using 
derivatives. 

Hedge accounting is adopted when all the IFRS requirements are fulfilled, which includes documenting at the inception of the transaction the 
relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking various 
hedging transactions. In addition, the group documents the assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of the hedge 
effectiveness. Transactions that are entered into in accordance with the group’s hedging objectives, but which do not qualify for hedge 
accounting, are referred to in these financial statements as economic hedge relationships. 

A cash flow hedge is the hedge of the exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk associated with an asset or a 
liability that could affect profit or loss or a highly probable forecast transaction that could affect profit or loss. If a cash flow hedge meets the 
conditions for hedge accounting, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income and accumulated in equity and the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss. A 
hedge of the foreign currency risk of a firm commitment is designated and accounted for as a cash flow hedge. 

If an effective hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a financial asset or financial liability, the associated 
gains or losses accumulated in equity are transferred to income in the same period in which the asset or liability affects profit or loss. 

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability, the associated 
gains or losses accumulated in equity are included in the initial measurement of the acquisition cost or other carrying amount of the asset or 
liability. 

On the implementation of the hedging component of IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’ during the current year, When a hedging instrument 
expires, or is sold or terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative deferred gain or loss and 
deferred costs of hedging in equity at that time remains in equity until the forecast transaction occurs, resulting in the recognition of a non-
financial asset such as inventory. When the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss and deferred costs 
of hedging that were reported in equity are immediately reclassified to profit or loss. 

The hedging reserve accumulates all movement in the fair value of financial instruments designated as hedges of transactions that have yet to 
be recognised on the balance sheet. When the underlying transaction is recognised, the related accumulated hedging reserve is released to 
the income statement and reflected in revenue. The release of the hedge reserve follows the hedged item represented by probable forecast 
sales transactions. 
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7. Financial risk management: measures to mitigate risk continued 
7.1 Market risk continued 

(d) Hedge accounting continued 

(iii) Impact of hedging on equity 

Set out below is the reconciliation of each component of equity and the analysis of other comprehensive income:  

 

Spot component of 
currency forwards 

R’000 

Spot component of 
LME futures 

R’000 

Intrinsic value of       
options 

R’000 

Cost of                  
hedging  

R’000 

Total hedge        
reserve 

R’000 

Opening balance -January 2019   (6 280)   -      -      -      (6 280) 
Add: Change in fair value of 
hedging       -    

instrument recognised in OCI    7 495     39 326     10 218    -       57 039  
Add: Costs of hedging deferred 
and recognised in OCI   -      -      -       23 801     23 801  

Less: Reclassified to profit or loss       -    

– on hedge maturity    21 585    (48 901)   -      (27 434)   (54 750) 

Less: Deferred tax   (8 142)    2 681    (2 861)    1 017    (7 305) 

Closing balance -December 2019    14 658    (6 894)    7 357    (2 616)    12 505  

Opening balance -January 2020    14 658    (6 894)    7 357    (2 616)    12 505  
Add: Change in fair value of 
hedging       -    

instrument recognised in OCI   (237 789)    118 509    (109 706)    15 471    (213 515) 
Add: Costs of hedging deferred 
and recognised in OCI   -      -      -      (11 838)   (11 838) 

Less: Reclassified to profit or loss       -    

– on hedge maturity    217 431    (106 540)    99 488    -       210 379  

Less: Deferred tax    5 700    (3 351)    2 861    (1 017)    4 193  

Closing balance -December 2020   -       1 724    -      -       1 724  

(iv) Amount recognised in profit or (loss) 

During the year the following amounts were recognised in profit or (loss) in relation to derivative instruments that were hedge accounted for: 

 2020 2019 
 R’000 R’000 
Net gains on forwards for LME futures not qualifying as hedges included in gains and losses 
on financial instruments relating to trading activities    31 707    (27 434) 
Hedge ineffectiveness of foreign currency forwards included in gains and losses on financial 
instruments relating to trading activities   (146 191)    3 887  
Cash flow hedges included in revenue   (95 895)   (31 203) 
   (210 379)   (54 750) 
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7. Financial risk management: measures to mitigate risk continued 
7.1 Market risk continued 

(d) Hedge accounting continued 

(v) Hedge ineffectiveness 

Hedge effectiveness is determined at the inception of the hedge relationship, and through periodic prospective effectiveness assessments, to 
ensure that an economic relationship exists between the hedged item and hedging instrument. 

There is an economic relationship between the hedged items and the hedging instruments as the terms of the foreign exchange and 
commodity forward contracts match the terms of the expected highly probable forecast transactions. The Group established a hedge ratio of 
1:1 for the hedging relationships as the underlying risk of the foreign exchange and commodity forward contracts are identical to the hedged 
risk components. To test the hedge effectiveness, the Group uses the hypothetical derivative method and compares the changes in the fair 
value of the hedging instruments against the changes in fair value of the hedged items attributable to the hedged risks. Hedge ineffectiveness 
can arise from: 

• Differences in the timing of the cash flows of the hedged items and the hedging instruments. 

• Different indexes (and accordingly different curves) linked to the hedged risk of the hedged items and hedging instruments. 

• The counterparties’ credit risk differently impacting the fair value movements of the hedging instruments and hedged items. 

• Changes to the forecasted amount of cash flows of hedged items and hedging instruments. 

The loss recognised in profit/(loss) as a result of hedge ineffectiveness amounts to R146.2m (2019: profit of R3.8m), refer note 7.1 (d) (vi). 

A summary of the group’s financial instruments used to mitigate foreign exchange and commodity price risk is shown below 

 2020 2019 
 R’000 R’000 
   
Foreign currency management – probable forecast sales   -       41 551  
Foreign currency management – firm commitments, trade debtors, creditors and 
import orders    5 313     16 727  
Commodity price management    2 395    (13 643) 
    7 708     44 635  
Grouped as:   
Financial assets    7 708     88 661  
Financial liabilities   -      (44 026) 
    7 708     44 635  

The credit quality of all derivative financial assets is sound and there have been no defaults in past years. None are overdue nor impaired and 
the group does not hold collateral on derivatives. The group’s maximum exposure to counterparty credit risk on derivative assets at 
31 December 2020 is R7.7 million (2019: R58.3 million). 

The fair value measurement classification of the above financial instruments is level 2 (observable inputs) in accordance with the fair value 
hierarchy prescribed by IFRS 13. Key inputs used in the determination of fair value relate to London Metal Exchange aluminium prices and 
currency exchange rates. 
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7. Financial risk management: measures to mitigate risk continued 
7.1 Market risk continued 

(e) Foreign currency management – probable forecast sales 

The following forward foreign exchange contracts (FECs) on hand at period end were designated as hedging instruments in terms of hedge 
accounting. 

 2020 2019 

 

Foreign      
amount               

‘000 

Rand amount       
R’000 

Fair value 
asset/(liability) 

R’000 

Foreign      
amount               

‘000 

Rand       
amount       

R’000 

Fair value 
asset/(liability) 

R’000 
Forward purchases       

US Dollar   -      -      -       13 125     189 697    ( 5 594) 

   -      -      -       13 125     189 697    ( 5 594) 

Forward sales       

US Dollar   -      -      -      ( 48 733)   ( 732 579)    47 145  

   -      -      -      ( 48 733)   ( 732 579)    47 145  

Net total   -      -      -      ( 35 608)   ( 542 883)    41 551  

Maturing in*:       

2020    -      -      -      ( 542 882)    41 551  
2021    -      -      -      -      -    

    -      -      -      ( 542 882)    41 551  

Cash flow hedges    -      -      -      ( 542 882)    41 551  

Grouped as:    

Financial assets     -         47 204  

Financial liabilities     -        ( 5 653) 

     -         41 551  

Cash flow hedges 

The group uses FECs to hedge US Dollar exposure of probable forecast sales. These FECs are hedge accounted and are designated as cash flow 
hedges, accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy detailed in this note. When assessing the effectiveness of the hedges during 
hedge effectiveness testing, the group compares the change in the fair value of the forecast sales transaction attributable to movements in 
exchange rates to the change in the fair value of the FECs. 
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7. Financial risk management: measures to mitigate risk continued 
7.1 Market risk continued 

(f) Foreign currency management – firm commitments, trade debtors, creditors and import orders 
The following forward foreign exchange contracts and options cover foreign currency risk on trade debtors, creditors balances and import 
orders. The forward exchange contracts were not designated as hedging instruments for hedge accounting purposes at the period end: 

 2020 2019 

 

Foreign      
amount               

‘000 

Rand       
amount       

R’000 

Fair value 
asset/(liability) 

R’000 

Foreign      
amount               

‘000 

Rand       
amount       

R’000 

Fair value 
asset/(liability) 

R’000 
Forward purchases       
Euro    11 019    ( 198 782)   (  196)    10 522     167 810    ( 1 434) 
Pound Sterling   -      -      -    531    10 104    (  245) 
US Dollar    4 834    ( 71 710)   (  781)    41 810     604 879    ( 16 474) 
    ( 270 492)   (  977)     782 793    ( 18 153) 

Forward sales       
Euro   ( 23 277)    423 584     3 299    ( 14 302)   ( 230 187)    4 085  
Pound Sterling   -      -      -      (  287)   ( 5 562) 245 
US Dollar   ( 7 542)    113 522     2 992    ( 49 305)   ( 712 053)    19 897  
     537 106     6 291     ( 947 802)    24 227  

Currency options       
US Dollar   -      -      -      ( 10 000)   ( 151 300)    10 653  
    -      -       ( 151 300)    10 653  
Net total     266 615     5 313     ( 316 309)    16 727  

Maturing in:*       
2020    -      -       ( 316 309)    16 727  
2021     266 615     5 313     -      -    
     266 615     5 313     ( 316 309)    16 727  

Grouped as:   
Financial assets      6 291       35 263  
Financial liabilities     (  978)     ( 18 536) 
      5 313       16 727  

* Derivative instruments on average hold a maturity of three-months or less. 
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7. Financial risk management: measures to mitigate risk continued 
7.1 Market risk continued 

(g) Commodity price management 

The following futures contracts cover commodity price risk on future sales. The requirement for hedge accounting were met in 2020 and 2019: 

 2020 2019 

 Tons 
Contracted value 

R’000 

Fair value 
asset/(liability) 

R’000 Tons 
Contracted value 

R’000 

Fair value 
asset/(liability) 

R’000 
Net aluminium futures 
purchases/(sales) maturing in*:       

2020    ( 18 575) 32 389  ( 13 643) 

2021 1 075  ( 28 910) 2 394     

 1 075  ( 28 910) 2 394  ( 18 575) 32 389  ( 13 643) 

Grouped as:        

Financial assets    2 394    6 194  

Financial liabilities   -    ( 19 837) 

   2 394    ( 13 643) 

The group may enter into London Metal Exchange (LME) futures to hedge the metal price exposure on firm commitments with customers and 
probable forecast sales. These LME futures were hedge accounted for the period ended 2020 and 2019. 

* Derivative instruments on average hold a maturity of three-months or less. 

7.2 Credit risk 
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as 
credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions. All deposits are held with major South African 
banks and all foreign exchange hedging transactions are undertaken with these banks. All aluminium futures are undertaken with Category 1 
London Metal Exchange brokers. Hulamin will only enter into currency hedges with the four major South African banks. 

Quantitative data on credit risk is disclosed in the notes to the annual financial statements on derivative financial instruments (under the 
hedging section of this note) and trade and other receivables (note 4.3). 
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7. Financial risk management: measures to mitigate risk continued 
7.3 Liquidity risk 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed 
credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, flexibility in funding is 
maintained through ensuring availability under committed credit lines. Management monitors rolling forecasts of the group’s liquidity reserve, 
being the excess of available facilities over forecast net borrowings and available cash balances. 

The group’s facility utilisation (including cash reserves) at the period end was:  

 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

Revolving working capital facility   1 000 000    1 000 000  

General short term facility    500 000     500 000  

Term loan   -       54 000  

Current facilities   1 500 000    1 554 000  

Non-current facilities   -      -    

Total borrowing facilities   1 500 000    1 554 000  

Less: indirect facilities allocated to letters of credit   ( 300 000)   ( 300 000) 

   1 200 000    1 254 000  

Utilised by:   

Non-current borrowings (note 3.1)   -      -    

Current borrowings (note 3.2)   ( 789 053)   ( 352 083) 

Cash and cash equivalents (note 4.1)    38 045     126 207  

Committed undrawn direct facilities and cash    448 992    1 028 124  

In the prior period end, current facilities included a term loan of R54 million used to fund the upgrade of the aluminium recycling plant in 
2015. The loan facility was repayable quarterly in arrears starting on 31 March 2016 and was fully repaid at 31 December 2020. 

In addition to the term loan, Hulamin’s borrowing facilities include a general short-term facility of R500 million (2019: R500 million), of which 
R300 million has been allocated to a letter of credit facility and revolving working capital facilities of R1 000 million (2019: R1 000 million).  

Financial liabilities with maturity dates within the next twelve months comprise current borrowings, trade and other payables, sundry accruals 
and derivative liabilities. 
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7. Financial risk management: measures to mitigate risk continued 
7.3 Liquidity risk continued 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments: 

 
Less than one 

year One to three years Three to four 
years 

Greater than four 
years Total 

 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

2019      

Non-current borrowings   -      -      -      -      -    

Current borrowings    383 419    -      -      -       383 419  

Lease Liabilities     13 176     19 272     11 563     6 666     50 677  
Trade and other payables (excluding 
employee benefit payables)    874 015    -      -      -       874 015  

Derivative financial liabilities    44 026    -      -      -       44 026  

   1 314 636     19 272     11 563     6 666    1 352 137  

2020      

Non-current borrowings   -      -      -      -      -    

Current borrowings*    789 053    -      -      -       789 053  

Trade and other payables       -    

(excluding employee benefit payables) 989 171    -      -      -       989 171  

Lease liabilities    20 514     28 526     4 282     54 240     107 562  

Derivative financial liabilities   -      -      -      -      -    

   1 798 738     28 526     4 282     54 240    1 885 786  

      

* Borrowing facilities incur interest at variable rates. As fixed contractual terms are not known in future periods, management has estimated interest 
charges using a best estimate of the forecast rate and applied this to the average balance for the year. 

Included in the above amounts payable within a period of less than one year, are financial liabilities in the amount of R789 million (2019: 
R1 024 million) which are payable within a period of three months, including trade payables in the amount of R877 million (2019: R770 
million). Trade receivables amounting to R893 million (2019: R688 million) are recoverable within a period of three months. 

7.4 Capital risk management 
For the purpose of the group’s capital management, capital includes issued capital, convertible preference shares, share premium and all 
other equity reserves attributable to the equity holders of the parent. The primary objective of the group’s capital management is to maximise 
the shareholder value and to safeguard its ability to continue as a going-concern and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the 
cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return 
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 

These objectives result in varying capital ratios, with current and future borrowings being evaluated against the group’s expected operating 
cash flows and capital investment needs. Capital adequacy and liquidity are managed by monitoring gearing ratios, interest cover and debt 
service ratios. 
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7. Financial risk management: measures to mitigate risk continued 
7.4 Capital risk management continued 

The group’s gearing ratio at the period end was as follows: 

  2020 2019 

 Notes R’000 R’000 

Non-current borrowings  3.1   -      -    

Current borrowings 3.2    789 053     352 083  

Lease liabilities (current and non-current)     67 764     46 493  

Total borrowings     856 817     398 576  

Less: Cash and cash equivalents 4.1   ( 38 045)   ( 126 207) 

Net debt     818 772     272 369  

Total equity  2 368 447    2 570 308  

Total capital  3 187 219    2 842 677  

Gearing ratio percentage (net debt over total capital)  25.7 9.6 

 

In order to achieve this overall objective, the group’s capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets financial 
covenants attached to the interest-bearing loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements. Breaches in meeting the financial 
covenants would permit the bank to immediately call loans and borrowings. There have been no breaches of the financial covenants of any 
interest-bearing loans and borrowing in the current period. 

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019. 

The gearing ratio increased to 25.7% (2019: 9.6%) at 31 December 2020. Both net debt and gross assets increased following the recognition of 
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on 1 January 2019. 

8. Benefits and remuneration: our investment in our people 
8.1 Share-based payments 

(a) Employee schemes 
The group’s employee share incentive schemes are accounted for as equity-settled share-based payments. Equity-settled share-based 
payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant and recognised in profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the vesting period, 
based on the estimated number of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market vesting conditions. 

Fair value is measured using the Monte Carlo Simulation, Black-Scholes and binomial tree valuation models. 

(b) BEE transactions 
BEE transactions where the group receives or acquires goods or services as consideration for the issue of equity instruments of the group are 
treated as share-based payment transactions. 

BEE transactions where employees are involved are measured and accounted for on the same basis as share-based payments, as disclosed 
above. 

Transactions in which share-based payments are made to parties other than employees are measured by reference to the fair value of equity 
instruments granted if no specific goods or services are received. Vesting of the equity instrument occurs immediately and an expense and 
related increase in equity is recognised on the date that the instrument is granted. No further measurement or adjustments are required as it 
is presumed that the BEE credentials are received upfront. Incremental costs that are directly associated with the BEE transaction are 
expensed immediately in the determination of profit or loss. 
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8. Benefits and remuneration: our investment in our people continued 
8.1 Share-based payments continued 

(c) Information relating to employee share scheme grants 

(i) Hulamin Limited Share Appreciation Right Scheme 2007 

Under the Share Appreciation Right Scheme, participating employees are awarded the right to receive shares equal in value to the difference 
between the exercise price and the grant price. 

The vesting of the right is conditional on the achievement by Hulamin of performance conditions over a three-year period. 

Grant price 

Estimated 
weighted 

average fair 
value per right 

Expiring seven 
years from 

Number of 
rights at 

December 
2019 

Rights 
exercised in 

2020 

Rights 
forfeited/lapsed in 

2020 

Number of 
rights at Dec 

2020 
Rights time 
constrained 

R6.90 R2.73 24 April 2014 2 505 966  -  1 152 531  1 353 435  -  

R6.50 R2.59 26 April 2017 7 333 187  -  7 333 187  -  -  

    9 839 153  -  8 485 718  1 353 435  -  

The volume-weighted average share price during the year for Hulamin shares was R1.32 (2019: R2.86). 

The estimated fair value of these share appreciation rights at grant date was determined using a binomial tree valuation model, based on the 
following significant inputs: 

 2017 2014 
Share price at grant date (R) 6.50 6.90 
Risk-free interest rate (%) 7.74 8.17 
Expected volatility (%) 42.09 42.22 
Expected dividends (%) 0.55 0.05 
Expected remaining life (Months) (months) -  4  
Contractual life (Months) (months) 84  84  

Vesting conditions: 
• Time Three years 
• Non-market An increase in Hulamin Limited headline earnings per ordinary share as determined by the Remuneration Committee. 
• Market None 

(ii) Hulamin Limited Long Term Incentive Scheme 2007 (without performance conditions) 

Under the Long-Term Incentive Plan, participating employees are granted conditional awards. The vesting of the award is conditional on the 
employee continuing employment with the company or any other employer company until the vesting date. 

Grant price 

Estimated 
weighted 

average fair 
value per right 

Expiring three 
years from 

Number of 
conditional 

awards at 
December 2019 

Conditional 
awards exercised 

in 2020 

Number of 
conditional 

awards at 
December 2020 

Conditional 
time 

constrained 
Nil R 6.44 15 May 2017 78 577  78 577  -   

   78 577  78 577  -  -  

The volume-weighted average share price during the year for Hulamin shares was R1.32 (2019: R2.86). 
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8. Benefits and remuneration: our investment in our people continued 
8.1 Share-based payments continued 

(c) Information relating to employee share scheme grants continued 

(ii) Hulamin Limited Long Term Incentive Scheme 2007 (without performance conditions) continued 

The estimated fair value costing of these conditional share awards at the grant date was based on the following significant inputs: 

  2017 
Share price at grant date (R) 6.55 
Risk-free interest rate (%) 7.12 
Expected volatility (%) 42.09 
Expected dividends (%) 0.55 
Expected remaining life (Months) (months) 0 
Contractual life (Months) (months) 36 

Vesting conditions: 
• Time Three years 
• Non-market None 
• Market None 

(iii) Equity-settled Conditional Share Plan (Bonus shares) 

Under the Equity-settled Conditional Share Plan (Bonus shares), participating employees are granted conditional awards. The vesting of the 
award is conditional on the employee continuing employment with the company or any other employer company until the vesting date. 

Grant 
price 

Estimated 
weighted 

average fair 
value per 

right 
Expiring three 

years from 

Number of 
conditional 

awards at 
December 

2019 

Conditional 
awards granted 

in 2020 

Conditional awards 
forfeited/lapsed in 

2020 

Number of 
conditional awards at 

January 2019 

Conditional 
time 

constrained 
Nil 3.93 26 July 2018 1 603 547  -  332 649  1 270 898  1 270 898  
Nil 3.70 15 May 2019 1 602 082  -  72 623  1 529 459  1 529 459  
   3 205 629  -  405 272  2 800 357  2 800 357  

The volume-weighted average share price during the year for Hulamin shares was R1.32 (2019: R2.86). 

The estimated fair value costing of these conditional share awards at the grant date was based on the following significant inputs: 

  2019 2020 

Share price at grant date (R) 4.34 4.11 
Risk-free interest rate (%) 7.34 7.08  
Expected volatility (%) N/A N/A 
Expected dividends (%) 3.27 3.49 
Expected remaining life (months) 7 16 
Contractual life (months) 36 36 

Vesting conditions: 
• Time Three years 
• Non-market None 
• Market None 
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8. Benefits and remuneration: our investment in our people continued 
8.1 Share-based payments continued 

(c) Information relating to employee share scheme grants continued 

(iv) Equity-settled Conditional Share Plan (Performance shares) 

Under the Equity-settled Conditional Share Plan (Performance shares), participating employees are granted conditional awards. These awards 
are converted into shares in Hulamin on the achievement of Return on Capital Employed (ROCE) and Total Shareholders’ Return (TSR) 
performance conditions over a three-year period. 

Grant price 

Estimated 
weighted 

average fair 
value per 

right 
Expiring three 

years from 

Number of 
conditional 

awards at 
December 2019 

Conditional 
awards granted 

in 2020 

Conditional 
awards 

forfeited/lapsed 
in 2020 

Number of 
conditional 

awards at 
December 

2020 

Conditional 
time 

constrained 
Nil 3.28 26 July 2018 1 932 170  -  427 195  1 504 975  1 504 975  

Nil 3.22 15 May 2019 1 240 045  -  71 041  1 169 004  1 169 004  

Nil  20 August 2020 -  5 494 877  141 108  5 353 769  5 353 769  

   3 172 215  5 494 877  639 344  8 027 748  8 027 748  

The volume-weighted average share price during the year for Hulamin shares was R1.32 (2019: R2.86). 

The estimated fair value costing of these conditional share awards at the grant date was based on the following significant inputs:  

  2018 2019 2020 
Share price at grant date (R) 4.34 4.11 0.99 
Risk-free interest rate (%) 7.34  7.08  4.08  
Expected volatility (%) 44.34 41.63 57.93 
Expected dividends (%) 3.27  3.49  5.13  
Expected remaining life (months) 7 16 32  
Contractual life (months) 36 36 36 

Vesting conditions: 
• Time Three years 
• Non-market ROCE weighted 67% 
• Market TSR weighted 33% 

(v) Equity-settled Conditional Share Plan (Retention shares) 

Under the Equity-settled Conditional Share Plan (Retention shares), participating employees are granted conditional awards. The vesting of 
the award is conditional on the employee continuing employment with the company or any other employer company until the vesting date. 

Grant 
price 

Estimated 
weighted average 

fair value per 
right 

Expiring three years 
from 

Number of 
conditional 

awards at 
December 2019 

Conditional 
awards 

exercised in 
2020 

Conditional 
awards 

forfeited/laps
ed in 2020 

Number of 
conditional 

awards at 
January 

2020 

Conditional 
time 

constrained 
Nil 3.93 26 July 2018 602 164  -  248 921  353 243  353 243  
   602 164  -  248 921  353 243  353 243  

The volume-weighted average share price during the year for Hulamin shares was R1.32 (2019: R2.86). 
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8. Benefits and remuneration: our investment in our people continued 
8.1 Share-based payments continued 

(c) Information relating to employee share scheme grants continued 

(v) Equity-settled Conditional Share Plan (Retention shares) continued 
The estimated fair value costing of these conditional share awards at the grant date was based on the following significant inputs:  

  2018 
Share price at grant date (R) 4.34 
Risk-free interest rate (%) 7.34 
Expected volatility (%) N/A 
Expected dividends (%) 3.27 
Expected remaining life (months) 7 
Contractual life (months) 36 

Vesting conditions: 
• Time Three years 
• Non-market None 
• Market None 

 
(d) BEE Equity Transactions 

(i) Strategic Partners 

On 22 December 2015, Hulamin concluded agreements with BEE partners to facilitate the acquisition of an equity interest in Hulamin. The BEE 
partners consist of Eligible Employees and long-standing Strategic Partners. 

The Strategic BEE partners, through Imbewu SPV 14 (Pty) Ltd, subscribed for 9 018 000 B1 ordinary, 9 018 000 B2 ordinary shares, and 
18 036 000 B3 ordinary shares at a total cost of R361 000. The fair value of the transaction at grant date is R20 000 000, which was expensed 
in full in the 2015 financial year. The share-based payments charge is based on the number of B1 and B2 ordinary shares. The fair value of the 
B1 share-based payments considers an effective grant price of 50% of the 30-day volume-weighted average price (VWAP) (R5.83) of the 
group’s ordinary shares on grant date, while the fair value of the B2 share-based payments is based on an effective grant price of 100% of the 
same VWAP. 

On the 17 December 2020, Hulamin concluded an extension to the BEE Transaction detailed above. In terms of the BEE Extension Transaction, 
the BEE Transaction was extended for a further five years and two months. In terms of IFRS2, Hulamin treated the BEE Extension Transaction 
as a modification of the existing BEE Transaction and the valuation of the BEE Extension Transaction reflects the market observables at the 
modification date as noted below. The determined fair value of the BEE Extension Transaction at grant date was R10 100 000 and was 
expensed in full in the 2020 financial year.  

The fair value of the transaction was determined using a Black Scholes valuation model using the following significant inputs:  

 BEE Transaction BEE Extension Transaction 

Share price at grant date R5.49 R1.76 

Expected option life Five years Five years and two months 

Lock in period  Three years N/A 

Risk free rate 8.58% 5% 

Expected volatility 43.15% 54.90% 

Expected dividends 0.50% Nil 

Expected remaining life 0 months 62 months 

Contractual life 60 months 62 months 

   
Vesting conditions:   

• Time Five years  
• Non-market None  

• Market Share price  
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8. Benefits and remuneration: our investment in our people continued 
8.1 Share-based payments continued 

(d) BEE Equity Transactions continued 

(ii) 2015 Hulamin Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) 

On 22 December 2015, the ESOP Trust subscribed for 4 721 600 A1 ordinary and 26 755 733 A2 ordinary shares. Under the scheme, 
participating employees are granted conditional awards. The vesting of the award is conditional on the employee continuing employment with 
the company until the vesting date and the employee must fall within stipulated Patterson Bands. 

The fair value of the share-based payments considers an effective grant price of RNil for the A1 shares and an effective grant price of the 30-
day VWAP of the group’s ordinary shares on grant date (R5.83) for the A2 shares, with the grant price reduced by dividends accruing to those 
shares over the vesting period. 

On the 17 December 2020, Hulamin concluded an extension to the BEE Transaction detailed above. In terms of the BEE Extension Transaction, 
the BEE Transaction was extended for a further five years and two months for the 26 755 733 A2 ordinary shares and an additional 4 721 600 
A3 ordinary shares were authorised. These shares were issued to the ESOP Trust in January 2021. In terms of IFRS2, Hulamin treated the BEE 
Extension Transaction as a modification of the existing BEE Transaction and the valuation of the BEE Extension Transaction reflects the market 
observables at the modification date as noted below.  Under the scheme, participating employees are granted conditional awards. The vesting 
of the award is conditional on the employee continuing employment with the company until the vesting date and the employee must fall 
within the stipulated Patterson Bands.  

On the 22 December 2020 and in terms of the BEE Transaction, the 4 721 600 A1 ordinary shares vested as ordinary issued shares of Hulamin. 
At the 31 December 2020, these shares are held by the ESOP Trust pending distribution and have been treated as treasury shares. This 
resulted in a release of R25 900 000 from the group employee share based payment reserve into retained earnings. 

The estimated fair value costing of these conditional share awards at the grant date was based on the following significant inputs: 

 BEE Transaction BEE Extension Transaction 
Share price at grant date R5.49 R1.76 
Risk free rate 8.58% 5% 
Expected volatility 43.15% 54.90% 
Expected dividends 0.50% Nil 
Expected remaining life 0 months 62 months 
Contractual life 60 months 62 months 

Vesting conditions: 
• Time Five Years and Two months 
• Non-market None 
• Market Share price 

(iii) Isizinda Aluminium (Pty) Ltd (Isizinda) 

Bingelela Capital (Pty) Ltd (Bingelela) 
On 1 July 2015, Isizinda acquired the Bayside casthouse business for a purchase consideration of R100.2 million funded by a loan from Hulamin 
to Isizinda. At the time, Bingelela had a 60% interest and Hulamin had a 40% interest in Isizinda. The interest held by Bingelela is accounted for 
as a grant of an equity option. The fair value of the option at the grant date was R27.2 million, which was determined on an indirect basis with 
reference to the intrinsic value of the business. This was determined on an indirect basis with reference to the bargain purchase gain 
(R51.9  million) and the contributed capital of R4 million from the outside shareholder. The time value component was deemed to be nominal. 

During the 2019 financial year, Bingelela and Hulamin Operations agreed on a restructure of Isizinda whereby, inter alia, payments totalling 
R65  million were agreed to be made to Bingelela. This constitutes a settlement of the equity-settled share-based payment. The fair value of 
Bingelela’s 60% interest in Isizinda was determined to be RNil immediately before settlement. 
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8. Benefits and remuneration: our investment in our people continued 
8.1 Share-based payments continued 

(d) BEE Equity Transactions continued 

(iii) Isizinda Aluminium (Pty) Ltd (Isizinda) continued 

Isizinda Employee Share Incentive Scheme Trust (the Trust) 
On 2 February 2016, the Trust purchased a 2.53% interest in Isizinda, in equal portions from Bingelela and Hulamin. The interest held by the 
Trust is treated as a grant of an equity option. The fair value of the option at the grant date was R 1.1 million, which was determined on an 
indirect basis with reference to the intrinsic value of the business. As at 31 December 2019, Bingelela owned 117 472 shares (58.74%) in 
Isizinda and the Trust owned 5 056 shares (2.53%). The fair values of these share-based payments take into account an exercise price of RNil. 

8.2 Retirement benefits 

(a) Accounting policies and significant judgements 

(i) Pension obligations 

The group provides retirement benefits to employees in the form of defined contribution plans. Certain benefits to some employees accrue 
with service and are therefore accounted for as a defined benefit plan. The assets of all retirement schemes are held separately from those of 
the group and are administered and controlled by trustees. 

Contributions to defined contribution schemes are charged to profit or loss when incurred. The cost of providing benefits to the group’s 
defined benefit plan are determined and provided using the projected unit credit actuarial valuation method. Remeasurements, the effect of 
the changes to the asset ceiling (if applicable) and the return on plan assets (excluding interest), is reflected immediately in the statement of 
financial position with a charge or credit recognised in other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement 
recognised in other comprehensive income is reflected immediately in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to profit or loss. 

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the group statement of financial position represents the actual deficit or surplus in the group’s 
defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the present value of any economic benefits available in the form 
of refunds from the plans or reductions in future contributions to the plans. The plan remains in a sound financial position and is governed by 
the Pension Funds Act, 1956 (Act No. 24 of 1956). 

(ii) Post-retirement medical aid benefits and retirement gratuities 

Provisions for post-retirement medical aid benefits and gratuities payable on retirement are calculated on an actuarial basis. Actuarial gains or 
losses are recognised in the same manner as those of pension obligations. 

(iii) Retirement Benefit Schemes 

The group contributes towards retirement benefits for substantially all permanent employees who are required to be a member of one of the 
retirement benefit plans, either pension fund or provident fund, elected by the group. These schemes are governed by the relevant fund 
legislation. Their assets consist primarily of listed shares, fixed income securities, property investments and money market instruments and 
are held separately from those of the group. The scheme assets are administered by boards of trustees, each of which includes elected 
representatives. 

(b) Provident fund 

The group’s contributions to the Metal Industries Provident Fund scheme, a defined contribution plan, amounted to R14.4 million (2019: 
R14.8  million) and were expensed during the year. 
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8. Benefits and remuneration: our investment in our people continued 
8.2 Retirement benefits continued 

(c) Hulamin Pension Fund 
During 2012, members and pensioners accepted an offer made by the fund to convert the benefits of all in-service members from defined 
benefit to defined contribution and to transfer the liabilities for the payment of pensions to an insurer. The group has no further exposure to 
actuarial or investment risk relating to the defined contribution section of the fund. 

In addition to an enhancement of benefits granted by the fund to members and pensioners on conversion, the fund also provided certain 
members with a further benefit which targeted (but provided no guarantee of), at the date of conversion, equivalent benefits on retirement in 
terms of the defined contribution basis as would have been obtained had the member remained on the defined benefit basis (the “retirement 
benefit equalisation value”). 

The assets relating to the retirement benefit equalisation value are held in the employer surplus account and there is no cross-subsidisation 
between the retirement benefit equalisation value and the assets held by the fund in terms of the defined contribution section of the fund. In 
addition to the assets relating to the retirement benefit equalisation value, assets relating to the surplus apportionment to the company are 
held in the employer surplus account. 

The company provides no guarantee in terms of the investment returns that are earned on members’ retirement benefit equalisation values. 
The retirement benefit equalisation value benefit accrues with service and is therefore accounted for as a defined benefit plan in terms of IAS 
19 (revised). The group holds no actuarial or investment risk relating to the retirement benefit equalisation value benefit. 

An actuarial valuation of the group’s defined benefit obligation (in relation to the retirement benefit equalisation value) and assets in the 
employer surplus account was performed in accordance with IAS 19 (revised) at 31 December 2020. The next valuation will be performed at 
31 December 2021. 

 2020 2019 
 R’000 R’000 

(i) Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows:   

Fair value of plan assets (represents amounts held in employer surplus account)    80 325     113 239  

Present value of funded obligations   ( 17 241)   ( 17 679) 

Pension fund asset at end of year    63 084     95 560  

(ii) Movement in the defined benefit obligation is as follows:   

Defined benefit obligation at beginning of year    17 679     16 297  

Current service cost    2 357     2 507  

Interest cost    1 971     1 934  

Remeasurements:   

Actuarial gains arising from changes in financial assumptions   ( 2 069)   ( 1 924) 

Actuarial gains arising from experience adjustments   (  890)   (  356) 

Benefits paid   ( 1 807)   (  779) 

Defined benefit obligation at end of year    17 241     17 679  
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8. Benefits and remuneration: our investment in our people continued 
8.2 Retirement benefits continued 

(c) Hulamin Pension Fund continued 
 2020 2019 
 R’000 R’000 
(iii) Movement in the fair value of plan assets (amounts held in employer surplus 
account) is as follows: 

  

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year    113 239     150 157  
Interest income    9 618     13 205  
Remeasurements:   
Losses on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest income   ( 2 806)   ( 1 325) 
Contribution funded from employer reserves   ( 37 919)   ( 48 019) 
Benefits paid   ( 1 807)   (  779) 

Fair value of plan assets at end of year    80 325     113 239  

The fair value of plan assets comprises the employer surplus account which 
comprises: 

  

Quoted market price in an active market:   
Market risk portfolio    57 798     59 814  
Conservative portfolio 434 354 
Money market and cash    22 093     53 071  
Other assets:   
Loan to employer company (note 3.2)   -      -    

    80 325     113 239  

Balances in respect of the retirement benefit equalisation value included in the fair 
value of plan assets at end of year 

   58 287     60 237  

(iv) The amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss are as follows:   
Defined benefit plan (retirement benefit equalisation value)   ( 5 290)   ( 8 764) 
Current service cost     2 357     2 507  
Net interest income   ( 7 647)   ( 11 271) 
Defined contribution plan    39 726     53 367  
Employer contribution from reserves (utilisation of employer surplus account)    37 919     48 019  
Employer cash contribution    1 807     5 348  
   

    34 436     44 603  

(v) Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are as follows:   
Actuarial gains arising from changes in financial assumptions   ( 2 069)   ( 1 924) 
Actuarial gains arising from experience adjustments   (  890)   (  356) 
Gains on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest income    2 806     1 325  

   (  153)   (  955) 

The average duration of the benefit obligation at 31 December 2020 is 18.0 years 
(2019: 19.0 years).   

(vi) Principal actuarial assumptions at the end of the reporting period are as 
follows:   

Discount rate (%) 11.20 10.30 
Future inflation rate (%) 5.70 5.50 
Sensitivity of discount rate:   
1% increase in discount rate – effect on current service cost   (  295)   (  368) 
1% increase in discount rate – effect on the obligation   ( 2 514)   ( 2 761) 
1% decrease in discount rate – effect on current service cost 358 451 
1% decrease in discount rate – effect on the obligation    3 044     3 378  

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice this is unlikely 
to occur and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity, the same method has been applied as 
when calculating the liability recognised within the statement of financial position. The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing 
the sensitivity analysis did not change compared to the previous year.  
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8. Benefits and remuneration: our investment in our people continued 
8.2 Retirement benefits continued 

(d) Post-retirement Medical Aid Benefits 

The group has undertaken to contribute to the medical aid costs after retirement of employees engaged prior to 30 June 1996. The obligation 
is unfunded. 

 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

(i) Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows:   

Present value of unfunded obligations    175 644     195 739  

Liability in the balance sheet    175 644     195 739  

(ii) The liability can be reconciled as follows:   

Balance at beginning of year    195 739     208 915  

Total expense accrued    15 082     23 757  

Remeasurements:   

Actuarial gains arising from changes in financial assumptions   ( 11 509)   ( 18 151) 

Actuarial gains arising from experience adjustments   ( 9 655)   ( 6 674) 

Benefit payments   ( 14 013)   ( 12 108) 

Balance at end of year    175 644     195 739  

(iii) Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss are as follows:   

Interest costs    19 583     21 531  

Current service costs    1 464     2 226  

    21 047     23 757  

(iv) Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are as follows:   

Remeasurements:   

Actuarial gains arising from changes in financial assumptions   ( 11 509)   ( 18 151) 

Actuarial gains arising from experience adjustments   ( 9 655)   ( 6 674) 

   ( 21 164)   ( 24 825) 

(i) Principal risks 

Through its post-retirement medical aid subsidy benefit, the group is exposed to several risks, principally changes in: 

Financial assumptions: 

• Discount rate, which is set having regard to the market yield on suitable government bonds considering the estimated duration of the 
liability. 

• Long-term price inflation rate, which is measured by the relationship between the yields of conventional and inflation-linked government 
bonds, considering the estimated duration of the liability. 

• Medical inflation rate 

Demographic assumptions: 

• Withdrawal, pre-retirement mortality and ill-health retirement rates 

• Post-retirement mortality 

• Family statistics 

The demographic assumptions used in the valuation of the liability are consistent with those of the prior year. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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for the year ended 31 December 2020 

8. Benefits and remuneration: our investment in our people continued 
8.2 Retirement benefits continued 

Principal actuarial assumptions at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 

 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

Discount rate (%) 11.20 10.30 

Future company subsidy rate – in service (%) 5.70 5.50 

Future company medical subsidy increase – pensioners (%) 7.45 7.25 

Sensitivity of future company subsidy rate:   
1% increase in future company subsidy rate – effect on the aggregate of the service and 
interest costs    2 177     2 526  

1% increase in future company subsidy rate – effect on the obligation    17 563     21 528  
1% decrease in future company subsidy rate – effect on the aggregate of the service and 
interest costs   ( 1 872)   ( 2 145) 

1% decrease in future company subsidy rate – effect on the obligation   ( 15 173)   ( 18 383) 

Sensitivity of discount rate:   

1% increase in discount rate – effect on current service cost   (  242)   (  343) 

1% increase in discount rate – effect on the obligation   ( 14 527)   ( 17 704) 

1% decrease in discount rate – effect on current service cost 244 348 

1% decrease in discount rate – effect on the obligation    17 024     21 005  

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice this is unlikely 
to occur and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity, the same method has been applied as 
when calculating the liability recognised within the balance sheet. The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity 
analysis did not change compared to the previous year. 

The average duration of the benefit obligation at 31 December 2020 is 10.0 years (2019: 10.9 years). This number is analysed as follows: 

• active members 16.8 years (2019: 17.3 years) 

• retired members 8.2 years (2019: 8.7 years) 

 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

Estimated benefits payable by the group in the next financial year    14 356     14 152  

 
  



 

96 Hulamin Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONTINUED 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

8. Benefits and remuneration: our investment in our people continued 
8.2 Retirement benefits continued 

(e) Retirement gratuities 
The group has in the past made discretionary payments, on retirement, to eligible employees who have remained in service until retirement 
age and have completed a minimum service period. This constructive obligation is unfunded. 

 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

(i) Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows:   

Present value of unfunded obligations    27 255     29 268  

Liability in the balance sheet    27 255     29 268  

(ii) The liability can be reconciled as follows:   

Balance at beginning of year    29 268     42 823  

Total expense accrued    4 881     7 206  

Remeasurements:   (4 270) ( 10 653) 

Actuarial gains arising from changes in financial assumptions   ( 1 874)   ( 3 377) 

Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from experience adjustments   ( 2 396)   ( 3 753) 

Curtailment (gain)/loss   -      ( 3 523) 

Gratuity payments   ( 2 624)   ( 10 108) 

Balance at end of year    27 255     29 268  

(iii) Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss are as follows:   

Interest costs    3 111     4 666  

Service costs    1 770     2 540  

    4 881     7 206  

(iv) Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are as follows:   

Actuarial gains arising from changes in financial assumptions   ( 1 874)   ( 3 377) 

Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from experience adjustments   ( 2 396)   ( 3 753) 

Curtailment (gain)/loss   -      ( 3 523) 

   ( 4 270)   ( 10 653) 

(i) Principal risks 

Through its retirement gratuity benefit, the group is exposed to several risks, principally changes in: 

Financial assumptions: 

• Discount rate, which is set having regard to the market yield on suitable government bonds considering the estimated duration of 
the liability. 

• Long-term price inflation rate, which is measured by the relationship between the yields of conventional and inflation-linked 
government bonds, considering the estimated duration of the liability. 

• Salary inflation in excess of price inflation 

Demographic assumptions: 

• Withdrawal, pre-retirement mortality and ill-health mortality rates 

• Post-retirement mortality 

• Family statistics 

The demographic assumptions used in the valuation of the liability are consistent with those of the prior year. 
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8. Benefits and remuneration: our investment in our people continued 
8.2 Retirement benefits continued 

(e) Retirement gratuities continued 
Changes in the principal financial assumptions are detailed below. 

Principal actuarial assumptions at the end of the reporting period are as follows:  

 2020 2019 

  R’000 R’000 

Discount rate (%) 11.20  10.30  

Future salary inflation rate (%) 5.70  5.50  

Sensitivity of future salary inflation rate:   
1% increase in future salary inflation rate – effect on the aggregate of the service and 
interest costs 549 599  

1% increase in future salary inflation rate – effect on the obligation 2 864  3 190  
1% decrease in future salary inflation rate – effect on the aggregate of the service and 
interest costs (477) (518) 

1% decrease in future salary inflation rate – effect on the obligation (2 523) (2 799) 

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice this is unlikely 
to occur and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity, the same method has been applied as 
when calculating the liability recognised within the statement of financial position. The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing 
the sensitivity analysis did not change compared to the previous year.  

The average duration of the benefit obligation at 31 December 2020 is 10.5 years (2019: 10.9 years). 

Estimated retirement gratuities, payable by the group during the next financial year are R2 393 000 (2019: R1 671 000). 
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8. Benefits and remuneration: our investment in our people continued 
8.3 Directors’ remuneration and interest 

8.3.1 Directors’ remuneration 

(i) Directors’ and prescribed officer’s remuneration during the 2020 financial year  

 
Retainer 

fees 
Attendance 

fees 
Cash 

package 

Severance 
and related 
payments 1 

Bonus 
payments8 

Medical aid 
contributions 

Retirement 
fund 

contributions Subtotal 

Value 
of 

options 
granted 

2 Total 

Gains on 
exercise of 

share 
options 

Director Rand Rand Rand Rand Rand Rand Rand Rand Rand Rand Rand 

Non-executive            

T P Leeuw 572 570  444 270       1 016 840   1 016 840   

V N Khumalo3 261 140  198 000       459 140   459 140   

N N A Matyumza4 194 886  97 560       292 446   292 446   

S P Ngwenya 222 030  150 430       372 460   372 460   

GHM Watson 723 231  495 696       1 218 927   1 218 927   

N Maharajh 347 580  222 340       569 920   569 920   

CA Boles  311 276  217 800       529 076   529 076   

B Mehlomakulu  300 006  213 440       513 446   513 446   

RL Larson 570 350  404 868       975 218   975 218   

 3 503 069  2 444 404  -  -   -  -  5 947 473  -  5 947 473  -  

Executive            

R G Jacob   5 139 420  -  211 320  120 303  641 603  6 112 645  633 862  6 746 507  -  

A P Krull5   3 159 820  -   128 329  394 290  3 682 439  -  3 682 439  -  

L M Farquharson6    421 000  -  59 727  31 183  52 500  564 410  177 712  742 122  -  

M Z Mkhize7   589 518  7 838 779   23 653  73 552  8 525 503  -  8 525 503  -  

 -  -  9 309 758  7 838 779  271 047  303 468  1 161 945  18 884 997  811 574  19 696 571  -  

 3 503 069 2 444 404  9 309 758  7 838 779  271 047  303 468  1 161 945  24 832 470  811 574  25 644 044  -  

1 Severance costs include notice pay, leave pay and gratuity on retirement. 

2 The value of the equity-settled options granted is the annual expense determined in accordance with IFRS 2, ‘Share-based Payments’. 
3 Directors’ fees due to a shareholder nominee on the Hulamin Board are paid to the employer organisation and not to the nominee. 
4  N N A Matyumza resigned as director of Hulamin Limited with effect from 30 July 2020. 

5 AP Krull resigned as CFO and from the Hulamin Board with effect from 31 October 2020. 

6 LM Farquharson served as Acting CFO for the period 1 November 2020 to 31 March 2021.  

7 MZ Mkhize resigned as MD of Rolled Products and from the Hulamin Board with effect from 29 February 2020. 

8 The bonus payments reflected above are in relation to the 2020 year, paid out in 2021. 

Executive Committee members’ remuneration (excluding acting executive committee members) during the 2020 financial year1  

 
Cash 

package 
Bonus and performance 

related payments2 
Medical aid 

contributions 
Retirement fund 

contributions 
 

Subtotal 

Value of 
options 
granted Total 

Gains on exercise of 
share options 

 Rand Rand Rand Rand  Rand Rand Rand Rand 
Total  9 936 412  317 704  428 261  1 238 889   11 921 266  862 463  12 783 729  83 292  

    

1 Excluding executive directors. 

2 The bonus payments reflected above are in relation to the 2020 year, paid in 2021. 
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8. Benefits and remuneration: our investment in our people continued 
8.3 Directors’ remuneration and interest continued 

8.3.1 Directors’ remuneration continued 

(ii) Directors’ and prescribed officer’s remuneration during the 2019 financial year  

 

Retainer 
fees 

Attendance 
fees 

Cash 
package 

Severance and 
related 

payments 1 
 Medical aid 

contributions 

Retirement 
fund 

contributions 
Subtotal 

Value 
of 

options 
granted 

 

Total 
Gains on 

exercise of 
share options 

 Rand Rand Rand Rand  Rand Rand Rand Rand Rand Rand 

Non-executive            
T P Leeuw 556 662  270 290       826 952   826 952   
V N Khumalo3 253 883  153 360       407 243   407 243   
N N A Matyumza 324 809  145 210       470 019   470 019   
S P Ngwenya 215 858  99 890       315 748   315 748   
P H Staude4 124 350  26 030       150 380   150 380   
GHM Watson 612 164  274 945       887 109   887 109   
N Maharajh 337 920  152 830       490 750   490 750   
CA Boles  286 784  143 960       430 744   430 744   
B Mehlomakulu  262 114  126 450       388 564   388 564   
RL Larson 500 807  229 918       730 725   730 725   
 3 475 351  1 622 883  -  -   -  -  5 098 234  -  5 098 236  -  
Executive            
R G Jacob   5 139 420    152 284  641,603  5 933 306  -  5 933 306  -  
A P Krull    3 791 784    147 966  473 148  4 412 898  -  4 412 898  -  
M Z Mkhize   3 537 108    163 878  441 314  4 142 300  -  4 142 300  -  
 -  -  12 468 312  -   464 128  1 556 065  14 488 504  -  14 488 504  -  
            
Prescribed officer            
H T Molale5            
D R Weisz6   1 697 185  3 117 120   108 253  211 667  5 134 225  -  5 134 225  -  
 -  -  1 697 185  3 117 120   108 253  211 667  5 134 225  -  5 134 225  -  
 3 475 351  1 622 883  14 165 497  3 117 120   572 381  1 767 732  24 720 963  -  24 720 963  -  

1 Severance costs include notice pay, leave pay and gratuity on retirement. 

2 The value of the equity-settled options granted is the annual expense determined in accordance with IFRS 2, ‘Share-based Payments’. No awards were made 
to the executives in 2019. 

3 Directors’ fees due to a shareholder nominee on the Hulamin Board are paid to the employer organisation and not to the nominee.  

4 P H Staude resigned from the board with effect from 17 June 2019. 

5 HT Molale resigned from Hulamin with effect 31 October 2019. 

6 D R Weisz served as managing director of Hulamin Extrusions to 4 July 2019, when the position was made redundant. 

Executive Committee members’ remuneration (excluding acting executive committee members) during the 2019 financial year1  

 Cash    package 

Bonus and 
performance 

related 
payments2 

Medical aid 
contributions 

Retirement 
fund 

contributions Subtotal 

Value of 
options 
granted Total 

Gains on 
exercise of 

share options 
 Rand Rand Rand Rand Rand Rand Rand Rand 
Total   17 225 178    4 513 278     770 413    2 094 501    24 603 370    -      24 603 370     305 224  

1 Excluding executive directors 

2 Severance costs include notice pay, leave pay and gratuity on retirement.  
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8. Benefits and remuneration: our investment in our people continued 
8.3 Directors’ remuneration and interest continued 

8.3.2 Interest of directors and prescribed officers in share-based instruments 

(i) Hulamin Limited Share Appreciation Right Scheme 2007  

 

Number of 
rights granted 

in 2014 

Number of 
rights granted 

in 2017 

Number of 
rights at 

December 
2019 

Number of 
rights 

exercised in 
2020 

Number of 
rights lapsed 

in 2020 

Number of 
rights at 

December 
2020 

Rights time 
constrained 

Executive directors        

RG Jacob 633 100  604 005  1 237 105   604 005  633 100  604 005  

AP Krull -  327 554  327 554   327 554  -  -  

MZ Mkhize 201 780  304 817  506 597   506 597  -  -  

 834 880  1 236 376  2 071 256  -  1 438 156  633 100  604 005  

Grant Price R6,90 R6.50      

Grant Date 24 Apr 2014 26 Apr 2017      
     

(ii) Employee Conditional Share Plan (Bonus shares)  

 

Number of 
conditional 

awards 
granted in 

2018 

Number of 
conditional 

awards at Dec 
2019 

Number of 
conditional 

awards 
granted in 

2020 

Number of 
conditional 

awards 
lapsed in 

2020 

Number of 
conditional 

awards at Dec 
2019 

Conditional 
awards time 
constrained 

Executive directors       

RG Jacob 117 649  117 649  -  -  117 649  117 649  

L M Farquharson (Acting CFO) 25 183  25 183  -  -  25 183  25 183  

AP Krull 78 538  78 538  -  78 538  -  -  

MZ Mkhize 57 682  57 682  -  57 682  -  -  

 279 052  279 052  -  136 220  142 832  142 832  

Grant price R 6.22       

Grant Date 26 Jul 2018      

(iii) Employee Conditional Share Plan (Performance shares)   

 

Number of 
conditional 

awards 
granted in 

2018 

Number of 
conditional 

awards at Dec 
2019 

Number of 
conditional 

awards 
exercised in 

2020 

Number of 
conditional 

awards 
granted in 

2020 

Number of 
conditional 

awards 
lapsed in 

2020 

Number of 
conditional 

awards at Dec 
2020 

Conditional 
awards time 
constrained 

Executive directors        

RG Jacob 321 279  321 279  -  932 150  -  1 253 429  1 253 429  
L M Farquharson (Acting 
CFO) 65 942  65 942  -  261 341   327 283  327 283  

AP Krull 199 660  199 660  -   199 660  -  -  

MZ Mkhize 152 571  152 571  -  -  152 571  -  -  

 739 452  739 452  -  1 193 491  352 231  1 580 712  1 580 712  

Prescribed Officer        

DR Weisz 125 183  -  -  125 183  125 183    

 125 183  -  -  125 183  125 183    

Grant price R 6.22    R 0.99     

Grant Date 26 Jul 2018   20 Aug 2020    
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8. Benefits and remuneration: our investment in our people continued 
8.3 Directors’ remuneration and interest continued 

8.3.3 Interest of directors and prescribed officers of the company in share capital 
The aggregate holdings as at 31 December 2020 of those directors of the company holding issued ordinary shares of the company are detailed 
below: 

 Direct beneficial shares Indirect beneficial shares Held by associates Shares total 

As at 31 December 2020     

Executive     

R G Jacob 928 432    928 432  

 928 432    928 432  

Non-executive     

C A Boles 60 000    60 000  

G H M Watson 27 763    27 763  

 87 763    87 763  

Total 1 016 195    1 016 195  

As at 31 December 2019     

Executive     

R G Jacob 928 432    928 432  

M Z Mkhize 84 554    84 554  

 1 012 986    1 012 986  

Non-executive     

C A Boles 60 000    60 000  

P H Staude 91 610    91 610  

G H M Watson 27 763    27 763  

 179 373    179 373  

Total 1 192 359    1 192 359  

*PH Staude resigned during the previous financial year and has not been replaced. 

9. Other: detailed disclosure requirements 
9.1 Net finance costs  

 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

Interest expense    45 965     56 513  

Non-current borrowings interest    2 826     8 718  

Current borrowings interest    44 405     49 093  

Interest on lease liabilities 6 324     4 947  

Interest capitalised   (  7 590)   ( 6 245) 

Interest income   ( 9 071)   ( 8 021) 

Net finance costs    36 894     48 492  
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9. Other: detailed disclosure requirements continued 
9.2 Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising between tax bases of the assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. 
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is 
reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow 
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised 
to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the 
asset realised, based on the tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in 
correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in equity. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current income 
tax liabilities, and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.  

 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

Deferred tax asset   

At beginning of year    93 130     17 060  

Deconsolidation of Isizinda (loss of control) 8 953   -    

Tax (charged)/credited directly to equity   -      -    

Statement of profit or loss:   

Current year credit/(charge)   ( 89 693)   (  129) 

Deferred tax charge in other comprehensive income 3 059   (  557) 

Balance transferred from deferred tax liabilities -       76 756  

At end of year    15 449     93 130  

Comprising:   

Fixed assets   -       10 679  

Retirement benefit obligations and other provisions    14 965     31 644  

Provisions and leave accrual -    28 136  

Lease liabilities   -       12 520  

Right-of-use asset   -      ( 4 306) 

Share schemes   -       1 582  

Assessed loss   -      -    

Other 484    12 875  

    15 449     93 130  

Deferred tax asset to be recovered after more than 12 months    14 965     35 486  

Deferred tax asset to be recovered within 12 months 484    57 644  

    15 449     93 130  

 

  



 

Hulamin Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 103 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONTINUED 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

9. Other: detailed disclosure requirements continued 
9.2 Deferred tax continued 

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the group had both assessed losses and deductible temporary differences for which a deferred tax 
asset was not recognised as there was significant uncertainty that there would be sufficient taxable temporary differences and sufficient 
taxable profits in future to absorb the tax asset. 

Income tax expense is recognised based on management’s estimate of the weighted average effective annual income tax rate expected 
for the full financial year. During the 31 December 2020 period, based on an assessment of future cash flows and taxable profits, 
management is of the view that there remains insufficient future taxable profits and taxable temporary differences to utilise the deferred 
tax asset and, as a result, the group has not recognised any deferred tax assets and reversed the previously recognised deferred tax asset 
relating to assessed losses in 2019 from Hulamin Operations of R76 million. 

The group’s unrecognised assessed loss as at 31 December 2020 is R272 million. 

 2020 2019 
 R’000 R’000 
Deferred tax liability   

At beginning of year    16 990     221 060  

Deconsolidation of Isizinda (loss of control) (15 280) - 

Tax (charged)/credited directly to equity   -      ( 1 753) 

Statement of profit or loss:   

Current year credit/(charge) 360   ( 297 263) 

Prior year credit/(charge)   -       3 160  

Deferred tax charge in other comprehensive income   -       15 030  

Transfer of balance to deferred tax asset   -    76 756  

At end of year    2 070     16 990  

Comprising:   

Accelerated tax depreciation   -       18 756  

Provisions and leave pay accruals    2 070    ( 1 766) 

Defined benefit fund   -      -    

Share schemes   -      -    

Hedging reserve   -      -    

Derivative instruments - not designated as hedging instruments   -      -    

    2 070     16 990  

Deferred tax liability to be settled within 12 months 2 070    16 960    

    2 070     16 960  
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9. Other: detailed disclosure requirements continued 
9.3 Taxation 

The charge for current taxation is based on the results for the year as adjusted for income that is exempt and expenses that are not deductible 
using tax rates that are applicable to taxable income. Deferred taxation is recognised in profit or loss except when it relates to items credited 
or charged directly to equity, in which case it is also recognised in equity. 

An income tax asset arises as a result of provisional tax payments made during the year being in excess of the current tax charges. The income 
tax asset in the current year includes overpayments of tax made both in the current year and 2019. 

  2020 2019 

  R’000 R’000 

South African normal taxation:    

Current    

Current year charge     29 962     36 706  

Prior year under/(over) provision  195   ( 8 551) 

Deferred    

Current year (credit)/charge  89 333    ( 297 135) 

Prior year under provision    -       3 160  

  119 490    ( 265 820) 

Foreign capital gains tax    -    465 

     119 490    ( 265 355) 

South African income tax is levied on the company and its subsidiaries and not the 
group.    

Tax rate reconciliation    

Normal rate of taxation % 28.0 28.0 

Adjusted for:    

Special tax allowances % 3.3 0.3 

Prior year (over)/under provision % (0.2)    0.4 

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes % (13.1)  (0.1) 

Income not taxable for tax purposes % -    0.1 

Capital gains tax % (4.2) - 

Other  % (0.2)   - 

Prior year deferred tax asset reversed % (76.5)      -    

Deferred tax asset not recognised % (44.8)    (10.6) 

Effective rate of taxation  (107.7) 18.1 

9.4 Related party transactions 
Balances and transactions between the company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the company, have been eliminated on 
consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Further details of such transactions and balances can be found in the Company financial 
statements. Details of transactions between the group and the pension fund are disclosed below:  

 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

Loan from pension fund (refer note 3.2)   -      -    

Interest paid to pension fund   -    388 

Lease rental income received from joint venture  1 201    -    

Utilities and services charge received from joint venture  11 769    -    

Loan to Isizinda     75 103    -    

Impairment of loan to Isizinda 3 724   -    

Interest income from Isizinda    5 791    -    

Transactions with key management personnel, which comprises directors (executive and non-executive), prescribed officers and members of 
the executive committee, are detailed in note 8.3.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
CONTINUED 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

9. Other: detailed disclosure requirements continued 
9.5 Financial assets and financial liabilities 

The group holds the following financial instruments:  

 

 Financial 
instruments at 
amortised cost 

Financial 
instruments at fair 

value through 
profit or loss 

Derivatives applied 
under hedge 

accounting Total 
 Note R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

2020      

Financial assets – current      

Trade and other receivables  4.3(b) 1 097 335    -      -    1 097 335  

Derivative financial assets  7.1(d)   -       5 313     2 394     7 708  

Cash and cash equivalents  4.1    38 045    -      -       38 045  

  1 135 380     5 313     2 394  1 143 088  

Financial liabilities – current      

Trade and other payables  4.4 1 114 788    -      -    1 114 788  

Borrowings  3.2    789 053    -      -       789 053  

Lease liabilities  3.3    20 514    -      -       20 514  

Derivative financial instruments  7.1(d)   -      -      -      -    

    1 924 355    -      -    1 924 355  

Financial liabilities – non-current      

Borrowings  3.1   -      -      -      -    

Lease liabilities  3.3    47 251    -      -       47 251  

     47 251    -      -       47 251  

2019      

Financial assets – current      

Trade and other receivables 4.3(b)    804 415    -      -       804 415  

Derivative financial assets 7.1(d)   -       24 610     64 050     88 661  

Cash and cash equivalents 4.1    126 207    -      -       126 207  

     930 622     24 610     64 050    1 019 283  

Financial liabilities – current      
Trade and other payables 4.4   1 005 121    -      -      1 005 121  
Borrowings 3.2    352 083    -      -       352 083  
Lease liabilities  3.3    12 088    -      -       12 088  
Derivative financial instruments 7.1(d)   -       18 513     25 513     44 026  
    1 369 292     18 513     25 513    1 413 318  

Financial liabilities – non-current      
Borrowings  3.3   -      -      -      -    
Lease Liabilities  3.1    34 405    -      -       34 405  
     34 405    -      -       34 405  

The group’s exposure to various risks associated with the financial instruments is discussed in note 7. The associated inputs to the fair value calculation, 
where applicable, is provided in note 7. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of 
financial assets mentioned above. 

10. Adoption of new and amended accounting standards 
Several new or amended standards became applicable for the year ended 31 December 2020 as described in note 1.2 (a). The group did not have to 
change its accounting policies or make retrospective adjustments as a result of adopting these standards. 
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
as at 31 December 2020  

  2020 2019 

 Notes R'000 R'000 

ASSETS    

Non-current assets    

Investment in subsidiaries and joint venture 4.1   2 600 296    2 550 367  
Deferred tax asset 6.1    14 965     16 375  

    2 615 261    2 566 742  

Current assets    

Trade and other receivables  6.4    24 360    -    
Income tax asset     1 661     1 870  

     26 021     1 870  

Total assets    2 641 282    2 568 612  

EQUITY    

Stated capital  3.1   1 877 597    1 877 597  
BEE reserve     30 239     20 000  
Employee share-based payment reserve     37 386     63 308  
Retained Earnings     642 503     549 066  

Total equity    2 587 725    2 509 971  

LIABILITIES    

Non-current liabilities    

Post-retirement medical aid benefits 5.1    53 446     58 479  

     53 446     58 479  

Current Liabilities    

Trade and other payables  111 162 

  111 162 

Total liabilities     53 557     58 641  

Total equity and liabilities    2 641 282    2 568 612  
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
for the year ended 31 December 2020  

  2020  2019 

 Notes R'000  R'000 

Revenue from contracts with customers 2.1.1    9 353      15 961  
Interest income 2.1.2    103 289      118 375  

Administrative and other expenses 2.2   ( 20 271)    ( 22 180) 

Net impairment losses on investments in subsidiaries 4.1   -       ( 859 392) 

Operating profit/(loss)     92 371     ( 747 236) 

Taxation  6.2   ( 27 772)    ( 31 846) 

Net profit/(loss) for the year attributable to equity holders of the company     64 599     ( 779 082) 

Other comprehensive income for the year     

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: 5.1    2 916      1 433  

Remeasurement of post-retirement medical obligation 5.1    4 050      1 992  

Income tax effect    ( 1 134)    (  559) 

     

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year attributable to equity holders of company  67 515     ( 777 649) 
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
for the year ended 31 December 2020  

 

Stated         
capital 

Employee         
share-based 

payment reserve 

BEE              
reserve 

Retained 
earnings Total equity 

 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 

Balance at 31 December 2018   1 877 597     57 914     20 000    1 384 917    3 340 428  

Net loss for the year   -      -      -      ( 779 082)   ( 779 082) 

Other total comprehensive income for the year after tax   -      -      -       1 433     1 433  
Value of employee services of subsidiaries-net of 
forfeiture   -       5 699    -      -       5 699  

Settlement of employee share incentives   -      (  305)   -      -      (  305) 

Dividend paid   -      -      -      ( 58 202)   ( 58 202) 

Balance at 31 December 2019   1 877 597     63 308     20 000     549 066    2 509 971  

Net profit for the year   -      -      -    64 599     64 599  

Other total comprehensive income for the year after tax   -      -      -       2 916     2 916  
Value of employee services of subsidiaries-net of 
forfeiture   -      -      -      -      -    

Settlement of employee share incentives   -      -       10 239    -       10 239  

Release of reserve upon vesting of A1 Ordinary Shares     ( 25 922)     25 922    -    

Dividend paid   -      -      -      -      -    

Balance at 31 December 2020   1 877 597     37 386     30 239     642 503    2 587 725  
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COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
for the year ended 31 December 2020  

  2020 2019 
 Notes R'000 R'000 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Cash generated from operations A    73 597     123 271  
Income taxes paid    ( 28 963)   ( 33 792) 
Prior year income tax refund      1 699   
Post-retirement medical aid benefits paid    ( 6 643)   ( 6 470) 
Net cash inflow from operating activities     39 690     83 009  
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Increase in investments in subsidiaries 4.1   ( 39 690)   ( 24 502) 
Cash flows before financing activities ("free cash flow")    ( 39 690)   ( 24 502) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Settlement of employee share incentives schemes     -    (  305) 
Dividends paid    -      ( 58 202) 
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities     -    ( 58 507) 
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents  -   -    
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year    -      -    
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  -   -    

    
A:  CASH GENERATED BEFORE WORKING CAPITAL CHANGES    
Operating profit/(loss)     92 371    ( 747 236) 
Adjusted for:    
Post-retirement medical aid actual expense 5.1    5 660     6 038  

Value of employee services received under share schemes    -       5 699  
Net impairment losses on investments in subsidiaries    -       859 392  

Cash generated before working capital changes     98 031     123 893  
Changes in working capital  B   ( 24 434)   (  622) 

Cash generated from operations     73 597     123 271  

B:  CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL    
Increase in trade and other receivables    ( 24 385)   -    
Decrease in trade and other payables    (  49)   (  622) 

  ( 24 434)   (  622) 
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

1. General 
1.1 Basis of preparation 

The company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), IFRIC 
interpretations, SAICA Financial Reporting guides, the requirements of the Companies Act, no. 71 of 2008, as amended, and the Listing 
Requirements of the JSE Limited. 

The basis of preparation is consistent with the prior year, except for new and revised standards and interpretations adopted per note 1.2 to 
the group financial statements all of which had no material impact on the company’s reported results or financial position. 

The separate financial statements are prepared using the historical cost basis except as set out in the accounting policies which follow (see the 
accounting policy relating to share based payments). 

The financial statements are prepared on the going-concern basis using accrual accounting (refer to note 1.10 of the Group financial 
statements for reference to the going-concern assessment). 

Assets and liabilities and income and expenses are not offset unless specifically permitted by an accounting standard. Financial assets and 
financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported only when a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts exists and the intention 
is either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Accounting policies are the specific principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices applied in preparing and presenting financial 
statements. Changes in accounting policies resulting from the initial application of a standard or an interpretation are accounted for in 
accordance with the transitional provisions in the accounting standard. If no such guidance is given, they are applied retrospectively. 

1.2 New accounting standards 
New and revised standards and interpretations have been highlighted in note 1.2 to the Group financial statements. These standards and 
interpretations have had an immaterial impact on the company financial statements. 

New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet effective have been highlighted in note 1.2 of the Group financial statements. These standards and 
interpretations are expected to have an immaterial impact on the company financial statements. 

1.3 Accounting for assets and liabilities 
Recognition of assets and liabilities 

Assets and liabilities are recognised when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with them will flow to and from the company 
respectively, and when their costs or fair values can be measured reliably. 

Financial instruments are recognised when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are 
recognised based on trade dates. 

Derecognition of assets and liabilities 

Financial assets or parts thereof are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows have expired, been transferred and or 
control has passed. 

All other assets are derecognised on disposal or they no longer meet the definition of an “asset” as prescribed by the Framework. Financial 
liabilities are derecognised when the relevant obligation has either been discharged, cancelled or has expired. 

1.4 Judgements made by management 
The key judgements, assumptions and sources of estimation uncertainty at the statement of financial position date that could have a 
significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities within the next financial year are: 

1.4.1 Post-employment benefit obligations 

Actuarial valuations of post-employment benefit obligations are based on assumptions which include employee turnover, mortality rates, 
discount rate, expected long-term rate of return on retirement plan assets, healthcare costs, mortality rates, family statistics, inflation rates 
and salary increments. Management experts are used to assist with valuations of post-employment benefit obligations. Refer note 5.1. 

1.4.2 Share-based payment transactions 

The critical estimates and assumptions used in the IFRS 2 calculations are disclosed in note 8.1 of the group financial statements. Management 
experts are used to determine the grant date fair value of options granted. Management assesses the likelihood of achieving non-market 
performance measures based on approved budgets and business plan. 
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

1. General continued 
1.4 Judgements made by management continued 

1.4.3 Provision for expected credit losses of intercompany loans 

The company determines the maximum period over which expected impairment losses should be measured as the longest contractual period 
where an entity is exposed to credit risk. In the case of loans repayable on demand, the contractual period is the very short period needed to 
transfer cash once demanded. 

In a scenario where the borrower has sufficient highly available liquid assets to repay the loan, the credit losses are likely to be very close to 
zero. Judgement is required to determine whether a borrower has available facilities at reporting dates to determine the magnitude of the 
allowance which should be raised. 

If the borrower is unable to immediately repay the loan if demanded by the lender, the lender might expect that it would maximise recovery 
of the loan by allowing the borrower time to pay, instead of forcing the borrower to liquidate or sell some or all of its assets to repay the loan 
immediately. Management considers the general 3-stage general impairment model in determining the magnitude of the impairment: 

• Probability of default: The likelihood that the borrower would not be able to repay in the very short-term payment period. 

• Loss given default: That is, the loss that occurs if the borrower is unable to repay in that very short payment period. 

• Exposure at default: That is, the outstanding balance at the reporting date. 

If the borrower at reporting date does not have sufficient liquid assets available, the lender will need to determine what its recovery scenarios 
are to determine the exposure at default. Management has considered that they will not require a ‘fire sale’ of the borrowers’ assets but 
would allow the borrower time to settle the debt based on the free cash flows generated from the latest business plan for the entity. 

Management will adopt a ‘repay over time’ strategy. Management will utilise future cash flow forecasts to determine the necessary time 
required to repay the loan and as such, the loss given default would be limited to the effect of discounting the amount due on the loan. 

1.5 Events after the reporting period 
Events after the reporting period are those events, favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the end of the reporting period and the 
date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. Management has considered the relevant events during this period and 
concluded that they are non-adjusting events as determined in accordance with IAS 10, ‘Events after the reporting period’. Details of material 
non-adjusting events are provided below. 

These have been highlighted in note 1.9 of the group financial statements. 

2. Performance 
2.1 Measures used to assess performance 

2.1.1 Revenue from contracts with customers 

Revenue of the company comprises management fees and agency fees earned from related companies within the group. Management and 
agency fees are earned from Hulamin Operations Proprietary Limited. 

Management fees are earned on expenditure incurred such as consulting fees, directors’ fees, etc. Revenue is measured at the fair value of 
the consideration received or receivable. 

Management and agency fees are recognised as the services are performed. 

2.1.2 Interest income 

Interest income comprises interest earned on loan to subsidiary. Interest income is accrued on a time basis using the effective interest rate 
method. When a loan and receivable is impaired, the company reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated 
future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. 
Interest income on impaired loans and receivables is recognised using the original effective interest rate. 
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

2. Performance continued 
2.2 Expenses by nature 

 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

Post-employment medical aid costs     4 786     5 225  

Other costs    8 828     16 955  

    13 614     22 180  

Directors’ emoluments   

Non-executives   

Fees    6 657     5 099  

    6 657     5 099  

3. Debt/equity: Measures to assess group leverage 
3.1 Share capital and share premium 

Transactions relating to the acquisition and sale of shares in the company, together with their associated incremental direct costs, are 
accounted for in equity. Other transactions are accounted for directly in equity only if permitted by the standards. 

Authorised 

800 000 000 ordinary shares of no par value (2019: 800 000 000 ordinary shares of no par value) 

31 477 333 A ordinary shares of no par value (2019: 31 477 333 ordinary shares of no par value) 

36 072 000 B ordinary shares of no par value (2019: 36 072 000 ordinary shares of no par value) 

The A ordinary shares consist of 26 755 733 A2 shares and 4 721 600 A3 shares. 

The B ordinary shares consist of 9 018 000 B1 shares, 9 018 000 B2 shares and 18 036 000 B3 shares. 

 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

Ordinary shares   
Opening balance: 324 318 436 ordinary shares of no par value (2019: 319 596 836 
ordinary shares of no par value) 1 817 627 1 817 580 

Issued during the year : Nil (2019: Nil) - - 
Conversion of 4 721 600 A1 ordinary shares to ordinary shares during the year (2019: 
nil)   

A ordinary shares   
Opening balance and closing balance: 26 755 733 A2 shares of no par value 
(2019: 4 721 600 A1 and 26 755 733 A2 shares of no par value) 59 609 59 656 

B ordinary shares   
Opening balance and closing balance: 9 018 000 B1, 9 018 000 B2 and 18 036 000 B3 
shares of no par value (2019: 9 018 000 B1, 9 018 000 B2 and 18 036 000 B3 shares of 
no par value) 361 361 

Total issued stated capital 1 877 597 1 877 597 
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

3. Debt/equity: Measures to assess group leverage continued 
3.1 Share capital and share premium continued 

A and B ordinary shares 
All A ordinary shares and B ordinary shares have voting rights which rank pari passu with ordinary shares. 

4 721 600 A3 ordinary shares were authorised in terms of the BEE Extension transaction prior to 31 December 2020 and were issued on 13 
January 2021. 

4 721 600 A1 ordinary shares vested and were converted into issued ordinary shares on 22 December 2020. 

A3 ordinary shares are entitled to dividends whilst all A2 and B ordinary shares have no entitlement to dividends. 

Unissued 

Under option to employees: 

Details of the employee share incentive schemes including the share options outstanding at the end of the year, the range of exercise prices 
and the weighted average contractual lives related thereto, are set out in note 8.1 of the group financial statements. 

Under the control of the directors: 

At 31 December 2020, 6 801 529 unissued ordinary shares (2019: 6 801 529) were under the control of the directors, for the purpose, inter 
alia, of existing employee share incentive schemes.  

Issued shares movement schedule   

 2020 2019 

 No. No. 

Ordinary shares:   

Opening Balance    319 596 836    319 596 836  

A1 shares converted to issued share capital    4 721 600  -  

Closing Balance    324 318 436    319 596 836  

   

A ordinary shares:   

Opening balance    31 477 333    31 477 333  

Converted to issued shares    (4 721 600) -  

Closing balance    26 755 733    31 477 333  

   

B ordinary shares:    

Opening balance    36 072 000    36 072 000  

Movement    -      -    

Closing balance    36 072 000    36 072 000  

3.2 Dividends per share 

Dividends to equity holders are only recognised as a liability when approved by the board of directors and are included in the statement of 
changes in equity. 

 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

Dividends per share declared   
Final dividend: Nil cents on 324 318 436 ordinary shares (2019: Nil cents on 319 596 836 
ordinary shares)   -      -    

Final dividend:  Nil cents on 4 721 600 A1 ordinary shares before conversion to ordinary 
shares (2019: Nil cents on 4 721 600 A1 ordinary shares)   -      -    

Total   -      -    

No dividend was declared in respect of the 2020 financial year. 
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

4. Investments: Investments in subsidiaries and joint venture 
4.1 Investment in subsidiaries and joint venture 

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the group has control, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting 
rights. 

The company financial statements recognise interests in subsidiaries, which include loans granted to subsidiaries by the company, at cost, 
except in the case of certain limited group reorganisations where net assets are disposed. In these instances, interests in subsidiaries will be 
based on the carrying amount of the net assets disposed. 

The company applied the expected credit loss model in considering the loss allowance required at the respective year end. The maximum 
period over which expected loss allowances should be measured is the longest contractual period over which the company is exposed to 
credit risk. As the loan is repayable on demand, the exposure to credit risk is the period between an assumed demand at the financial year-end 
and the period it would take the subsidiary to settle the outstanding balance. Hulamin Operations Proprietary Limited has sufficient facilities 
available at financial year-end to repay the full loan balance on demand. The company is therefore not exposed to credit risk and no loss 
allowance has been provided for on the outstanding loan balance. 

 2020 
R’000 

2019 
R’000 

Investment in shares in subsidiaries 
Loan to subsidiary 

1 641 814 
958 482 

1 631 576 
918 791 

 2 600 296 2 550 367 

Included in the investment in shares in subsidiaries is an investment in cumulative redeemable preference shares issued by Hulamin 
Operations Proprietary Limited. 

No impairment (2019: R859 million) was recognised in the current year as a result of the carrying amount of the investee’s assets exceeding 
the carrying amount of the investment. 

The effective interest rate on the loan to subsidiary for the year was 10.12% variable interest (2019: 12.9%). No repayment terms have been 
set, and consequently no portion of the loan is considered past due. 

The loan to subsidiary is subordinated in favour of Nedbank as security for group borrowings.  

The company holds the following direct and indirect investments: 

 
Country of 

incorporation 

Percentage 
equity interest 

2020 

Percentage 
equity interest 

2019 
 

Principal activities 
Subsidiaries     
Hulamin Rolled Products (Pty) Ltd* South Africa 100 100 Dormant 
Hulamin Containers (Pty) Ltd*# South Africa 100 100 Container fabricator 

Hulamin Operations (Pty) Ltd South Africa 100 100 Semi-fabrication and fabrication of 
rolled aluminium products 

Hulamin Extrusions (Pty) Ltd* South Africa 100 100 Semi-fabrication of extruded 
aluminium products 

Hulamin North America LLC* United States 
of America 100 100 Sales office 

     
Joint venture     
Isizinda Aluminium (Pty) Ltd (note 6.1(d)) South Africa 38.7 38.7 Property owning company 

 
* Subsidiaries of Hulamin Operations (Pty) Ltd. 
# Formerly known as Hulamin Systems (Pty) Ltd and into which the Containers division was sold on 1 November 2020. 
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

5. Benefits and remuneration: Our investment in employees 
5.1 Post-retirement medical aid benefits 

The company has undertaken to contribute to the medical aid costs after retirement of employees engaged prior to 30 June 1996. The 
obligation is unfunded.  

 2020 2019 
 R’000 R’000 
Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows:   
Present value of unfunded obligations   53 446    58 479  
Liability in the statement of financial position   53 446    58 479  

The liability can be reconciled as follows:   
Balance at beginning of year   58 479    60 902  
Total expense accrued   5 660    6 038  
Remeasurements:   
Actuarial gains arising from changes in financial assumptions   (2 370)   (2 444) 
Actuarial gains arising from changes in experience adjustments   (1 680) 453 
Benefit payments   (6 643)   (6 470) 
Balance at end of year   53 446    58 479  

Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss are as follows:   
Interest costs   5 660    6 038  
   5 660    6 038  

Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are as follows:   
Remeasurements:   
Actuarial gains arising from changes in financial assumptions   (2 370)   (2 444) 
Actuarial gains arising from experience adjustments   (1 680) 453 

Principal risks 

Through its post-retirement medical aid subsidy benefit, the group is exposed to several risks, principally changes in: 

• Financial assumptions: 

 Discount rate, which is set having regard to the market yield on suitable government bonds, taking into account the estimated 
duration of the liability. 

 Long-term price inflation rate, which is measured by the relationship between the yields of conventional and inflation-linked 
government bonds, taking into account the estimated duration of the liability. 

 Medical inflation rate 

• Demographic assumptions: 

 Post-retirement mortality 

 Family statistics 

The demographic assumptions used in the valuation of the liability are consistent with those of the prior year. Changes in the principal 
financial assumptions are detailed below. 

Principal financial assumptions: 

  2020 2019 
Discount rate (%) 11.20 10.30 
Future company subsidy rate – in service (%) 6.70 6.50 
Future company subsidy rate – pensioners (%) 7.45 7.25 
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

5. Benefits and remuneration: Our investment in employees continued 
5.1 Post-retirement medical aid benefits continued 

Sensitivity of future medical inflation rate 

 2020 
R’000 

2019 
R’000 

1% increase in future medical inflation rate   

– effect on the aggregate of the service and interest costs 401 426 

1% increase in future medical inflation rate – effect on the obligation 3 574 4 132 

1% decrease in future medical inflation rate   

– effect on the aggregate of the service and interest costs (360) (381) 

1% decrease in future medical inflation rate – effect on the obligation (3 219) (3 071) 

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other 
assumptions constant. In practice this is unlikely to occur and changes in some of the 
assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity, the same method has been 
applied as when calculating the liability recognised within the statement of financial position. 
The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change 
compared to the previous year. The average duration of the benefit obligation at 31 December 
2020 is 7.2 years (2019: 7.2 years). 

  

Estimated benefits payable by the company in the next financial year 6 850 7 051 

6. Other: Other detailed disclosure requirements 
6.1 Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising between tax bases of the assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 
financial statements. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the 
asset realised, based on the tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current income tax assets against current 
income tax liabilities, and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

 2020 
R’000 

2019 
R’000 

Deferred tax asset   

At beginning of year 16 375 17 060 

Deferred tax in the statement of profit or loss:   

Current year charge (276) (126) 

Deferred tax credit on other comprehensive items (1 134) (559)) 

At end of year 14 965 16 375 

Comprising:   

Post-retirement medical aid provision 14 965 16 375 

Other – - 

 14 965 16 375 

Deferred tax asset to be recovered after more than 12 months 14 965 16 375 

Deferred tax asset to be recovered within 12 months – - 

 14 965 16 375 
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 

6. Other: Other detailed disclosure requirements continued 
6.2 Taxation 

The charge for current taxation is based on the results for the year as adjusted for income that is exempt and expenses that are not deductible 
using tax rates that are applicable to taxable income. Deferred taxation is recognised in profit or loss except when it relates to items credited 
or charged directly to equity, in which case it is also recognised in equity. 

  2020 2019 
  R’000 R’000 
South African normal taxation:    
Current    
Current year     27 302     31 720  
Prior year under/(over) provision  195   -    
Deferred    
Current year     276  126 
     27 772     31 846  

Tax rate reconciliation    
Normal rate of taxation % 28.0 28.0 
Adjusted for:    
Allowances not included in the statement of profit and loss % 0.2  
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes % 1.9   (  23.7) 
Effective rate of taxation  30.1 4.3 

6.3 Related party transactions 

During the year the company, in the ordinary course of business, entered the following related party transactions: 

 2020 2019 

 R’000 R’000 

Interest received from subsidiary   103 277    118 375  

Agency fees received from subsidiary 104 104 

Management fees received from subsidiary   9 249    15 857  
Transactions with non-executive directors are detailed in the group annual financial 
statements.   

The following balances were outstanding at the end of the reporting period:   

Loan balance owing by subsidiary (note 4.1)   958 482    918 791  

6.4 Trade and other receivables 
During the year the company, in the ordinary course of business had the following trade and other receivables. This primarily consists of 
sundry debtors in the form of accrued interest receivable on the shareholders loan and the VAT receivable. Refer to disclosure below:   

Financial and non-financial assets   

 2020 2019 

 R'000 R'000 

Financial assets   24 295    -    

Sundry receivables   24 295    -    

Non-financial assets 65   -    

Value-added taxation receivable 65   -    

   24 360    -    

7. Financial risk management 
The company’s risk management is incorporated in the group’s risk management process and is predominantly controlled by a central treasury 
department (group treasury) under policies approved by the board of directors. Group treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close 
co-operation with the group’s operating units. The board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific 
areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and use of derivative financial instruments. Further detail can be obtained in Note 7 of 
the consolidated annual financial statements.  
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDERS 
 Number of 

ordinary 
shareholders 

 
Percentage 

of total 

 
Number of 

shares 

Percentage of 
issued shares 

Ordinary shareholders 
1 – 1 000 
1 001 – 10 000 
10 001 –100 000 
100 001 – 1 000 000 
Over 1 000 000 shares 

 
3 317 
1 391 

732 
155 

34 

 
58,93 
24,71 
13,00 

2,76 
0,60 

 
739 444 

5 562 085 
25 601 117 
52 113 273 

240 302 517 

 
0,23 
1,72 
7,89 

16,07 
74,09 

 5 629 100,0 324 318 436 100,0 

Public/non-public shareholders 
Non-public shareholders 

 
6 

 
0,11 

 
111 511 048 

 
34,39 

Directors of the company 
Extended family of Directors 
Strategic holding (more than 10%) Treasury Stock 
Treasury Stock  

4 
0 
1 
1 

0, 07 
N/A 

0,02 
0,02 

1 100 749 
- 

94 587 954 
15 822 345 

0,34 
N/A 

29,17 
4,88 

Public shareholders 5 623 99,89 212 807 388 65,61 
Total listed shareholders 5 629 100,00 324 318 436 100,00 

Beneficial shareholders holding more than 3% of share capital 
Industrial Development Corporation 
Biccard, JL 
Ninety One 
Hulamin Operations (Pty Ltd 
Investec 

 
94 587 954 
31 894 766 
16 193 301 
15 822 345 
16 193 301 

 
29,17 

9,83 
4,99 
4,88 
4,99 

Total  
174 691 667 

53,86 

A and B ordinary shareholders (refer to note 3.5 in the annual financial statements) 
Hulamin ESOP 
A2 ordinary (voting and beneficial) 
BEE strategic partners  
B1 ordinary (voting and beneficial)  
B2 ordinary (voting and beneficial) 
B3 ordinary (voting only) 

 
 

26 755 733 
 

9 018 000 
9 018 000 

18 036 000 

 
 

42,59 
 

14,35 
14,35 
28,71 

Total non-listed A and B ordinary shareholders 62 827 733 100,00 
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CORPORATE INFORMATION 
Hulamin Limited 

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa) Registration number: 

1940/013924/06 

Share code: HLM ISIN: ZAE000096210 

Founded: 1940 

Listed: 2007 

Sector: Industrial Metals and Mining 
 
Business address and registered office 

Moses Mabhida Road Pietermaritzburg 3200 

 
Postal address 

PO Box 74 

Pietermaritzburg 3200 
 
Contact details 

Telephone: +27 33 395 6911 

Facsimile: +27 33 394 6335 Website: www.hulamin.co.za Email: 

hulamin@hulamin.co.za 
 
Securities exchange listing 

South Africa (Primary) JSE Limited 
 
Transfer secretaries 

Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited 

Private bag X9000 

Saxonwold 

2132 

South Africa 
 
Auditors 

Ernst & Young Inc. 102 Rivonia Road, Sandton 

2146 

Private Bag X14, Sandton, 2146 

Practice number: 918288 

Telephone: +27 11 772 3000 

Facsimile: +27 11 772 4000 Website: http://www.ey.com 

Sponsor 

Questco Corporate Advisory Proprietary Limited 1st Floor, Yellowwood 

House 

Ballywoods Office Park 33 Ballyclare Drive Bryanston 

2191 

Telephone: +27 11 011 9200 Email: sponsor@questco.co.za Website: 

www.questco.co.za 
Directorate 

Non-executive directors 
CA Boles* 

VN Khumalo 

RL Larson* 

TP Leeuw, Chairman* 

N Maharajh* 

NNA Matyumza*1 

B Mehlomakulu 

SP Ngwenya 

GHM Watson* 

GC Zondi (Alternate) 

 
Executive directors 
RG Jacob, Chief Executive Officer 

AP Krull, Chief Financial Officer2 

LM Farquharson, Acting Chief Financial Officer 3 

M Gounder, Chief Financial Officer 4 

MZ Mkhize, Managing Director: Hulamin Rolled Products5 

 
* Independent non-executive directors 
1 Resigned 30 July 2020 
2Resigned 31 October 2020 
3 Appointed Acting Chief Financial Officer for the period 1 November 2020 to 31 
March 2021 
4Appointed Chief Financial Officer 1 April 2021 
5Resigned 28 February 2020 

 
Company Secretary 

W Fitchat 

Email: willem.fitchat@hulamin.co.za 

 
Corporate information and investor relations 
BA Mngadi 

Email: Ayanda.Mngadi@hulamin.co.za 
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PART A
The chairperson’s statement
Dear Shareholders

It is with pleasure that I present to you the remuneration report for the 2020 financial year,  
on behalf of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee (Remco). The purpose of this report 
is to provide stakeholders with a detailed summary of the organisation-wide philosophy and 
policy pertaining to remuneration at Hulamin. In accordance with Hulamin’s dedication to being 
a responsible corporate citizen, this report has been aligned to follow best practice reporting 
standards, incorporating the King IV Report on Corporate Governance (King IV™) and the 
Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE) Listings Requirements.

In almost all areas of the business, 2020 was a challenging year for Hulamin. In this context, no 
short-term incentive (STI) bonus was paid due to the business not achieving financial performance 
targets. Employees outside the bargaining unit were not awarded salary increases on the back of 
the restructuring exercise undertaken in 2019, and as a result of the focus on cost containment. 
The 2016 Share Appreciation Rights scheme (“SARs”) award scheduled to vest in 2020 also did not 
vest as a result of financial performance targets missed in 2019. 

Mrs NNA Matyumza retired from the Hulamin Board in 2020. Mrs Matyumza had been a Board 
member since March 2010, had been a member of the Remco since January 2012, and had chaired 
the Remco since October 2012. The Remco would like to express its appreciation for her service to 
the committee during this time.

REMCO focus areas during 2020
In addition to Remco’s normal responsibilities, the Board requested that it find ways of harnessing 
additional employee discretionary effort to increase sales volumes, which have declined so notably 
during the Covid-19 pandemic months. 

In the first quarter of 2020, with the rapid spread of Covid-19 and governments around the 
world introducing lockdowns, it became clear that 2020 production and sales targets would not 
be achieved. Accordingly, Remco took the decision that the STI targets could not be achieved. 
Business focus during the first half of the year was primarily on efforts to reduce costs and return to 
profitability through increasing sales, and on protecting employee well-being during the second and 
third quarters. 

During the third quarter the Remco responded to the Board’s request, and proposed offering 
employees a simplified, scaled-down incentive based loosely on the existing STI rules, and 
applicable to the fourth quarter of 2020 only. The primary objective of this incentive was to  
return the business to profitability in the fourth quarter through increased sales volumes.  

PART A 
The chairperson’s 
statement 1

PART B 
The forward-looking 
remuneration policy  3

PART C 
The implementation  
of the 2019  
remuneration policy 9

Composition  
of the committee:
Chairman (Remuneration)
NNA Matyumza
(retired 30 July 2020)

CA Boles 
(appointed from 1 August 2020)

Chairman (Nominations)
TP Leeuw

Other member
GH Watson

CHARLES ALEXANDER BOLES

REMUNERATION REPORT
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The performance measure used for the incentive was actual sales volume achieved versus the 
agreed target, with the pay-out value limited to 10% of profit (EBIT) earned in the fourth quarter.  
In this way, the incentive was self-funding and served to drive shareholder value.

The Remco has obtained the support, advice and opinions of external advisors on various 
remuneration-related matters. The Remco is satisfied with the constructive, objective and 
independent advice received. 

Management remuneration – a dynamic context
Issues around executive remuneration, disparities in pay, and transparent disclosure remain topics 
that stimulate widely diverse opinions in South Africa. Cognisant of these issues, the Remco has 
continued to implement initiatives and policy changes in line with King IV™ and the JSE Listings 
Requirements.

In addressing the requirements of the Employment Equity Act 55 of 1998 in relation to the 
principle of equal pay for work of equal value, the Remco has developed a Fair and Ethical Pay 
framework. In addition, when annual salary (inflationary) increments are applied, adjustments are 
weighted in favour of employees at lower remuneration levels.

In line with best practice, King IV™ and the JSE Listings Requirements, we will continue to submit 
the remuneration policy (Part B) and the implementation report (Part C) for separate, non-binding 
advisory votes at AGMs. 

Shareholder engagement
In line with best practice and our value of remuneration being aligned with shareholders and their 
interests, we regularly engage with shareholders, as and when required.

Appreciation
The Remco is satisfied that we properly executed our duties in terms of our mandate for the 
FY2020. At the AGM held on 30 July 2020, Hulamin received a 95.90% non-binding advisory vote 
in favour of its remuneration policy and 96.10% in favour of its implementation report. We would 
therefore like to thank our shareholders for their ongoing support as we continually seek to align 
shareholder interests and remuneration. We at Hulamin and, particularly, the Remco, are steadily 
continuing on the journey of implementing best practice standards in our remuneration reporting 
and disclosure.

CA Boles
Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee

25 March 2021

REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED
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PART B
The forward-looking remuneration policy
The Remco is a sub-committee of the board of Hulamin (the “Board”) with delegated authority. 
Hulamin’s remuneration policy is reviewed annually by the Remco and submitted for approval 
by the Board. The Remco’s responsibilities and actions are set out and governed in its terms of 
reference, read together with Hulamin’s remuneration policy and other applicable documents.

The Remco meets at least three times per annum. The Remco members and their meeting 
attendance record for FY2020 is detailed below:

2 March 11 August 20 August 6 October 17 November
 Member Scheduled Special Scheduled Scheduled Special

NA Matyumza ✔

CA Boles ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔

TP Leeuw ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔

GH Watson ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔

In 2020, scheduled Remco meetings were held on 2 March, 11 August, and 17 November, with two 
additional special meetings on 20 August and 6 October.

Management members who are invited to attend Remco meetings are excused when their 
remuneration is discussed, and do not participate in any vote at the meeting.

Remuneration philosophy
The purpose of the remuneration policy is to provide principles and guidelines on an organisation-
wide remuneration structure. This includes the management of remuneration practices that enable 
Hulamin to attract, motivate, retain and reward the most talented employees – a key component 
of the integrated human resources strategies that support the achievement of Hulamin’s strategic 
objectives. The philosophy serves to align the interests of management and shareholders, and is 
communicated clearly to employees concerned. 

Hulamin’s remuneration philosophy through the application of this policy, aims to:

Hulamin’s remuneration philosophy is geared towards pay for performance within the boundaries 
of the company’s risk appetite, and is cognisant of the need to guard against windfalls or undue 
penalisation due to factors outside of employees’ control. Variable pay should not be unduly 
affected by the performance of a particular operation in which an employee works, where factors 
outside the employee’s control affect the company’s financial results (e.g. commodity price or 
currency fluctuations).

Fair and responsible 
remuneration
The Board, supported by the Remco, gives 
due consideration to the principle of fair 
and responsible remuneration. As there is 
no one-size-fits-all solution, the Remco must 
review and approve initiatives, policies and 
arrangements to give effect to this principle, 
in line with best practice and bearing in mind 
the company’s strategic objectives.

The Remco must ensure that executive 
remuneration (including the remuneration of 
prescribed officers) is justifiable in the context 
of overall employee remuneration. The Remco 
may make recommendations to the Board and 
assist in taking the following actions: 

In striving to be a responsible corporate 
citizen, Hulamin continuously considers 
initiatives to nurture the principle of fair and 
responsible remuneration, and to improve 
the employment conditions of all employees 
within the company. Hulamin will adopt 
progressive measures to address identified 
pay disparities, as deemed necessary from 
time-to-time.

Investigating and assessing  
the internal pay disparities 
within the Company.

Reviewing Hulamin’s internal 
Gini coefficient to assess the 
level of income disparity in 
Hulamin.

Examining the underlying 
reasons for pay disparities,  

if any.

Conducting an assessment 
of pay conditions between 
employees in line with the 

principle of equal pay for 
work of equal value.

Encourage a culture of 
enterprise and innovation 

through providing appropriate 
individual and company 

short-term and long-term 
performance related rewards 
that are fair and responsible.

Promote an ethical 
culture and responsible 
corporate citizenship.

Promote positive 
outcomes across the 
economic, social and 

environmental context 
in which Hulamin 

operates. 
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Remuneration mix
STRUCTURE OF PACKAGES
The quantum, structure, composition and mix of remuneration packages supports Hulamin’s strategic objectives, is market related, and is aimed at 
being competitive in our industry. To this end, market surveys are conducted annually and used as input where action is required to ensure that the 
above principles are applied fairly to all stakeholders. 

The appropriate mix between guaranteed and variable pay (including the short- and long-term elements of remuneration) are reviewed by the Remco 
and the Board from time to time, taking market trends into consideration. The Remco ensures that the variable components of remuneration are 
designed to ensure an appropriate level of risk to the company and its long-term objectives, avoiding any possible over-dependence on its variable 
components. 

Note that at lower salary levels, variable pay constitutes a smaller proportion of total remuneration.

TOTAL GUARANTEED PAY (TGP)

Cash salary The major portion of guaranteed pay consists of a cash salary. Regular benchmarking exercises are conducted 
to ensure that Hulamin employees’ cash salary is market related and appropriately competitive. 

Employer contributions
Guaranteed pay also includes an employer contribution to a company-approved retirement fund and medical 
aid, as well as a cellular phone allowance based on the employee’s grade, and a 13th cheque amounting to 10% 
of the annual basic salary for all employees from lower E-band and below.  

Premiums It is recognised that market premiums may be necessary to attract and retain scarce skills and members of 
designated groups. These are incorporated into the employee’s cash salary.  

Other benefits
In addition to retirement funding and medical aid, Hulamin offers a gratuity to retiring staff with a minimum 
of 10 years’ service, based on the length of their service and their final salary. Middle and senior management 
are offered general accident insurance.

Positioning
Hulamin’s aim is for guaranteed pay to be in line with the market median, recognising that there are cases  
of differentiation (i.e. within a range of the market median) based on individual performance and value to  
the business. 

Salary reviews and increases

Annual cash salary increases for individuals are largely inflationary adjustments. Other factors taken into 
consideration include an individual’s pay relative to the market, their performance, and their anticipated 
future value to the business. Performance ratings are normalised both within an employee’s department, and 
between departments, to ensure that ratings approximate a normal distribution. In cases where pay anomalies 
are identified, attention is given to adjusting the employee’s pay in line with the market, their value to the 
business and their performance.  

The aggregate of all annual increases is adopted as a firm upper limit not to exceed the average overall 
increase approved by the Board. The salary increases of executives are considered individually by the  
Remco when determining the average increase for other employees.

Performance

Performance below expectations is not tolerated and actions (such as performance counselling or disciplinary 
actions) are taken to ensure that poor performers either improve their performance or exit the company. 
During the period in which under-performance is being addressed, the employee’s salary increases would be 
below average for their grade.

REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED
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Variable pay
SHORT-TERM INCENTIVE BONUS (STI)
The primary purpose of the STI is to serve as a motivator of performance 
over the short term. Refinements to the STI are considered from time to 
time to improve the efficacy of the scheme.

The STI is based on a combination of corporate financial targets, 
divisional operational targets, and individual performance. 

Financial 
capital

Encourages employees to meet 
Hulamin’s liquidity profile and future 
cash requirements for a more profitable 
business, ultimately increasing shareholder 
value.

Financial performance conditions are based on an equal weighting of 
Board-approved annual budgets by division: 

• Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT); and

• Operational cash flow.

Manufacturing 
capital

Encourages employees to meet Hulamin’s 
operational objectives, aligning employees’ 
discretionary efforts with company goals, 
ultimately increasing shareholder value.

Operational performance targets are based on the Board-approved 
annual budget by division:
• Sales volumes measured in tons, intended to increase total sales;

• Manufacturing costs and employee costs, including overtime, 
discretionary costs and a “metals” component, to encourage 
recycling of scrap metals;

• Rolling margins measured in US$ per ton, as a measure to improve 
the quality of sales volumes;

• Overall recoveries as a percentage of throughput, intended to 
improve efficiencies;

• Working capital as a percentage of revenue, used to drive down 
working capital, specifically inventory;

• Safety performance, measured in total recordable case frequency 
rate.

Individual key performance areas (KPAs) address the achievement of 
strategic business objectives across the following general areas:

• Financial performance

• Budgetary/cost control

• Transformation

• Safety, and

• Risk management.

The STI scheme consists of six different levels. The percentage of TGP 
payable for on-target performance under the six levels is reflected in the 
table below:

Position Grade
STI on-target  

% of TGP
STI stretch  

% of TGP

CEO FU 60 150
CFO FL 50 125
Other executives FL 40 100
Senior management EU 33 82.5
Senior management EL 25 52.6
Middle management DU – DL2 15 37.5

In the event of early termination of employment due to resignation 
or dismissal, there is no entitlement to a bonus payment. In the case 
of retirement, retrenchment and death in service, there is a pro rata 
entitlement, paid to the participant at year end, along with all other 
participants.

The payment of bonuses for each component of the respective awards is 
determined independently from the other components.

The weightings of the targets are as follows: 
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CEO FU 60 10 10 20
CFO FL 50 20 10 20
Executives FL 40 30 10 20
Senior 
Management EU 30 40 10 20
Senior 
Management EL 20 40 10 30
Middle 
management DU – DL2 10 40 10 40

The Remco and the Board have the discretion to decide on the payment 
or non-payment of performance- incentive bonus awards.

LONG-TERM INCENTIVES (LTIS)
The variable-pay component of Hulamin’s remuneration packages is 
structured to include LTIs for executives and senior management that are 
market-related and linked to Hulamin’s performance.

The primary purpose of the LTIs is to incentivise employees to achieve 
the long-term objectives of the company, specifically objectives that 
have multi-year durations, and to retain key talent.

Financial performance conditions are included in order to align with 
shareholder interests. 

Financial 
capital

Performance measures drive increases in 
the value and return on the investments 
made by Hulamin’s shareholders.
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ECSP – EQUITY-SETTLED CONDITIONAL SHARE PLAN
The ECSP provides for three types of conditional shares, each with three-year vesting periods.

Retention Shares (RS). Awarded selectively 
by the Remco to attract and retain 
executive and senior management, 
the vesting of which is subject to 
the satisfaction of the conditions of 
employment. The value of these shares is 
limited to 25% of any employee’s TGP.

Performance Shares (PS). Awarded only to 
executives and senior management, the 
vesting of which is subject to satisfying 
performance conditions and conditions 
of employment in line with the Group’s 

approach to performance-related 
incentives.

Bonus Shares (BS). Awarded to executives, 
senior and middle management, the value of 
which is determined as a percentage of the 
STI based on performance in the previous 
financial year, and the vesting of which is 
subject only to meeting the conditions of 

employment.

 Position Grade
BS as %  
of TGP

PS as %  
of TGP

Total ECSP 
Award 

face value 
as %  

of TGP

CEO FU 24 36 60
CFO FL 20 30 50
Other executives FL 16 24 40
Senior 
management EU 13 20 33
Senior 
management EL 10 – 10
Middle 
management DU 6 – 6

Dilution limit applicable to the ECSP
The ECSP is implemented within the shareholder-approved dilution 
limit. The maximum aggregate number of shares that may be 
acquired by participants may not exceed 15 650 000 shares (5% of 
issued share capital), with the maximum for any one participant 
being 3 130 000 shares (1% of issued share capital). 

The Remco reviews the dilution limit usage and the headroom 
before an LTI award is made to ensure that neither the company 
limit nor the individual limit is exceeded. The current share usage is 
set out in Part C of this report.

Manner of settlement of LTI awards 
The rules provide for the following methods of settlement:

• Purchase shares off the market;

• Use of Treasury shares;

• Issue of new shares (within the dilution limit); and/or

• Cash settlement.

The company generally settles the awards through the purchase of 
shares in the market. The exact method of settlement is determined 
by the Remco with reference to the dilution limits and the business 
cycle.

In line with best practice, regular annual awards of Bonus Shares and 
Performance Shares are made to ensure long-term shareholder value 
creation and alignment with acceptable market norms. In addition,  
the award of Retention Shares is for use in cases where there is a specific 
need to attract or retain talent. 

Annual awards target a market-related level of remuneration, whilst 
considering the overall affordability of these awards to the company.

Bonus Shares are not subject to additional performance conditions.  
This is due to the fact that they have an “entry performance 
requirement”, where the quantum of the Bonus Shares is determined 
with reference to the actual STI paid to the participant based on the 
prior financial year’s performance.

The extent and nature of performance conditions applicable to the 
Performance Shares awarded in terms of the ECSP are approved by the 
Remco annually and are included in the award letter to participants. 

Performance Share awards made to the participants are subject to 
the following performance conditions, measured over a three-year 
performance period: 

Total 
Shareholder 
Return (TSR)

• Weighted 1/3.

• Measured against the JSE Small Cap 
Index over the three-year vesting 
period, including dividends declared 
over the vesting period.

Return on 
Capital 
Employed 
(ROCE)

• Weighted 2/3.

• Measured against the accumulated 
ROCE, based on the prior year’s Board-
approved business plan.

• The Board has discretion to adjust the 
base ROCE for major changes in capital 
employed during the vesting period.

Executives and senior managers may be offered annual LTI awards in 
terms of the annual allocation levels (as a percentage of TGP), based on 
the benchmarks set out below:

REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED
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As Hulamin values its employees as key contributors to the ongoing 
performance and success of the business, all permanent South African-
based employees up to middle management (up to Paterson lower 
D Band) and all permanent black South African middle and senior 
management (Paterson upper D band and above) participate in the  
2015 ESOP.

Participation has been through two classes of “A” ordinary shares, 
15% of which were issued with no strike price (“A1”) and 85% of which 
are appreciation rights (“A2”). During the vesting period, both classes 
of share participated in dividends declared by the company. The A1 
ordinary shares were entitled to a cash dividend, but for the A2 ordinary 
shares the dividend is to be utilised to reduce the strike price of the right 
at the time of vesting.  

Both classes of shares were scheduled to vest after five years  
(22 December 2020). The A1 ordinary shares did vest and were 
converted to Hulamin ordinary shares on a one-for-one basis. On vesting, 
the appreciation of the A2 ordinary shares will be converted to Hulamin 
ordinary shares and the balance of the unvested portion of A2 ordinary 
shares bought back by the company at a nominal value. 

At special general meetings of shareholders of the company in 
December 2020, the terms of the ESOP were changed along with 
the terms of the broader BEE transaction. In summary, the changes 
approved at this meeting were as follows:

• The vesting period of the A2 ordinary shares was extended another 
five years to vest in February 2026; and

• A new class of A3 ordinary shares were approved for distribution to 
qualifying employees. These A3 shares are scheduled to vest in five 
years, in February 2026.

Executive conditions of employment
With the exception of notice periods, executives are employed under the 
same employment conditions as other staff. 

The notice period for the CEO is three months and the notice period for 
other executives is two months. Hulamin reserves the right to terminate 
an executive’s employment, without notice, for any cause deemed 
sufficient by law. 

Succession planning for the CEO is in place.

Executive employment contracts do not allow for payment of any 
additional benefits or balloon payments on termination, other than 
those that apply to all staff employees.

In the event of early termination there is no automatic entitlement to 
bonuses or share-based incentives. Executives may, however, receive pro 
rata payment as allowed in terms of the “no-fault” provisions contained 
in the early termination clauses of the company’s incentive scheme rules.

In terms of executives’ employment contracts, there is no automatic 
severance compensation to executives due to a change of control. In 
such cases, Hulamin’s retrenchment policy will apply.

Early termination of employment
Employees may be classified as either a “fault” leaver or a  
“no-fault” leaver, depending on the circumstances under which their 
employment is terminated. The provisions below apply to the ECSP, 
as well as the legacy Share Appreciation Rights (SARs) scheme.

No-fault 
leavers 
(employees 
who terminate 
employment 
due to death, 
retrenchment 
or retirement 
(including 
ill-health), as 
well as the sale 
of a subsidiary 
company)

No-fault leavers receive a pro rated portion 
of unvested awards (accelerated vesting) 
to the extent that performance conditions 
(if any) were met, and in the case of vested 
share appreciation rights (SARs), must 
exercise within six months from the date 
of termination of employment.

Fault leavers 
(employees 
who terminate 
employment due 
to resignation, or 
dismissal)

Fault leavers forfeit all unvested awards as 
well as vested but unexercised SARs, to the 
extent that they remain unexercised on 
the date of termination of employment.

Legacy plans 
Following the introduction of the ECSP in 2018, for the time being there 
still remain a number of residual awards from Hulamin’s legacy plans, 
the SARs and the Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP). No further grants will 
be made under the legacy plans.

The overall quantum of awards granted under the SARs and/or LTIP 
is determined by the Remco annually, based on the LTI allocation 
methodology and considering relevant market trends, current business 
issues, and the limits contained in the rules and guidelines of the 
schemes.

The SARs were offered in the form of performance-based conditional 
awards to eligible executives and senior managers. The performance 
conditions governing the vesting of the SARs were related to growth in 
headline earnings per share (relative to targets that were intended to 
be challenging but achievable), linked to the company’s medium-term 
business plan, over three-year performance periods. 

Under the LTIP, once-off shares were offered to executives and eligible 
senior employees in order to attract and retain top talent. These LTIP 
awards did not bear performance conditions, vested over a three-year 
period based on tenure, and were specifically approved by the Remco. 

2015 Employee Share Ownership Plan (2015 ESOP)
The objectives of the 2015 ESOP are primarily:

To attract and retain high-calibre black 
employees at every level of the  

Hulamin business

To create a sense of ownership amongst 
employees and engender an ownership 

culture within the greater  
Hulamin workforce

To distribute a significant portion of the 
B-BBEE transaction benefits amongst the 

widest possible group of beneficiaries who 
are critical to the sustained success  

of the business
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Non-executive directors’ (NEDs) fees
NEDs receive fees for serving on the Board and Board committees, and do not have service agreements with the company. NED fees are paid in cash 
on the basis of a fixed retainer and an attendance fee per meeting. The Board typically holds five Board meetings per year and there are usually three 
meetings for each of the sub-committees of the Board throughout a financial year. 

Attendance at additional sub-committee meetings is remunerated at the standard remuneration rate for attendance at scheduled meetings of such 
committees. Attendance fees for ad hoc Board committee meetings are equivalent to those earned by members of the Remco. Disbursements for 
reasonable travel and subsistence expenses are reimbursed to NEDs in line with the reimbursement policy for employees. 

Fees for NEDs are reviewed on an annual basis, taking into account the responsibilities borne by NEDs as well as relevant external market data. Fees are 
recommended by the Remco, submitted to the Board for approval, and finally recommended to the shareholders for approval at each AGM. NED fees 
were not increased during 2020. 

NEDs are to retain their independence, and as such they neither receive payments linked to the company’s performance nor do they participate in the 
company’s incentive schemes.

The proposed fees will be tabled before shareholders for approval by special resolution at the 2021 AGM:

Present fees to 31 July 2021 Proposed fees from 1 August 2021

 Figures in Rand
Annual  

retainer
Attendance  

per meeting
Annual  

retainer
Attendance  

per meeting
% 

change

Chairman of the Board 477 410 40 920 491 730 42 150 3
Member of the Board 174 450 14 950 179 680 15 400 3
Chairman of the Audit Committee 125 550 17 930 129 320  18 470 3
Member of the Audit Committee 72 950 10 430 75 140 10 740 3
Invitee of the Audit Committee 10 430 10 740 3
Chairman of the Risk and safety, Health and Environment Committee 86 690 12 380 89 290 12 750 3
Member of the Risk and Safety, Health and Environment Committee 47 580 6 800 49 010 7 000 3
Invitee of the Risk and Safety, Health and Environment Committee 6 800 7 000
Chairman of the Remco 86 690 12 380 89 290 12 750 3
Member of the Remco 47 580 6 800  49 010  7 000 3
Invitee of the Remco 6 800  7 000 3
Chairman of the Transformation, Social and Ethics Committee 86 690 12 380 89 290 12 750 3
Member of the Transformation, Social and Ethics Committee 47 580 6 800 49 010  7 000 3
Invitee of the Transformation, Social and Ethics Committee 6 800 7 000 3
Chairman of an ad hoc Board Committee  82 560 12 380 12 750 3
Member of an ad hoc Board Committee 45 310 6 800 7 000 3
Invitee of an ad hoc Board Committee  6 800 7 000 3
Fees for international NEDs (€) 31 320 2 680 31 570 2 700 0.8
Fees for international NEDs  ($)  31 760 2 720 31 950 2 740 0.6

Voting and shareholder engagement
VOTING ON THE REMUNERATION POLICY AND IMPLEMENTATION REPORT
In line with King IVTM and the JSE Listings Requirements, the remuneration policy and the implementation report (as contained in the annual integrated 
report) will be tabled for two separate non-binding advisory votes by shareholders at the AGM.

SHAREHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
Hulamin is committed to fair, responsible and transparent remuneration, and as such invites shareholders to engage with the company on 
remuneration-related matters.

In the event that 25% or more of the shareholders vote against the remuneration policy and/or the implementation report, the Remco will commence 
engagement with dissenting shareholders to ascertain the reasons and legitimate concerns underlying their votes. In order to do so, the Remco will 
extend an invitation to dissenting shareholders in the Stock Exchange News Service (SENS) announcement together with the results of the AGM,  
setting out the manner, date and timing of the engagement.

Method of engagement may include:

Emails, written correspondence, telephone calls, video conference 
calls, one-on-one meetings, investor roadshows and other methods of 
communication to the relevant contact persons at the shareholders, 

after the AGM concerned (and throughout the financial year) 
regarding the reasons for the dissenting votes.

Responses to shareholder queries explaining, in more detail, the 
elements of the remuneration policy that caused concern. Where 

appropriate, the Board may resolve to amend certain elements of the 
remuneration policy to align the policy to market norms.

REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED
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PART C
The implementation of the remuneration policy
This implementation report is subject to an advisory vote by shareholders at the AGM dated 27 May 2021.

Total guaranteed pay 
The Remco approved a three percent annual salary increase for both the executive and non-bargaining unit employees in 2020 (effective January 2021). 
No salary increases were granted to these employees during 2020. The Remco is satisfied that the increase levels for the executive directors are in line 
with increase levels throughout the company. The weekly paid and artisan employees are subject to wage negotiations with the bargaining council.

Short-term incentive outcomes
Due to the impact of Covid-19 lockdowns in the second quarter of 2020, the Remco took the decision that the short-term incentive targets could not be 
achieved and did not implement the annual short-term incentive (STI) bonus. 

In the fourth quarter, in response to the Board’s request to find ways to harness employee discretionary effort, the Remco proposed a simplified, scaled-
down incentive based loosely on the existing STI rules and applicable to the fourth quarter of 2020 only. This Quarter 4 Performance Bonus (“Q4PB”) 
replaced the annual STI scheme.

The table below sets out the performance bonuses that the executive directors were paid in Quarter 4 2020, based on the achievement of company 
operational performance and limited by the fourth-quarter company profit:

On-target Fourth Quarter Bonus Actual Fourth Quarter Bonus

 Participant
TGP1

Rand

On-target 
Q4PB
Rand

Q4PB as 
% of TGP

Q4PB 
based on 

operational 
performance2

Rand

Q4PB as % 
of On-target 

bonus3

Actual 
Q4PB paid4

Rand % of TGP

RG Jacob (CEO) 1 463 403 878 042 60 994 788 24.1 211 320 14.4
LM Farquharson (Acting CFO) 757 025 302 810 40 341 363 17.5 59 727 7.9

1  For Mr RG Jacob, TGP covered October, November and December. For Mr LM Farquharson, who was acting CFO with effect from 1 November 2020, the values reported 
are for the period 1 November 2020 to 31 December 2020. 

2 Operational performance (sales volumes) exceeded target performance by 6% for the Group. 
3 The final bonus paid was limited to 10% of Group profits (EBIT).
4 The actual bonus paid is included in the single-figure remuneration table below.

Long-term incentive (LTI) outcomes
The 2017 SARs was due to vest in 2020, and consequently the performance condition was measured over the three-year performance period that 
ended 31 December 2019. The actual 2019 HEPS of -8cps did not meet the required HEPS target of 143cps, and consequently the 2017 SARs award 
lapsed. 

Unvested LTIs
The table below discloses the value of each executive director’s LTIs, whether allocated, settled, or forfeited, as well as the indicative value of awards not 
yet settled. 

 Executive
LTI  

scheme
Date 

awarded
Vesting 

date

Grant 
price 
Rand

Opening 
number

Awarded 
during the 

year

Lapsed 
during the 

year
 Closing 
number 

Indicative 
value
Rand1 

RG Jacob (CEO) SARs 24 Apr 2014 23 Apr 2017 6.90 633 100 – 633 100 –
 SARs 26 Apr 2017 25 Apr 2020 6.50 604 005 604 005 – –
 ECSP – PS 26 Jul 2018 25 Jul 2021 6.22 321 279 – 321 279 722 878

ECSP – BS 26 Jul 2018 25 Jul 2021 6.22 117 649 – 117 649 264 710
ECSP – PS 20 Aug 2020 19 Aug 2023 0.99 – 932 150 – 932 150 2 097 338

LM Farquharson 
(Acting CFO)

ECSP – PS 26 Jul 2018 25 Jul 2021 6.22 65 942 65 942 148 370
ECSP – BS 26 Jul 2018 25 Jul 2021 6.22 25 183 25 183 56 662
ECSP – PS 20 Aug 2020 19 Aug 2023 0.99 261 341 261 341 588 017

1  Indicative value of outstanding LTI: This column reflects the number of outstanding instruments x vesting probability (%) x year end share price (R2.25).



Hulamin AGM Notice for the year ended 31 December 202010

Executive remuneration
The table below sets out the single-figure remuneration, i.e., TGP (basic salary and company contributions), STI and LTI received by executive directors 
and prescribed officers. 

Cash salary 
Company 

contributions STI LTI Total
 Executive Rand Rand Rand Rand Rand

2020
RG Jacob 5 139 420 761 905 211 320 633 862 6 746 507
AP Krull1 3 159 820 522 619 – – 3 682 439
MZ Mkhize2 589 518 7 935 985 – – 8 525 503
LM Farquharson3 421 000 83 683 59 727 177 712 742 122

Total 9 309 758 9 304 192 271 047 811 574 19 696 571

2019
RG Jacob 5 139 420 793 886 – – 5 933 306

AP Krull 3 791 784 621 114 – – 4 412 898

MZ Mkhize 3 537 108 605 192 – – 4 142 300

DR Weisz (prescribed officer) 1 697 185 3 437 040 – – 5 134 225

Total 14 165 497 5 457 232 – – 19 622 729

1:  AP Krull resigned with effect from 31 October 2020. Ten months’ remuneration reported.
2:  MZ Mkhize was retrenched on 29 February 2020. Two months’ remuneration (including severance of R7 838 779) reported.
3:  LM Farquharson was appointed Acting CFO from 1 November 2020. Two months’ remuneration reported.

NED fees
The table below sets out the fees paid to NEDs in 2020:

Retainer fees 
2020 

Attendance 
fees 2020

Total 
fees 2020

 Non-executive Rand Rand Rand

TP Leeuw 572 570 444 270 1 016 840
VN Khumalo 261 140 198 000 459 140
NNA Matyumza 194 886 97 560 292 446
SP Ngwenya 222 030 150 430 372 460
GHM Watson 723 231 495 696 1 218 927
N Maharajh 347 580 222 340 569 920
CA Boles 311 276 217 800 529 076
B Mehlomakulu 300 006 213 440 513 446
RL Larson 570 350 404 868 975 218

Total 3 503 069 2 444 404 5 947 472

Approval
This report was approved by the Remco on 2 March 2021 and the Board on 25 March 2021. The Remco, as well as the Board, are satisfied that there were 
no material deviations from the 2019 remuneration policy during the 2020 financial year.

REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED
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